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Care at our heart

CVS Group plc is an AIM-quoted
veterinary group and one of the UK’s
leading providers of integrated veterinary
services, with practices in the UK, the
Netherlands and the Repubilic of Ireland.

Operational highlights

s Qur colleagues have shown commitment and
dedication to providing exceptional care to
animals, with an increasing demand for our
services as the pet population continues to grow

> The introduction of our industry-first CVS
Clinical Research Awards encourages research
and quality improvement by providing grants for

research projects.

> The quality of our facilities and equipment is of
key importance to us, and we have increased

investment in capital projects by £7.9m to
£24.5m in 2022 vs 2021, including completing
23 refurbishments and relocations during the

financial year (2021: 13).
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> Following the introduction of our ESG strategy,
*Care at our Heart”, in August 2022, we have
published our first standalone Sustainability
Report, describing the goals and activities of our
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Thank

You

We are constantly inspired by the dedication and passion of
our colleagues as they give the best possible care to animails.
Our vision is to be the veterinary company people most want
to work for and we continue to look for new ways to
appropriately recognise and reward our colleagues.

%

3%

As part of our commitment
o our vision, every
colleague in employment
on 1 May 2022 (save for the
Executive Directors)
received a 3% out-of-cycle
pay increase to support
with rising costs of living,
and we have committed

to pay at least 3% ahove
National Minimum Wage/
National Living Wage

to all current and

future colleagues.

5

Qur colieagues can receive
up to five additional days’
holiday under our new
long-service award scheme
which grants colleagues an
additional day of holiday for
each completed year of
service, up to five years.

11

The introduction of CVS
Clinical Research Awards
encourages innovation and
suppeorts clinicians to work
towards improving
veterinary medicine.

So far, we have awarded
grants to 11 CVS colleagues
for their projects.

£0.7m

Our colleagues can receive
financial and nen-financial
awards for successfully
referring their friends to
work with us, resulting in
refer-a-friend awards of
£0.7m paid to our
colleagues in FY22. We also
again offered a "holiday of a
lifetime” draw, enabling
colleagues to win a holiday
worth £10,000 for a
successful referral.



Highlights

Financial highlights'

> Revenue increased by 8.6% to £554.2m from
£510.1m, with strong Group like-for-like sales?
growth of 8.0% benefitting from favourable market
trends and the continued focus on delivering
against our strategy.

> The Group delivered adjusted EBITDA* growth of
10.2% to £107.4m from £97.5m, through strong
revenue performance and operational efficiencies.

> Cash generated from operations increased by
15.9% to £93.1m from £80.3m, primarily as a result
of the increase in adjusted EBITDA.

> Profit before tax increased by 8.8% to £36.0m
from £33.1m, benefitting from the increase in
adjusted EBITDA and a reduction in costs relating
to business combinations, partially offset by
an impairment of investment.

> Leverage® fell to 0.40x from 0.68x as a result of
strong EBITDA growth, continued goad operating
cash generation and reduction in net debt.

Revenue (Em) Adjusted EBITDA" {£m)
£554.2m £107.4m

+8.6% +10.2%

2022 5542 2022 1074
2021 510.1 2021 97.5
2020 427.8 2020 71.0

2019 406.5 2019 54.5

2018 3273 2018 47,6

Proposed dividend Cash generated

per share (p) from operations (Em)
7.0p £93.1m

+7.7% +15.9%

2022 7.0 2022 934
2021 65 2021 | 80.3
2020 | nfa 2020 oL.8
2019 5.5 2019 52.1

2018 5.0 28 | %67

—

Adjusted profit Ad]usted earnings

before tax® (Em) per share® (p)

£75.5m 85.8p

+14.0% +14.2%

2022 76,5 2022 B5.8

2021 66.2 2021 754

2020 38.2 2020 u2.0

ame WYy 2019 467

2018 346.0 2018 L24

Profit bafore tax (Em) Basic earnings per share
®

£36.0m 36.2p

+8.8% +32.6%

2022 350 2022 36.2

2021 331 2021 27.3

2020 29 2020 ( 81

2019 1172 2019 .6

2018 1.1 2018 16.0

Adjusted financial measures (adjusted Earnings Before interest, Tax,
Depreclation and Amortisation {"adjusted EBITDA"), adjusted profit before
tax and adjusted eamings per share) are defined below, and reconciled
1o the financial measuras defined by International Financial Reporting
Standards {IFRS} an pagas 114 end 132, IFRS 16 has been applied
prospectvaly and, therafora, yaare 2019 and prior are all stated before

the impact of IFRS 16

2. Like-for-like sales shows revenue generated from like-for-like operations
compared Io the prier year, adjusted for the number of working days. For
example, for a practice acquired in September 2020, revenue is included
from September 2021in the Nke-for-kke calculations.

. Leverage on a bank test basis 1s drawn bank debt less cash and cash
equivalents, divided by adjusted EBITDA annualized for the effect of
acauisitions, including costs relating to business combinations and
excluding share option costs, prior to the adoption of IFRS 16.

w

4. Adjusted EBITDA {(Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Dapreciaticn and
Armartisation) is profit before tax adjusted for interest {net finance
expense), depreciation, amortisation, costs relating to business
cambinations, and exceptional iterms. Adjusted EBITDA provides
informeation on the Group's underiying performance and this measure
is aligned to our strategy and KFls.

5. Adjusted profit before tax is galculated as profit before amertisation,
taxation, costs relating to business combinations, end exceptions| ltams.

6. Adjusied earnings par shara i5 caloulated es sdjusted profit bafore tax
less applicable taxation divided by the weighted average number of
Ordinary shares in issue in the year.

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022 |
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Strategic roadmap

A clear strategy for
sustainable growth

Our purpose is to give
the best possible care
to animals

Our strategic pillars

We recommend and
provide the best

We are a great place
to work and have

Our vision Is to be the
veterinary company
people most want to
work for

clinical care d career
every time

1 2

3 I
We provide We take our
great facilities responsibilities
and equipment seriously

Discover more ubout our strotegy on pages 25 ond 27

Underpinned by our Environmental, Social and Governance
(ESG) strutegy, “Care at our Heart”

Our ESG strategy articulates why and how we care. Our commitment 1o sustainability
is monitored and assessed through our seven working groups: (1) Energy and Carbon;
(2) Waste; (3) One Health, (4) Wellbeing; (S) Peaple Development; (8) Equity, Diversity
and inclusion; and (7) Community.

2 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financlal Stataments 2022



Our values

Customer focus

Our dedication to our customers is at the heart of our
business and we are focused on our customers’ and
ther animals” needs.

Commitment to excellence
We constantly strive to achiave the highest possible standards
in the quality of services and products we provide

Success through our people
We aim to attract, develop and retain tha best people and to
be the veterinary company people most want 1o work for.

Honesty and integrity

We treat our cclleagues and customers with honesty and
respect. We strive to achieve long-term relationships with our
customers and suppliers, and ensure safety and accessibility
in ali areas of qur business.

Discover more about our culture and values on pages 20 to 21

Read more about cur oppreach to
Sustalnablility on pages 32 to &%

Area of focus

Providing Industry-leading Continued
Professional Development

Woe are hugely proud of our Learning, Education and
Development (LED) programme at CVS, The Knowledge
Hub educational platform offers hundreds of courses
and webinars covering a wide range of clinical and
non-clinical education and training.

Improving Inclusivity

We want to be as inclusive as possible in our training
offerings and therefore we use accessibility software to
ensure that all of our courses work with screen readers
and are optimised for contrast, fonts and layout so all
learner needs can be met.

To improve the accessibility of our video content for
those who have impaired hearing, or whose devices do

not conveniently allow audio content, we have embarked

on a project to transcribe and subtitle all video content.

Wa have also crested audio versions of many courses
for colleagues who have impaired vision, or who wouid
prefer to listen to content.

The Knowledge Hub: our LED platform

8684

active users

261

courses available

235

webinars available

VS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022
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At a glance

Our purpose is to give the

best possible care to animals

Breakdown of ravenue

85.5%"

Veterinary Practices

Our first-opinion and referral
practices provide specialist
treatment for companion,
equine and farm animais. We
provide high-quality healthcare
for sick and injured animals, or
through our preventative
healthcare schemes: the Healthy
Pet Club (HPC) and Healthy
Horse Programme (HHF)**. We
also operate buying groups and
a veterinary consumables
business, "Vet Direct”, and we
supply 2 number of own-brand
medicines and products.

Discover more about our operations on pages 45 0 53

4.7%

Laboratories

QOur laboratories provide
diagnostic services to CVS
veterinary practices and third
parties. We offer an extensive
range of tests with the ability
to tailor specific profiles to our
customers’ needs. Qur team
of pathologists and experts
specialise in a variaty of
disciplines in gll areas of the
laboratary and their aimis to
offer a level of service and
expertise beyond our
customers’ expectations.

1.7%

QOur crematoria provide pet
cremation and clinical waste
services to CVS practices and
third-party practices, and
cremations to animal owners.
we offer a range of services to
help our ¢lients remember and
say goodbye to their pets.

8.1%"

Online Retall
Business

Our online retail

business, "Animed Direct”,
sells prescription and
non-prescription medicines,
premium pet foods and an
ever-ingreasing range of pet
care products, which can be
delivered directly to our
customers’ doers, saving
them time as well as money

* Revenue share before intercompany sales batwean Vaterinary Practices and
othar divisions.

Club and Healthy Horse Programme.

** Throughout this report, refarences to Healthy Pet Club are inciusive of Healthy Pet

Our locations

We have a broad geographical spread across
the UK and a presence in the Netherlands

and the Republic of Ireiand.

Ksy

Vaterinary practices (472)
Leboratories (3
Crematona (7}

Discovear more abowrt our

geographical mariets

opportunities on poages 14 to 17

4 | CVS Group plc Annual Raport and Financla! Statements 2022
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Investment case

Multiple opportunities to build

on our strong foundations

CVS is an AIM-quoted veterinary group with a fully-integrated
model and strengthened balance sheet which positions it well
for both organic and acquisitive growth.

Market

We continue to operate in a growing market
with increasing demand for our services.

Discover more about our markets
on pages 14 to 17

Sector

A favourable sector with increasing appetite
for innowation and quality improvement

Discover more in our Operational
revigw on pages 45 to 53

Strategy

We have a clear, people-focused strategy
of organic growth, supported by investment
in our facilities and equipment, and
augmented by inorgamic growth through
irvestment in greenfield sites

and acquisitions.

Dizcover more about our strategy
on pogas 26 and 27

Management

Strang management team with a broad
range of expenience and expertise,
which has a proven track record of
delivering growth

Discover more about our Board of
Directors on poges 70 and 71

Business model

Fully-integrated veterinary services model,
with first-opinion practices supported by
specialist-led multi-disciplinary referral
hospitals, labcratories, crematoria and

an online retail business.

Discover mere about our business model
on peges 18 and 19

Growth opportunities

Alongside consistent organic growth
through cur fully-integrated veterinary
model, there are opportunities for further
acquisitive growth both in the UK as well
as emerging Eurcpean markets.

Discover more about our growth
epportunities on poges 1 ko 17

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022
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Chair’s statement

Leveraging favourable market
trends to deliver improved
financial performance

Richard Connell
Chair

6
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Introduction

We are committed at CVS to providing the best possible
care to our clients and their animais. Key to the delivery

of this care is our people and | would like to take this
opportunity to thark all our colleagues for their continued
dedication and professionalism.

We continue to develop CVS through investment in our
people, in the technology we use, in our practice facilities
and in new clinical equipment. This is important to both the
delivery of first-class clinical care and the recruitment and
retention of clinical resource. We have increased capital
investment in the past financial year and this has delivered
favourable returns. Further increases in capital investment
are planned in the current year and we are confident that
this will position the Group well for continued growth in the
years ahead.

Poslitive financlal performance

| am delighted to share another strong set of financial results
with growth in bath revenue and earnings, with continued
strong operating cash conversion and improved balance
sheet strength.

The Group generated revenue growth of 8.6% in the financial
year. with like-for-like sales increasing by 8.0%, reflecting our
continued focus on delivering organic growth. We completed
three acquisitions (comprising four practice sites) in the
second half of the financial year {2021: nine acquisitions
across the year).

In light of the Competition and Markets Authority’s (CMA)
phase one investigation into our August 2021 acquisition of
Quality Pet Care Ltd, and the CMA's view that the merger
may be expected to result in 2 substantial lessening of
competition within @ market or markets, we decided to sell
this business, and the disposal was completed in june 2022,
We recognised an investment impairment ahead of sale and
further information is available in note 16. Whilst the CMAs
conclusion was disappointing, we now have a clear guideline
as to how the CMA assesses local competition in veterinary
care which will be useful in infforming our approach to future
acquisitions in the UK. There are considerable parts of the UK
where we do not currently own any practices, and hence
where there cannot be competition issues; we are confident
that we can acquire further practices in areas of the UK
where we already operate, provided that our share of vet
full-time equivalent resource in the vicinity is less than 30%.



“I am delighted to share another strong set of
financial results with growth in revenue and
earnings, continued strong operational cash
conversion and improved balance sheet strength.”

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 10.2% to £107.4m (2021:
£97.5my}, through strong revenue growth, Profit before tax
correspondingly increased by 8.8% to £36.0m (2021:
£33.1m) with adjusted EPS increasing by 14.2% to 85.8p
(202% 75.1p} and basic EPS increasing by 32.6% to 36.2p
(2021 27.3p).

The Group remains highly cash-generative, with the increase
in adjusted EBITDA flowing through to cash generated from
operations, which increased by 15.9% to £93.1m (2021:
£80.3m). Net debt correspondingly decreased by £14.9m to
£35.3m (2021: £50.2m) with leverage reducing to 0.40x
bank-test EBITDA at 30 June 2022 {2021: 0.68x).

Strategic progress

Our purpose at CVS is to give the best possible care to
animals and our vision is to be the veterinary company
people most want to work for. This purpose and vision are
uncerpinned by our four strategic pillars: to recormmend and
provide the best clinical care every time; 1o be a great place
to work and have a career; to provide great facilities and
equipment; and to take our respansibilities seriously.

We are committed to the highest standards of clinical care
and all of our practices participate in the Royal College of
Veterinary Surgeons’ voluntary Practice Standards Scheme.
We have recently published our annual Guality Improvement
report which outlines our approach to further enhancing
clinical standards underpinned by evidence-based medicine.

in addition to our ongoing focus on providing learning,
education and development support to our colleagues, we
continue to enhance our package of reward and benefits. In
the past financial year, we increased the holiday entitlement
for all colleagues through an edditional day’s annual leave
for each completed year of service, up to a maximum of five
days once colleagues have completed five years’ service. In
May 2022, we implernented an additional salary review, with
a salary increase of 3.0% for all colleagues (save for the
Executive Directors, whose salary review will take place
under the normal cycle) in advance of our full annual salary
review in July 2022. We also announced our commitment to
pay a minimum of 3.0% above National Minimurm Wage/
National Living Wage for all current and future colleagues.

Our continued focus on recruitment, alongside improvements
in retention, has resulted in 2 6.0% increase in the average
number of vets employed during the financial year 10 2,079
vets {2021: 1,962 vets). Furthermore, the average number of
nurses we employed in the financial year increased to 2,839
nurses {2021: 2 548). We also launched a new Equity,
Diversity and Inclusion {EDI) working group to help attract
and support colleegues from all backgrounds.

We continue to improve our practice facilities and clinical
equipment, with £24.5m invested in capital expenditure
during the year (2021: £16.6m). This investment enables us
to both enhance the client and colleague experience inour
practices and, importantly, to further improve the standards
of clinical care which we can provide.

We outlined our overall approach to sustainability and ESG in
our 2021 Annual Report and, in August 2022, we published
our first Sustainability Report, which sets out the foundations
of our approach to ESG. As part of our commitrment in this
area, we have introduced five new non-financial targets for
our Executive Directors as a key element of their annual
bonus for the financial year ending 30 June 2023, Our ESG
approach has been informed and influenced by globally
recognised frameworks and sets of principles, including the
Global Reporting Initiative Standards, the United Nations
Sustainable Developrment Goals and the recommendations
of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD). we have also disclosed data agsinst standards
developed by the Sustainability Accounting Standards
Board. furthermore, in this Annual Repert we have early-
adopted the TCFD recommendations fer disclosure of
climate-related risks and opportunities.

We remain well-placed to deliver further organic growth
through the provision of high-guality joined-up care
throughout our patients’ lives, from our first-opinion
veterinary practices, specialist-led multidisciplinary referral
hospitals, diagnostic laboratories, dedicated out-of-hours
clinics and onlire retail business, Animed Direct. Gur
crematoria provide a compassionate cremation service

at the end of an animal’s life and clinical waste disposai
services. We will augment this growth through further
acquisitions and the creation of greenfield practices.

CVS Group plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022 | 7
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Chair’s statement continued

Governance and the Board

Wae are committed to the highest levels of corporate
goverrance and, as an AlM-quoted group, we voluntarily
adopt the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018.

We continue to review the composition of the Board, in
order to ensure that we have the right balance of skills and
experiance. Mike McCollum, former Senior Independent
Director and Chair of the Audit Cormmittee, resigned from
the Board in September 2021 to pursue a full-time opportunity
outside the Group. In light of his resignation, Deborah Kemp
was appointed as our Senicr independent Director and the
Nemination Committee oversaw the appointment of David
Wilton as the new Chair of the Audit Committee with effect
from 24 September 2021

Dividends

In ight of the further improvement in financial performance
and the Group’s strong cash generation, the Board is
recommending & continuation of our progressive dividend
policy, with the payment of a final dividend of 70p per Ordinary
share (2021: 6.5p).

Shareholder engagement

The Board continues its active engagement with existing
and potential new shareholders, with the Executive Directors
attending a number of investor conferences and holding
individual investor meetings throughout the year. In April 2022,
we conducted & US roadshow In light of the increased
number of US-based institutions on our share register.

The Executive Directors have held live webcasts for our
preliminary and interim results presentations over the past
year, including question and answer sessions with analysts,
with a replay facility available on our investor website.

We are holding a capital markets day on 8 November 2022
in which we will cuttine our capital allocation priorities and
the opportunitias wa have to deliver further sustainable
growth in shareholder value.

Outlook

The veterinary sector is seeing favourable market and
consumer trends with an increased pet population, enhanced
life expectancy and the continued humanisation of pets, with
owners willing to spend more on their care. Our approach in
providing the best possible care through our fully-integrated
veterinary services model positions CVS well to benefit from
these favourable trends. Whilst we are mindful of the pressures
on household incomes through rising inflation, we are
confident in the resilience of our business model with our
expectation that clients will continue to seek access to
high-quality care for their animals.

I look forward to reporting on further successful growth for
CVS in the future.

Richard Connall
Chair
22 September 2022

8 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022

Did you know?

CVS Group published its first
Sustainability Report in 2022
We care about our impact on our
stakeholders and the environment.
In our first annual Sustainability
Report we shared the work of our
ESG working groups across the
business, as well as sustainability
data in line with the Sustainability
Accounting Standards

Board framework.

In this report, we announced that
20.0% of our Executive bonuses
for 2023 will be contingent on the
Group achieving five non-financial
sustainability targets, namely:
waste; attrition; eNPS; client NPS;
and Patient Care Index.

The report is available to read on
our investor website: www.cvsukitd.
ca.ukfinvastor-centre/sustainability

Discover more abeut our
sustainabllity on pages 32 ta Uy



Area of focus

Improving client

satisfaction

The ability to deliver high-quality ¢linical care and ensure
good outcornes for patients is an essential value driver for us
as a veterinary care provider. Defining and measuring quality
of care is an emerging area in which CVS aims to lead.
Metrics which are commonly used in human healthcare,
such as excess readmission ratio and length of stay, are not
commonly used in veterinary medicine.

Patient Reported Qutcome Measures (PROMS) are validated
questionnaires which atlow the progress of patients to be
monitered and compared to a baseline score, In veterinary
medicine, these are completed by the owner and referred to
as Client Reported Cutcome Measures {CROMs). Similarly,
Patient/Client Reported Experience Measures (PREMs/
CREMs) can record the experience of the care provided.
There is increasing evidencs that the experience of clients
and their pets is linked to the outcoms of treatment, Whilst
this is a developing area, in future CVS hopes to be able to
report on the quality of care provided.

719

Client Net Promoter Score (NPS)

The following are two examples of how we are measuring
patient satisfaction.

Automated outcomes

Working with an external provider, CVS has piloted a system
to automate coliection of CROMs from orthopaedic patients
I our referra) hospitals. When a new appointment is booked,
owners are gutomatically sent a2 baseline outcome measure.
Clinicians, Clinical Directors and the Quality improvement
tearn can monitor theses scores via a dedicated portal.
Benchmarking across the referral group will allow us to

share good practice, maximising cutcomes and

rinimising complications.

Client Reported Experience Measures

All clients are sent a survey automatically following
discharge. We collect data about the experience of the care
their pets receive, including collecting an NPS score. There is
increasing evidence that experience of care is & good proxy
for the quality of care received.

Discover mora In our Cperational review on pages 45 to 53

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022 9
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Chief Executive Officer’s review

Small actions add
up to a big impact

Richard Falrman
Chief Executive Officer

10 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Finoncial Statements 2022

Introduction

| amn delighted to introduce our 2022 Annual Report and
Financial Statements and to report on another successful
financial year in which we delivered further improvements
in performance.

Our purpose at CVS is to provide the best possible care to
animals and key to the delivery of this is our fantastic team
of colleagues who are passionate and committed to client
service and patient care, | would like to thank all CVS
colleagues for their contribution over the past year and
for their continued support and dedication.

Increased investment to position CVS for

further growth

We continue to invest in a number of areas to position CVS
well for further growth in the future. Our pecple are the
heart of everything we do and we continue to develop
learning, education and development support for all
colleagues to help them develop their careers.

We recognise the opportunity to improve our practice
facilities and install new clinical equipment and this is
important In both attracting and retaining talent, and also
in continuing to expand the range of services we can
provide to our clients and their animals. We are confident
with the fimancial returns from this investment and, in light
of our strengthened balance sheet and continued high level
of operating cash convearsion, we plan to increase this
investment in the new financial year. We have undertaken
a number ¢f practice refurbishments and relocations in the
past financial year and our new state-of-the-art referral
hospital in Bristo! will open its doors in early 2023,

Investment in our pecple, facilites and clinical equipment
will position CVS to benefit from the continued favourable
market and consumer trands. The population of pets in the
UK has increased In the past two years, with an increasing
number of puppies and kittens within UK households. Given
our focus on high-quality clinical care, we expect to see the
benefit of this increase in population steadily increase over
the next ten years given that average veterinary spend per pet

1 www.heathforammals.org/reports/pet-care-report/
global-trends-in-the-pet-population/



“With the continued support
of our outstanding colleagues,
we will continue to grow CVS
with care at our heart.”

increases with age. Coupled with this, there is evidence of
increased life expectancy in pets with HealthforAnimals', the
global animal heaith association, recently reporting that life
expectancy for dogs has increased by 11.4% between 2002
and 2016.

Preventative care is an important part of our offering and |
am delighted that we continue to see growth in our Healthy
Pet Club and Healthy Horse Programme, with 470,000
members at 30 June 2022, an increase of 4.4% in the year,
This scheme provides a helpful way for clients to spread
the cost of preventative veterinary care through monthly
fnstalments and provides discounts on other services
which may be required. The routine health checks which
are provided under this scheme are important as they offer
an early opportunity tc identify and treat potential issues,
avoiding more complex and expensive interventions later.

There are many reported benefits of animal ownership with
pets in particular proven to improve their owners’ physical
and mental health. The trend of humanisation of pets
continues and, notwithstanding inflationary pressures in
the wider economy, we are confident that our clients will
continue 1o access our services in order to ensure their
animals receive the best possible care.

Our integrated model at CVS enables us to provide care to
animals at all stages of their life cycle, from puppy and kitten
heatth checks and annual vaccinations through to specialist
interventions where required. Our network of first-opinion
practices, dedicated out-of-hours clinics, specialist-led
referral hospitals and diagnostic laboratories deliver
continuity of treatment, thereby ensuring our clients and
their animals receive a first-class service. Our crematoria
provide compassionate cremation services at the end of an
animal's life, as well as a clinical waste disposal services to
enable CVS, and third-party practices, 10 operate to the
highest standards. This is a key part of our service offering
given that maost clients who lose a beloved pet subsequently
purchase another and continue to enjoy access ta our services.

Animed Direct, our online retail business, attracts a broader
range of clients and gives access to a substantial range of
pet food, pharmaceutical products and accessories.

We continue to see strong growth in pet food sales as
customers enjoy the convenience of being able to order
bulky and heavy pet food and have it delivered directly

to their door.

Robust flnancial performance

We have delivered continued growth in financial performance,
with revenue for the financial year of £554.2m (2021: £510.1m)
representing growth of 8.6% over the prior year, and an
increase in like-for-fike sales of 8.0%. Adjusted EBITDA
increased to £107.4m (2021: £97.5m), a £9.9m (10.2%)
increase over the prior year.

This strong financial performance, alongside a reduction
in net debt, led to a decrease inleverage to 0.40x at
30 June 2022 (30 June 2021 0.68x).

Strategy

Our purpose to provide the best passible care to animals,
and our vision te be the veterinary company people most
warnt to work for, are underpinned by our four clear strategic
plllars: to recommend and provide the best clinical care
every time; to be a great place to work and have a career;

to provide great facilities and equipment; and to take our
responsibilities seriously.

In order to provide the best possible clinical care, we
continue to focus on helping to drive increased standards

in the profession and we recently published our latest annual
Quality Improvement (QI) report. This sets out our approach
to learning from clinical issues and using evidence-based
medicine to inform the care we provide. We also launched
our CVS Clinical Research Awards prograrmme in the
financial year, which provides funds for CVS colleagues and
university academics in collsboration with CVS to facilitate
the growth of veterinary clinical research.

We are committed to making CVS a great place to work and
have a career and we continue to devefop our reward and
benefits to ensure we remain well positioned in a
competitive marketplace. We announced an interim cost-of-
living pay review in May 2022, in addition to our annual pay
review in July 2021, and we have expanded our reward and
benefits package, including the introduction of enhanced
holiday entitlernent based on length of service. In May 2022,
we committed an ongoing pledge 1o paying a minimum of
3.0% more than the current National Minimum Wage/
National Living Wage.
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Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Strategy continued

Our focus on improving our practice facilities and clinical
equipment is important in both helping us attract and retain
clinicians, and enabling them to deliver the best possible
clinical care. We completed 23 refurbishments and
relocations in the financial year (2021:13). We have a pipeline
of exciting capital expenditure projects to develop our
existing facilities and open new greenfield practice sites, as
well as continuing to acquire quality practices where they
are aligned with our strategic goals.

We have responsibilities to all our stakeholders, including our
patients, our colleagues and our regulatory bodies, and we
take all of these respansibilities seriously. We continue to
engage with the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons
(RCVS) end aim tc ensure all our practices meet the rigorous
standards of the RCVS’ Practice Standards Scheme.

We remain well-placed to make further practice acquisitions
in the UK and in new European markets and we have a
strong pipeline of opportunities. | am pleased that we
completed three acquisitions in the financial year, adding
four practice sites to the Group.

Recruitment and retention of clinicians

To support the Group's continued growth, we employed an
average of 117 (8.0%) more vets and an average of 291 (11.4%)
more nurses In the financial year to 30 June 2022 in
comparison to the previous financial year. The RCVS, inits
Workforce Summit report in Novembar 2021, stated that the
population of practising vets in the UK had increased by c1%
and hence we are pleased with our gverall increass.

There remains a shortage of vets in the UK and we are keen
to recruit more vets to enable us 1o capitalise on the growth
opportunity in the market. We are confident that the supply
of vets and nurses will increase aver the medium term given
that there are now eleven vet schools in the UK. Our leading
graduate induction prograrnme was enhanced in the year
through our summer and winter camp proegrammes which
help graduate vets make the transition from university to
work in practice. We have continued to expand our
investmeant in Continued Professional Development and
enhanced career pathways, to ensure colleagues have
excellent career opportunities within CVS.

We continue to implement initiatives to enhance the
wellbeing and job satisfaction for al! our colleagues and
promated a wellbeing financial calendar in July 2021,
which s now in its second year.

Sustainability and €5G

We published our first annual Sustainability Report in August
2022, which sets out our commitment to reducing our
environmental impact and to improving our ESG standards.
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We are committed to taking sction to ensure our business
is as sustainable as it can be, and we will continue to work
collaboratively and creatively to ensure we are doing the
right thing for zll stakeholders.

Wae have appointed an ESG lead to co-ordinate our efforts
across CVS, with our seven dedicated ESG working groups
driving progress in the following areas:

» Energy and Carbon;

> Waste;

» One Health {(including antimicrobizal resistance);
> Wellbeing;

» People Development;

> Equity, Diversity and Inclusion; and

» Community.

Demonstrating our commitment to holding ourselves
accountable for our sustainability goals, in our 2022
Sustainability Report we disclosed financial and non-financial
date relating to a range of sustainability factors using the
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) framewaork.
Further, in this Annual Report we have early-adopted the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate Related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD). Applying these reporting
frameworks has sided us in understanding the impact of gur
operzations on our stakeholders and our environment, and
developing targets to improve our sustainability.

| loak forward to sharing further progress in due course.

Qutlook

We are confident in our ability 1o deliver further growth. With
the improved financial performance in the past financial
year, continued operating cash conversion and
strengthened balance sheet, we are well-positionad to
continue our programmag of investment to enable CVS to
benefit from the favourable market and cansumer trends.

We will continue our focus on arganic growth through

high qualty of care, augmented by investrment in further
strategically-aligned acquisitions and greenfield pracuce sites,
as well as investment in technology, including launching a new
modern intuttive practice management system, Provet Cloud,
during 2023,

Our colleagues are key to our success and with their continued
professionalism, | look forward te a successful future.

Richard Fairman
Chilef Executive Officer
22 Septembar 2022



Area of focus

Proud to be part of
the CVS community

Celebrating 50 years of Pride

2022 marked the 50th anniversary of Pride in the UK. To
celebrate Pride month in June, together as an organisation,
we invited colleagues to express what Pride symbolises to
them personally or as a team.

Many of our colleagues shared thair personal stories,
poems, photographs and artworks which were celebrated
in our Group rnagazine.

Qur vetarinary practices got involved with colowrful pride
displays and events including wearing colourful dress,
hosting special lunches, and inviting customers tc take
photos with their pets wearing rainbow accessories.

As part of our conversations about Pride, one of our support

office colleagues (pictured) told us:

“Back in 2013, my partner and | went to
Canada to get married because it was still
not legal in the UK. Pride allows people to
stop and think, and because of this, we
were legally married in the UK too the
following year!”

Encouraging Inclusivity

Our LGBTQ+ working group has undertaken a project to
educate CVS colleagues about fostering inclusivity in the
workptace, through Group-wide communications using our
internal channels. As part of this project, we have
encouraged the free use of gender pronouns.

Qur culture survey

With almost 8.000 colleagues in 2022, CVS Group
comprises people from a range of backgrounds, with a
broad variety of values and interests. In 2022, we conducted
a culture survey 1o understand how cur colleagues feel
about the culture at CVS, and what we can do to ensure
every colleague’s experience is positive.

Discover more about our culture on pages 20 and 21
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Market overview

Increasing demand for quality

all-round pet care

The veterinary market continues to benefit from increased
pet ownership alongside trends of humanisation of pets
and a growing appetite for high-quality care.

Understanding our key markets

Our veterinary practices, laboratories, crematoria and online
retall business operste in a growing veterinary market. The
UK pet population has increased since the COVID-19
lockdown and pet life expectancy is also increasing, as a
result of improved diet and high standards of clinical care.
CVS is well-placed to benefit from these trends thanks to
our fully-integrated veterinary services model.

£9.7bn

spent on pets and related
products in the UK in 2027

Market size (Ebn)
9.7
75 75 78 8.3
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Increasing pet life expactancy

Across the globe, pet owners ere seeing an Increase in

life expectancy for household cats and dogs? and, with
continually improving standards of both preventative
healthcare and clinical treatments, this is set to continue.
Studies in the UK have found links between veterinary
procedures and reduced rates of mortality. Increased life
expectancies also provide us with increased opportunities
to deliver quality veterinary services which generate
revenues over a longer time period.

Changing lifestyles

It is clear the COVID-19 pandemic has had lasting sffects on
the way people live and woerk, from increased time spent at
home to changing priorities in how we spend our money. In
addition to the well-publicised impact on the pet population,
there has been an increase in the demand for high-quality
healthcare in all stages of a pet’s life cycle,

1. https:/fwww.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/sateliiteaccounis/
timeseriesfuvik/ct

2. www.healthforanimals.org/reparts/pet-care-report/globak-trends-in-tha-
pet-population/

We provide integrated care throughout the life cycle...

Typleal fife expectancy of 12 years for a dog (14-17 years for a cat) which is increasing

1-3 years 3-B ysars

8+ years

First-opinion practices servicing whele life veterinary cara requirements

Online ratail business food salas

Laboratory tests

Specloallst referral interventions

Compassionate end-of-lifs care and cremation service
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Geographlcal market

Following the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA)
investigation of our acquisition of Quality Pet Care Ltd, we
now have a clear framework to identify geographical areas
for further growth. The CMA concluded that a substantial
lessening of competition could result frerm an acquisition
where the resulting share of full-time equivalent (FTE)
veterinary surgeons in the refevant catchment area is
above 30%.

Using this guidance, the Group is able to identify significant
areas of the UK which continue to provide opportunities for

acquisitive growth without raising anti-competitive concerns,

which we refer o as "white space”.

c.5,300

veterinary practices
in the UK?

472

veterinary practices
operated by CVS Group

3. Source: findavet.rcvs.org.uk

Opportunities for growth

We estimate that the UK veterinary market is under
approximately 55% corporate ownership. with the remaining
veterinary practices owned privately or in partnerships and
small groups. We have seen in other industries that corporate
ownership can comfortably reach around 80% without
impact to cormpetition in the market. We therefore consider
there is significant runway for further growth via acquisitions
within the UK market.

in addition to acquisitive growth, the market is receptiva to
further organic growth through the opening of new sites.
We have a pipeline of three viable new sites for potential
future development,

Our presence in the Republic of Ireland and the Netharands
also provides a strong framework to develop further
international operations, with emerging Eurcpean markets
including France, Germany and Spain being potential targets
for future expansion.
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Market overview continued

Market drivers and responses

A growing UK pet
population
Description

The UK pet population has cantinued to grow:
continued me spent at home has grown over

the past two years with consumers recognising

the benefits of companicn amimal ownership.

» The Pet Food Manufacturars’ Association, in its
racent survay, indicates that there are cow over

25 cats and dogs in the UK.

» This increase in the pet population is a helpful
market driver, not just in the short tarm when

kittens and puppies require vaccinations, initial

check-ups and in some cases neutaring, but

significantly in the medium and lenger term as

they become matura animals reguiring more
vetefinary intervention.

Qur approach
» We cantinue t& éxpand our network of

high-quality facilities, accessible across the UK,

the Netherlands and the Republic of Ireland.

» We provide access to preventative cate
through our sucoessful Healthy Pet Club
scheme which provides preventative
healthcare Inciuding regular check-ups,
annual vactinabons and regular flea and
waorming treatments.

» We also provide advice o clients on the
appropriate choice of pet for their indvidual
¢ircurnstances and we offer puppy
socialisation classes in 8 nurrber of cur
first-opinion practices.

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 28 and 27

1 3

Advances in veterinary care

Description

= Continued scientific research leads to
further advances in vetarinary care offering pet
owners g variety of treatments for thewr amimals.

» Improvements in technology have advanced
tha offering of telemedicine and remote
speclalist diagnostic image interpratation
and advice.

¥

Technology is becoming more affordable and
mote practices around the world are able to
buy MRI and CT scanners. We provide support
through our Vet Cracle™ business. Our Vet
Oracle™ speclalists are able to review images
remotely and provide advice on clinical
treatments for first-opinion vets within CVS
and third-party owned practices.

Our approach

» Wainvest in our clinioians, offenng them
industry-leading climeal traning. and we
provide a culture of recommending the best
possibla treatrment to our clients,

* We have introduced CVS Clinical Research
Awards which are available to CVS colleagues
and academics from universities or research
mstitutes in the UK, the Netherlands and the
Republic of lreland. Successful epplicants can
receive funding to support clinical research
that benefits veterinary clinical practice.

> We continue to grow our vet-to-vet telemedicine
service, Vet Oracle™, which now has
five spacialisms.

» We invest in cutting-edge technalagy to
enable us to offer the best clinical care to our
patients, including investing in a stereotactic
linear accelerator for cancer treatment, the first
of its kind for animals in the UK, at our new
refarral centre in Bristol, opening in 2023

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 and 27

1 2 23 L
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Availabllity of vets
to perform services

Description
» Therais 2 continued shortage of veterinary
surgaans and, 10 a lesser extent, nursasin the UK,

» ThaRovyal College of Veterinary Surgeons (RCVS)
has confirmed that vetetinary surgeons who
have gualified in the EU can continue to work in
the UK without any remedial training, provided
they have qualified from European Association
of Establishments for Vaterinary Education
(EAEVE) accredited institutions and provided
they meet appropriate language requirements.

> The number of veterinary schools in the UK has
increased 10 eleven currently {from nine as et
the date of our 2021 Annual Report). The number
of graduate vets each vear continues to
increasa, and will increase further, as a result.

» The RCVS Is In the tinal stages of consultation
on proposed changas to the Vatarinary
Surgeons Act 1966 which, amongst other
things, would enable nurses 10 undertake a
broader range of procedures without direct
veteringry sUrgeon suparvision.

Cur approach

> We continue 1o put our people first with our
vision to be the vetarinary company people
most want to work for.

= Wa have implemented many initiatives with
the am of attracting new colleagues and
retaining our existing colleagues, including
enhanced wellbeing rasources. We have
particularly targeted new graduste vets,
with our popular Summer and Winter Camps.

> We continue to enhanca our learning, education
and development in support of our clinical
colleagues in arder to enabla their continued
professional development.

» We continue to monitor our main key performance
indicators of vet vacancy rate and employes
Net Promoter Score.

> We continue to partner with universities to
assist students with their extramural studies.
providing lasting relationships with graduates.

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 and 27

1 z2 3 %




Did you know?

The Netherlands celehrated 200 years of veterinary medicine In 2021
in 1821, the Naticnal Veterinary School was founded in Utrecht with the hope that scientfically-
trained veterinanans would be able to solve the problem of livestock diseases. Much has
changed since 1821 as the field of study expanded to match the changing function and
meaning of the animal in modern society, and the resulting demand for veterinary services.

Between October and December 2021, colleagues from practices through the Netherlands
carried a “veternary fiame” acrass the country. They could cycle, walk, row or ride on harseback,
and the flame relay also raised money for Veterinary Medicine Friends, a charity that
conducts paid research to improve the health of animals.

Online retail

Description

>

Increasingly, our cusicmers are switching
1o shopping online for their pet food for
convenience and to abtain the most
competitive price,

Whilst the majority of our cliants purchase
drugs in our practices, thay can also purchese
a prescription from our practices and then
purchase drugs online.

Our approach

>

We have invested in and launched a warehouse
management system to improve the efficiency
of our arder fulfilment.

We continue to explore opportunities within
our onlina platform, in¢reasing our website
capabllities #nd ensuring we have sustainable
competitive pricing. We are launching a new
website for Animed Direct in the 2023
financial yaar.

Wa are raviawing new oppartunities to expand
our online offering to our practice customers.

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 and 27

1

3

Consolidated market

Description

» The UK and Eurapean veterinary market continues
to consolidate and it is estimated that c.55% of
UK practices are under corporate ownership.

» Wae recognisa the importance of privately-
ownad independent practices. However,
we can see significant runway for further
consolidatian in the market, from review of
other successful consolldated markets.

» Where private practice owners are fooking to sell.
we are well-positioned to acquire and provide
benefits to owners, colleagues and patients.

Our approach

*» We continue to invest in our integrated medef and
support organic and selective acquisitive growth.
During the year, we spent £24.5m on capital
expenditure, in addition to acquiting four
companion anirnal practice sites,

» Wa support \ndependent practices through
our buying groups, cur laboratories, our referral
specialists, our Vet Orecle™ service and our
crematoria, ali of which offer services to
non-CVS practices as well as our own.

> We will continue 1o seek synergistic acquisition
opportunities in areas of the UK where our
presence is more limited, as weil as exploring
emearging European markets.

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 amd 27

Humanlsation of pets

Description

» The veterinary sector has benefitied from the
humanisation of pets in recent years as pats
are treated increasingly as companions and
seen as an important part of family and home
lite, as well as positive contributars to improved
mental and physical health.

» inthe PDSA 2022 PAW report, it was reported
that 94% of pet owners say cwning a pet makes
thern happy, and 84% of pet owners say
owTing a pet improves mental haalth.

» Ressarch published inthe American Heart
Assoclation journal has linked pet ownership
to improved health due to the mental health
bensfits of pet companionship and physical
health benefits of physical activity, particularly
associated with dog ownership,

Our approach

» We continue to priciitise high-quality clinicat
care and, with our integrated structura, we can
pravide all-round anima! care throughout a
pet's life, from first-opinion, specialist refarrals,
diegnostic testing, accessories, pet food and
consumables, to end-cf-ife care, crematoria and
waste disposal services,

» ‘Wea have a culture of quality Improvement
which ensures our clients can access the most
appropriate care for thelr pet,

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 and 27

] 2 a
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Business model

Our fully-integrated veterinary
services model has a track record

of resilience

Our inputs

Passlonate people
We employ dedicatad professionals who
are committed to excellent clinical care.

7,913

employees

2,079

veterinary surgeons

Financlal strength

We continue to deliver growth in revenue,
adjusted EBITDA and underlying cash
generated from operations.

£554.2m

revenue

£107.4m
adjusted EBITDA

£93.1m

cash generated from oparations

High-quality clinical care

All of our practices are registered with the
RCVS Practice Standards Scheme (PSS) and
are committed to investing in and using
modern diagnostic techniques. We invest in
clinical training end advanced gualifications.

85

referrals specialists

154
PSS awards

Customaer focusod

Qur colleagues are dedicated to providing
a quality service with the highest levels of
customer and clinical care

470,000
Healthy Pet Club members

719
client Net Promoter Score

Integrated veterinary platform

We have a fully-integrated model with first-apinion veterinary practices at the core
of our business, supported by specialist-led multi-disciplinary referral hospitals,
our own diagnostic laboratories, our network of crematoria and our online retail
business for pet food, medicines and pet care products. Through our fully-integrated
model, we can provide high-guality end-to-end care to our patients and their owners,

voboratorje .

B”ying Group®

See our Operational review on pages 4b to 53
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A vertically Integrated

platform with veterinary

practices at our core
Strong barriers tc entry

High-quality integrated clinical care

Scale benefits

Operating In a sizeable and
growing market with resilient
characteristics

Increased population of pets

Humanisation of pets with
consumers willing to spend more

Recurring robust revenues

Supplemented by prudent

capital allocation

> Investment in new facilities and
equiprmeant, and increase in clinical
specialists, to drive organic growth

> Qpportunity for
accretive acquisitions

» Progressive dividend palicy

Find out more In our Financlal
revlew on pages 54 to 58

Stakeholder value creation

Colleagues

>

Supporting colleagues’ wellbeing
and performing regular check-ins

Creation of an Equity, Diversity
and Inclusion (FDN) working group

Providing career progression

and learning and development
opportunities including continued
professional development and access
to top-tier clinical expertise

Maintaining high standards
of ¢linical governance

Industry-leading graduate pragramme,
including graduate camps

A culture of open dialogue and learning

» Offering competitive rewards

and benefits

Shareholders

>

>

Delivering sustained financial performance

Open diglogue and communication
with our shareholders

Appointment of & financial PR
agency and recording of analyst
results presentations

Adherenge with reporting
requirements including Streamhned
Energy and Carbon Reporting

Long-Term Incentve Plan (LTIP)
awards are linked to total sharehclder
returns and targets are aligned with
shareholder interests. Executive
Directors are subject to two-year
holding period on LTIP awards

Annual bonus targets for
Executive Committee members
will now include non-financial
measures linked to sustainability

Industry bodies

>

Regular contact with the Rayal College
of veterinary Surgeons (RCYS) and
other industry bodies

Participation in RCVS Practice
Standards Scheme by all CVS practices

Full engagement with RCVS as part

of its recent consultation on proposed
reforms of the Veterinary Surgecns Act
1966 with written submission from CvS
into this consultation

Publication of annual Quality
Improvement report to promote
improvements across the profession

Liatison with RCVS on wellbeing and
ESG matters

Customers

>

>

Ensuring customers have access

to end-to-end care through our
first-opinion practices, our specialist-led,
multi-disciplinary referral hospitals, our
diagnostic laboratones and, at the end
of an animal's life, our compassionate
cremation services

Demonstrating consistently high
clinical standards

Prioritising animal welfare

Providing regular check-ups and
routine treatments (e.g. vaccines,

flea and worming treatments)
Maintaining high standards of

pain management, particularly

in surgical patients

All our first-opinion companion animal
practices have sign access to allow
deaf clients access to veterinary care

Providing an equine cut-of-hours service

Communilty

>

Focus on quality improvernent
including antimicrobial stewardship

Cutreach to schools

Regular liaison with industry bodies
including the RCVS, British Veterinary
Association, British Veterinary Nursing
Association, and more

Donations to charity, including
sponsorships and ennual Vetlife
charity donations

Suppliers

>

>

>

>

Fair trading terms with our suppliers
which promote the collective intarests
of CVS and our supplier base

Regular meetings with senior
managemeant teams to ensure
interests are aligned

Suppliers continue to benefit from the
growth of CV¥5 organically and through
our strategic acquisitions

Engagement on ESG matters o ensure
callective improvement
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QOur culture

Driving positive change
with care at our heart

Our culture and values reflect
our purpose to give the best
possible care to animals and
our vision to be the veterinary
company people most want
to work feor,
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"We're building an inclusive
behaviour framework, to help
everyone understand what
they can do to foster inclusivity
within their teams.”

Our approach

Individual attitudes and behaviours are key to our success.
These values not only make us different, they alsc provide us
with a sense of direction for consistent behaviour. They act
as a foundation for our evolving culture as welf as a guide
describing what we can expect of each other and what our
colleagues, our customers and the communities in which
we work can expect of us. Our velues are at the heart of how
wa work and they provide the inextricable link that ties all of
these things togather.

In 2022, we completed a Group-wide culture survey in which
our colleagues fed back their experiences of inclusion, support
and fairness within CVS. We are using this feedback to guide
our calleague-led Egquity, Diversity and inclusion (EDI) groups,
focusing on Ability and Neurodiversity, Ethnicity, Social Mability,
Gender and LGBTQ+. The groups have great passion for this
hugely important subject and are already helping us identify
ways in which we can further improve. We are in this for the
long term, and we recognise that sustainable cultural

and systemic change will take time. We are building a
comprehensive EDI strategy, which will evolve over time

as we respond to what we are achieving and what our
colleagues are telling us.

Qur values

Customer focus

Our dedication to our customers is at the heart of our business
and we are focused on our customers’ and their animals’ needs.
We traat our customers with warmth and respect, we make
them feel welcome, and we keep our commitments.

Commitment to excellence

We constantly strive to achieve the highest possible
standards in the quality of services and products we provide.
We look for better ways of working, both individually and in
teams, end we encourage colleagues to be innovative to
improve the way we work.

Success through our people

We aim to attract, develop and retain the best people, we
foster a collaborative and mutually supportive working
environment, and we assist all our colleaguies in achieving
their career aspirations, with progressive learming and
development opportunities.

Honeaty and Integrity

We treat our colleagues and customers with honesty and
respect. We strive to ensure safety and accessibility in all
areas of our business. We act with integrity in all that we do,
being fair, transparent and accessible to all. we are open to
feedback and we own up to our mistakes.

How we demonstrate our values

We achieve success through our people: The companion
animal practices within CVS collectively received an RCVS
Knowledge Champion Award in 2021, for auditing small animal ear
cytology on a national scale over a long period, resulting in an
increase in diagnostic tests and a reduction in antibiotic use across
a wide range of practices.

We act with honesty and integrity: Many of our colleagues are
atready demonstrating inclusive behaviours, but we recognise that
we can always do more to recognise and celebrate these inclusive
behaviours. With the help of our colleague EDI groups, we're buiiding
an inclusive behavicur framework to help everyone understand
what they can do to foster inclusivity within their teams.

Our culture in numbers

4.8 280

employee Net Promoter Score active Wellbeing Champicns

Discover more on paga 31

374

managers who completed
“Supporting the Wellbeing
of Your Team" training

5

EDI working groups
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Section 172(1) statement and
stakeholder engagement

Creating value for
our stakeholders

Section 172(1) Statement

Qur Section 172(1) Statement sets out how tha Board has
given regard to the matters set out in Section 172(1)(a)-(f) of
the Companies Act 2008 ("s172"} in performing its duties over
the course of the year. The Company’s purpose, vision and
strategy are reviewed and discussed annually by the Board to
ensure that these continue to promote the long-term success
of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole,
whilst also having regard to the matters set out in 5172.

Purpose, vision and strategy

Our purpose is to give the best possible care to animals and
our vision is to be the veterinary company people most want
to work for. This purpose and vision are in alignment with the
long-term interests of our customers, our colleagues and
other stakeholders in the delivery of high-quality, sustainable
clinical care for animals.

Stakeholder engagement

The Board has igentified six key stakeholders who are essential
to the delivery of the Company’s strategy and long-term
success, details of which ate set out on the following pages.
Our colleagues, customers, shareholders, community, industry
bodies and suppliers are at the heart of what we do; it is of the
highest importance to us that we engage with all of our
stakeholders meaningfully to inform decision-rmaking and ensure
that we provide value in all areas of our business. We promate
an ongoing dislogue with ali of our stakeholders to enable us to
act on feedback and foster a culture of honasty and integrity.

Consideration of 5172 factors by the Board

The following table sets out some key decisions taken by the
Board during the year and how 172 factors and engagement with
stakeholders have been discussed and taken into consideration,

The Board has a duty 1o act for the benefit of its members as
a whole whilst having regard to the matters set out in 8172

a. the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;
b. the interasts of the Company’s employees;

¢. the need to foster the Company's business relationships
with suppliers, customers and others:

d. the impact of the Company’'s operations on the
community and the environment;

e. the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation
for high standards of business conduct; and

f. the need o act fairly as between members of the Compary.
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Board decision 5172 considerations

Dividend The Board considered the Company's capital
The Board approved a final  posmion and perfarmance and agreed the
dividend of 6.5p per reintroduction of s prograssive dividend

Ordinary share of 0.2p each poalicy which is based on growing the
in the capital of dividend per Ordinary share over time,
the Company for the year
ended 30 june 2071

Links to 8172: 3, cand f

The Board alsc considered whether it was
appropriate to return capitai to shareholders
through the uge of special dividends and share
buybacks, but tsking into consideration the
long-term investment needs of the business,
the Beard decided 1@ reinvest capital in
supporting delivery of long-term growth

Environmental, Socialand The Board considered the Company's
Govarnance (ESG} environmental impact and discussed
stratagy nitiatives such as the reduction of waste,
During the coursa of the water consumption and the transition to
year, the Board formaily recyclied packaging. In addition to formally
adopted the UN Sustainable adopting the UN Sustainable Development
Development Goals and Goals, the Board also committed to adopting
soined the UNGlobal the Sustainabliity Accounting Standards
Compact, as part of its Board (SASB) reporting framework as a means
commitment to delivering @ communicate to stakeholders gats relating
on 1ts ESG strategy as set out to actions the Board Is taking with regard to
on pages 32 to 44. financally-material sustainability factors,

) : SASB date Is recorded in the Group's 2022
gt\;rsmﬁsgsehseiic::;itiﬁty Sustanability Report. Further, the Board has
Repart on 12 August 2022 aarly-adopted the recommendations of the

" Task Force on Chimata-Related Financial
LinkstosT72:a,b,dande  Disclosures (TCFD), the Group's TCFD
statement can be raad on pages 38 to 44.

Cost-of-living pay review
The Soard agreed an
additioral 3.0% salary
increase for all colleagues

The Board agreed to an additional pay
increasea in May 2022 in recognition of the
incregsed costs faced by housenolds in the
UK and Europe. The Boarg ¢considerad the

{save for the Executive views of its stakeholders and agreed that
Directers) with effect frem 1 prioritising the needs of its colleagues would
May 2022 to support also have a positive impact on the communities

increased costs of living. it operatas in as an employar. as well as
Further, the Board committed cermenting our reputation as a great place to
1o paying a minimum of 3.0% work and have a career.

ahove National Minimum

Wage/Natlonal Living Wage

for all present and future

celleagues.

Linksto=s172:b, dand e




Colleagues

Why we engage

Qur vision is to be the veterinary company people most want to
work for. 8y engaging with our colleagues, we can understand
their motivations and work with them to maximise colleague
engagement and welfare. Cur focus is continuing to provide our
colleagues with the flaxibllity and support they need to develop
their careers.

How we engage

We issue Group-wide comrespondence in the form of weekly
emails, a monthly magazine and guarterly video briefings,
which are issued in English and Dutch with subtitles, to improve
accessibility. We host an annual conference where clinical staff
from across our divisions can engage with other members of
the business.

We actively monitor our colleagus satisfaction via our employea
Net Promoter Score (8NPS), which is updated monthly. The score
is broken down on a divisional basis, and business leaders seek
feedback in response to changes in the score.

Although rmuch of our day-to-day engagement with colieagues
Is delegated to local teams, a Non-Executive Director regularly
maets with our colleagues to discuss key matters.

We host live question and answer webinars with our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer, and answers
are alsc shared in the monthly company magazine.

Qutcomes

Qur colleagues provide valuable feedback, particularly on issues
which affect thermn most, such as the rising costs of living. As a
result of this, we announced an out-of-cycle pay rise for all colleagues,
as well as a comnmitment to pay at least 3.0% above National Minimum
Wage/National Living Wage to all current and future colleagues.

In the past year, an increasing pet population and growing
demand for high-quality clinical care has coincided with a
shortage of clinical staff in the industry, leading to increased
demands on our colleagues. We have monitored feedback from
our celleagues and continue to implement measures to support
them, by focusing on recruitrment and retention, and investing in
excellent facilities.

We have continued to increase our wellbeing resources, including
training further Wellbeing Champions and First Aiders for Mental
Health, increasing the range of resources avaitable on our wellbeing
portal, and promoting our Employee Assistance Programme.

Customers

Why we engage

Customers rightly expect the highest quality care for their
animals. We provide this through our integrated veterinary
services model which enables us to deliver high clinical
standards and quality facilities.

We engage with our customers to ensure we are meeting their
high standards of service, and to identify opportunities to
improve client service.

How we engage

Alongside contact within our practices, we regularly
communicate with our customers through a variety of channels
such as social media, emaii and direct mail, promoting animal
wellbeing in addition to discounts and benefits.

We seek feedback frorm customers enabling us to measure our
customer Net Promoter Score.

Qur practice teams engage most closely with customers, and
these colleagues are encouraged to provide regional and central
management with feedback on key issues identified in conversstions
during consultations and other in-practice interactions.

Qutcomes

Wa continue to invest in our integrated veterinary platform,
ensuring we can offer cur customers a complete pet care
service, from first-opinion clinics and referral centres, to the sale
of pet food and medications. to in-house laboratory testing.
compassionate cremation services and clinical waste disposal.

We ensure our acquisitions will improve the level of service we
offer to our customers, whether it is covering a broader range of
locations or providing enhanced services, such as out-of-hours,
to complement existing practices.

We continue to invest in improving our practices to enhance
customer experience and the quality of clinical care we can
provide. Our new flagship referral hospital with cutting-adge
facilities and equipment, inciuding a speciafist stereotactic linear
accelerator, is on track to open in Bristol in early 2023. The
additional capacity will help us treat a larger number of cases and
the advanced equipment will cpen up treatment opportunities to
give tha best possible care to animals.
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Section 172(1) statement and

stakeholder engagement continued

Shareholders

Why wa sngage

We actively engage with our shareholders, highlighting our
investrment case and communicating our future plans, to ensure
the Group's strategy is aligned to the interests of its sharsholders.

Qur shareholders hold us accountable for doing the right thing,
and by engaging with them we can understand and act on their
expectations, enabling us to drive the business forward, deliver
sustainable growth in shareholder return and attract additional
investors to support the business.

How we engage

We engage with our shareholders through cur Annual General
Meeting (AGM), broker conferences, one-to one meetings and
investor roadshows. We have an ongoing dialogue with our
shareholders and value their feedback, which is regularly
discussed at Board meetings,

Wwe keep the investor section of our website up to date to provide
timely updates about CVS and its activities.

Individual shareholders are encouraged to contact Directors on
all matters relating to governance and strategy via the Company
Secratary. Our Executive Directors take part in liva webcasts of
our interitn and preliminary results announcements, including live
question and answer sessions with analysts.

Qutcomes
At the 2021 AGM, 100.0% of resclutions were passed and votes
in favour ranged from 93.7% to 100.0%.

During the year, wa attended eight investor conferences and we
were delighted to attend in-person investor roadshows in the
United States and the Republic of Ireland.

Our next capital markets day will be held on 8 November 2022,
giving investors a deeper insight into our future growth opportunities
and our capital aliocation priarities, with &n opportunity to meet
our colleagues and attend practice tours.
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Community

Why we engage

We regularly engage with local communities in which our
practices operate, communities of pet owners and animal carers,
and the communities to which our colleagues helong, in order to
understand how we can support them,

By engaging with our communities we ¢an find ways to
contribute positively to the envirorments in which we wark,
promote employrment satisfaction within out operations and
support our communities to achieve common goals, such as
the advancament of clinical care.

How we engage

We have an annual charity of the year, which is chosen by our
colleagues; in 2022 this is the Pet Biood Bank. Throughout the
year we hold reguler fundraising events from bake sales in Jocal
practices to Group-wide promoted events.

Our practices also engage within their local communities,
providing key care to animals for a number of smaller charities,

Outcomes

Qur colleagues raised £10,000 for our 2021 charity of the year.
British Divers Marine Life Rescue, which was matched by CVS in
a donation to Vetlife. This money helped the charity to deal with
increased callouts after Storm Arwen, and helped to fund its new
Seal Hospital in Cornwall.

In February 2022, we launched our "MiniCVS” workshops
initiative, which sees our colleagues visit local schools to help get
children excited about science and animals, with activities from
roleplay, to pet first aid, to careers advice.

We have implemented a number of initiatives to lessen or offset
our impact on the environment. Our crematoria have been
donating througheaut 2021 and 2022 towards the National Trust
tree planting initiative. For every individual cremation received in
2021, a contribution was made tc this initiative, culminating in a
£10,000 donation in June 2022 which equates to almost three
football pitches of new green space in laving memory of pets.



Industry bodies

Why we engage

We actively engage with our industry bodies, including the Royal
College of Veterinary Surgeons (RCVS), the British Veterinary
Association {BVA) and the British Veterinary Nurses Association
(BVNA), to promote inncvation and advancement within the
veterinary industry.

How we engage
We engage with our regulators over a wide range of issues.

Where appropriate. we hold meetings with industry bodies, such as
the RCVS, BVA, BVNA and Veterinary Defence Society, to discuss
key issues and share initiatives and improvernents across the industry.

Appropriate colleagues attend updste calls and webinars with
regulatory bodies to understand upcoming regulstory changes,
such as the addition of ESG measures ta the RCVS Practice
Standards Scheme {PSS) which we were pleased to see in 2022

Outcomes

In August 2022, we refeased aur latest Quality Improvermnent (QI)
report, updating our stakeholders on our approach to improving
clinical standards in the industry. QI is hugely important to ensure
we can maintain the highest possible standards of care. Qur
colleagues’ work on the impact of parasiticides on the natural
environment will provide recommendations to inform clinical

decision-making in an area which is currently not well understood.

We ware actively involved in consultation with the RCVS on
recommendations for reform of the Veterinary Surgeons Act
1966 and are keen to see this legislation amended so that our
highty-skitled nurses can undertake mare procedures.

In advance of any changes in legislation, we have increased
nurse ytilisation in our veterinary practices as permitted under
existing legislation, with the percentage of Registered Veterinary
Nurses {RVNs} carrying out consultations increasing significantly
inthe year.

Suppliers

Why we engage

We are proud to have long-term relationships with our wholesalers
and manufacturers, regularly communicating with them to
promote our relationship. Through these relationships we can
generate consistent custom for our suppliers, in return achieving
mutually favourable terms on purchases.

We engage with our suppliers to deliver ongoing benefits to our
businesses, collaboratively finding operational and sustainable
improvements and delivering improved value.

We have shared sustainability goals with some of our key
suppliers. We racognise that through working together we can
reduce our impact on the environment.

How we engage
We regularly communicate with our suppliers to review contract
terms and identify mutually beneficial opportunities.

Our suppliers are invited to attend our annual conference to
understand our business, engage with other key stakeholders
and ask any questions they may have.

We attend industry conferences and events which are alsc
attended by our existing suppliers, as well as other suppliers that
we may work with in the future. We actively engage at these
events to understand where our goals might be aligned to those
of suppliers.

Outcomes

We have continued to maintain appropriate communication with
our suppliers, ensuring they are paid on time and are able to
deliver sufficient product,

We have formed partnerships with some of our key suppliers to
reduce our impact on the environment. Our office supplias
provider, Warrens Office, has worked closely with us on a number
of environmental initiatives, including timing the deliveries of its
office supplies to our practices to coincide with deliveries to
other customers in the same areas.

We have partnered with environmental award-winning print
supplier SF Taylor to launch the CVS Frint Hub in November 2021,
The CVS Frint Hub provides a catalegue of printed items for CVS
practices to order, including posters, leaflets and branded
letterheads. Fully accredited with 1ISO 14001, FSC and PFEC, SF
Tavlor also holds awards for its commitrent to manufacturing
with process-free printing plates; use of only vegetable-based
inks; reduction of wastage by recycling solvents wherever
possibie; and use of an ink pumping system which bath reduces
Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) emitted to the atmosphere and
minimises waste.
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Our strategy

Driving business performance
by doing the right thing

1. We recommend and provide the best
clinical care every time

Our strategic objectives
> Tahave a culture of recommending the best possible reatments to
our clients.
> Ta deliver Industry-leading chnical training.
To be committed to evidence-based medicine and have a robust quality
improvement framework.

¥

» Toensure our clinicians have access to the right medicinas at the right time.

Our achievements in the year

» We have once again published our annual Guaiity Improverment (QI) report,
raflecting cur commitment to eading the veterinary profession n patient
safety and promoting a culture of learning and development amongst
coileagues.

> We have focused on our Patient Care Index, which is our framework to
maonltor the quality of patient care.

> Our Vet Cracle™ virtual specialist hospitel has connnued to grow, with
13,000 cases considered in 2022

» Qureguine and farm colleagues have been focusing on implementng QI
maeasures, including establishing a QI Lead within aach practice

Outloock

> We ara working hard to dave increased levals of preventative healthcara
and we hope to continue to grow membership of our Healthy Pet Club.

Our referraly teams are using technology to advance chncian-reported and
clisnt-reported outcome measuras, which wil: undoubtadly lead the way to
introducing this work 10 the widar profession,

Market drivers

This pillar is impacted by:

» a growing UK pet population;

» advances in vetarinary care; and
» hurnanisation of pets

¥

LinktoKPlg &4 8 © D E F G H | J K L
Read more on pages 28 to 31

Linktorisikg ' 3 « ¢ 7 ¢ 1
Read more on pages 60 to 68
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2. We are a great place to work and have
a career

Our strategic objectives
» To create cpportunities for our people to have a diverse and
rewaraing caregr.
» To be as Pexible as possiblein ell our roles.
» Tohave the best leaders within our businesses,
» To offer the best learning, education and development in the profession,

Our achlevemants in the year

» Inthe yvear ended 30 June 2022 we employed an average of 2,078 vets

(2021; 1.962). This is a 6.0% increase from 2021 10 2022, despite warkforce

shortages in the veterinary industry, demonstrating the success of our

people-focused strategy.

Our vet and nurse attrition has remainad retatively stable

Our employae Net Promater Score, which tracks calleague engagernent

scross our busingss, Increased by 65.5% from 202110 2022.

» Ws have placed 362 new colleagues through our highly successful refer-a-
friend scheme and we have fifled 16G roles with internal canddates.

» We have implemented enhanced benefits far our colleagues ncluding
increased pay and holiday In May 2022, we announced our commitment to
way a minimurm of 3.0% above National Minimum Wage/National Living Wage
to all qurrent and future colleagues.

Qutlook

> We will remain focused on colleague recruitment and retention, seeking
further initiatives ta mprove colleague satisfaction,

» Our Culture Survaey has proviced excellent feedback which our five colleague-
led Equity, Diversity and inciusion (EDI) groups are working on to support
colleagues ontopics including.

= Ability and Neuradiversity;
- Ethnicity;
- Social Mobility;
- Gendern and
» LGBTQ+.
> Qur industry-leading learning, education and development platform, the
Knowledge Hub, goes fram strength to strenigth, with 261 courses
now available.

Market drivers

This pillar is impacted by:

» agrowing UK pet poputation;

advances in veterinary care;

availability of vets to parform services; and
humanisation of pets.

vy v

vy ¥y
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and provide the We are a great
—testélifilcaleare—  Place to work and
every time have a career
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Wae provide 'We taike our.
great facliities Tasponsibilitles’
and equipment ‘sérinusly

3. We provide great facilities
and equipment

Our strategle objectives

» Toensura all our practices meet the Royal College of Veterinary Surgaons
[RCVS) Practice 5tandards Scheme accreditation standards, and to aspire
to achieve further RCVS awards.

> Toinvest in our estate to ensure all cur facilities meet excellent standards.

> To expand our network with high-quality facilities.

= To develop new ways to serve our clients and our patients.

Our achlevements in the year

» We have completed 23 practice relocations and refurpishments.

» In 2022, we spemt £13.7m on investment in our facilities end medical
equipment.

» During the year, we acquirad three new practices {four practice sites).
which complement our existing portfolio of practices.

Outlook

» We are committed to enhancing tha quality of our on-site facilities.
» Our senior clinical teams are launching and raining new wechnigues
acrass our practices.

Our flagship specialist veterinary hospital in Bristol, opening in 2023,
will have speciabsts in every discipline and cutting-edoe equipment
and technology.

¥

Market drivers

This pillar is impactad by:

» a growing UK pet population;

> advances in vetarinary care;

» availebility of vets to perform sarvices; and
» g consofidatad market.

LinktecKPIs » B © b & F & H J4 K L
Read more on pages 28 to 31

Linktorisks ' 2 3 &+ 8 &6 8 9
Read more on pagas 80to 68

. We take our responsibilities seriously
Our strategic objectives

To make our Group as environmentally sustainable as possible.

To implement the best levels of health and safety in the profession.
To prioritise the wellbeing of our people.

To engage with the veterinary profession and support its interasts.

Our achievements in the year

» Wa refreshed our EDI committee and introduced and recruited 60
colleagues from across CV5 to five new collesgue-led EDI groups.

» We have published our first standalone Sustainability Report. using the
Sustainability Accounting Standards Boerd (SASB) as the reporting
framework to disclose our sustainability data.

» Inthis Annual Report we have early-adopted the requirements of the
Task Force on Cimate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).

vV eVw

Read more in our TCFD repart on pages 38 to .

» We have installed an automatic anonymisation feature within our primary
practice managemant systam that erases or ananymises customer data
in line with the data retention policy.

Outlook

> We want to play a leading rale in teckiing iasues such as antimicrobial
resistance - a critigat challenge for animal healthcare giobally. We
contnue to suppart research into this subject and promote a reduction
n prescribing of unnecessary or inappropriate antimicrobials.

> CVS warks closely with RCVS Knowledge, the charity partner of the RCVS,
10 halp promote its mission “to edvance the guality of vetarinary care for
the benefit of animals, the public, and socrety.”

> Wa will continue to report ennually under the SASB and TCFD frameworks,
ansuring accountsbility ko our stekeholders, including setting measurable
targats aganst which to benchmark progress.

Market drivers

This pillar is impacted by:

» availability of vets io perform services; and
» humanisation of pets.

LinktoKPls A B ©€ D E F & H J4 K L
Read more onpages28to 39

Linktorisks ' 2 % & ¢ 7 @
Read more on pasges 80 to 68
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Key performance indicators

Financial KPls

Ensuring CVS
tracks and menitors
the correct KPls,
both financial and
non-financial, is
key in measuring
our success.

1. Adjusted financial measures
{adjusted EBITDA, adjusted profit
before tax and adjusted earnings
per share) are defined in nota tio
the financial statements, and

(A) Revenue (Em)

£554.2m

+8.6%

2022 554.2
2021 5104
2020 4278

201 406.5

2018 327.3

Why it's a KPI

Revenue is a key measure of
performance across all
divisions of the Graup and
demonstrates our ability to
attract and retain customers.

2022 performance
» Group revenue has Increased
by £44.1m.

Like-for-like sales, adjusted
for intercompany revenue
eliminations, increased by
£371m (8.0%) as a result of
investments in our people,
facilities and clinical
equipment.

v

» Acquisitions duning the year
and the full year impact of
prior year acguisitions
generated additicnal revenue
of E7.0m.

{B) Like-for-like sales
(%)

8.0%

-54.0%

2022 8.0

2021 174
2020 | 07

2019 | 52

2018 | 49

Why tt’s a KP1

Like-for-like sales shows revenue
generated from like-for-like
operations compared to the
prior year, adjusted for the
number of working days. For
example, for a practice acquired
in September 2020, revenue is
included from September 2021
in the like-for-like caiculations.
This shows the underlying
growth in revenue across all
divisions, excluding the impact
of acquisitions.

2022 performance

» Like-for-like performance
reflects growth in both price
and volume compared to the
previous year.

v

Price increases sre in line with
inflation and reflect our focus
on delivering high-guality
care to our clients and
patients.

» The increase in volume has
been driven by an increase in
clinical staff supported by our
continuing investment in cur
faciities and clinical

(C) Adjusted EBITDA'
(Em)

£107.4m

+10.2%

2022 1078
2021 97.5
2020 1.0

2019 545

208 47.6

Why it's a KPI

Adjusted Earnings Before
Interest, Taxation, Depreciation
and Amortisation (EBITDA)
excludes costs relating w
business combinations and
exceptional iterms and assists in
understanding the underlying
performance of the Group.

2022 performance

» The improvement in adjusted
EBITDA reflects the increase
in like-for-like sales and
improvemeant in gross margin
before clinical staff costs, as
we continue to deliver our
purpose to give the best
possible care to animals.

» This increase has contributed
to the improvement in
like-for-like adjusted EBITDA
of £9.3m, with acguisitions in
the year and the full year
impact of prior year
acquisitions generating an
additiona! £1.5m.

v

This is partly offset by an
increase in central costs of
£0.9m as we continue to

reconciled to the financial equipment invest in our support
measures defined by international functions to support the
Financial Reporting Standards delivery of high-quality care
{IFRS) on pages 114 and 132. across the Group.

Link to stratagy 1 2z 3 1 2 3 & T 2 3 u

Read more on pages 26 and 27

28 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statemants 2022



(D) Adjusted EPS'
(pence)

85.8p

+4.2%

2022 85.8
2021 754
2020 42.0

2019 L&.7

2018 424

Why it’s a KPI

This is profit before tax adjusted
for: amortisation: costs relating
to business combinatians; and
exceptional items net of the
notional tax imgpact of these,
divided by the weighted
average number of shares.

2022 performance

» The increase reflects the
increase of £9.3m in the year
in adjusted profit before tax’.

» |ssued share capital has
increased only by the number
of shares required to satisfy
the Group's Long-Term
Incentive Plan and Save As
You Earn schemes.

(E) Total capex {(Em)

£24.5m

+47.6%

2022 2u4.5
2021 16.6

2020 124

209 129

2018 10.7

Why It's o KP1

This is the total amount

spent by the Group on capital
expenditure ("capex”). Capital
expenditure is incurred on
refurbishment and relocation
of practice facilities and
investment in new equipment
and clinical facilities. Investing
in our practices and clinical
equipment is key to
achievement of our strategic
goal of providing great facllities
and equipment.

2022 performance

» Total capital expenditure
has increased by £7.9m,
consisting of a £2.6m
increase in maintenance
capital expenditure,
and a £5.3m increase
in development capital
expenditure, with the
focus on improving client
experience and growing
our business Refer to the
Financial review on pages 54
to 58 for further detail,

(F) Gross margin
before clinical
staff costs (%)

76.9%

+1.1%

2022 769

2021 761

2020 755

209 76.2

2018 7.6
Why it’s a KPl

Gross margin represents
revenue after deducting the
cost of drugs, laboratory fees
and cremation fees, and other
goods sold or used by the
business, expressed as a
percentage of total revenue.
Grass margin is a KP| because
it helps us to monitor and
meesure cur ability to purchase
drugs at the best possible
price whilst ensuring the
highest quality.

2022 performance

> The increase in gross
margin is principally due
to our focus on providing
great clinical care through
increased diagnostics.

(G) Cash generated
from operations
(Em)

£93.1m

+15.9%

2022 934
2021 BO.3
2020 Y48
2019 52.1

2018 4457

Why It's a KP}

Cash generated from
operations shows the cash

inflows before: payments of
taxation and interest; business
combinations; purchases of
property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets:
repayment of right-of-use
assets: payments of dividends;
debt issuance costs; increase/
repayrment of bank lcans;
exceptional tems; and
proceeds from issue of shares.
Delivery of increased cash
generated from operations
allows us 1o invest in further
growth opportunities across
our business.

2022 performance

» Cash generated from
operations has increased
due to the Increass in profit
for the year offset by adverse
working capital, with an
increase in inventories of
£6.6m and a reduction in
trade payablesductoa
portion of colleagues’ bonus
payments now being paid in
salary.
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Key performance indicators continued

Non-financial KPls

Tracking our
non-financial
measures allows
us to monitor our
performance
against our core
strateglc goals.

1. These non-financial KPls align
with our strategy, howavar, data
is only available for three years.

2 Net Promoter Score measures
customer and colleague
experience using the answertoa
key guestion, "how likety is it that
you would recommend GV377,
with 2 0-1C scale. Responses
gre analysed using e werghted
calculatior 10 vield a score
between & low of 100 to
a high of 100.

(H) Vet vacancy rate

(%)

10.4%

+25.3%

2022 108
2021 83

2020 69

2019 1
208 1.3

Why [t's a KPI

The vet vacancy rate is
calculated as the average
number of live vet vacancies
divided by the total number

of vets by headcount plus
vacancies. This shows the
average level of vet vacencies
for the Group during the period.
This links to our strategic goal of
being the veterinary company
people most want to work for

2022 performance

» The vet vacancy rate has
increased in 2022, as we are
advertising for 8 number of
new positions to support our
growth due to increasing
damand for our services.

(I) Healthy Pat
Club members

+70,000

+h4 M%

2022 470,000
2021 450,000
2020 415,000

2019 401,000

2018 | 362,000

Why it's a KPI

Healthy Pet Club is our
praventative care scheme. It
provides CVS with a robust and
regular revenue stream, as well
as improving customer loyalty.

2022 performance

» The number of Healthy Pet
Clubs membsers has increased
by 4.4% in the year.

» This demonstrates the
ingreased humanisation of
pets and desira for our clients
to invest in their pets’ heaith
through preventative care.

(J) Number of
RCVS awards

154

-3.1%

2022 164
2021 159
2020 159
2019 1y

2018 ! 83

Why it's a KPI

This shows the number of RCVS

Practice Standards Scheme
(PS5) awards across the Group.
These awards promate and
mamtain the highest standards
of veterinary care across arange
of different criveria including
chent experience and clinical
governance. Monitering the
number of RCVS awards helps
us achieve our strategic

goal of taking our
responsibilities seriously.

2022 performance

» PSS accreditations and award
assessments stopped during
CCOVIDA8 lockdown periods.

= The Awards have recently
begun to be assessed again,
but to manage the pressure
that some practices are
under, we have not begun
actively promoting
re-assessment.

Of our 154 PSS Awards, 117
refate to client service,
highlighting our focus on
excaptional client service.

v

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 26 and 27
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(K) Employee NPS"*

4.8

+65.9%

2022 B
2021 2e
2020 0.7

Why it's a KPI

Employee Net Promoter Score
(eNPS} is a measure of how
likely our colleagues are 1o
recommend the Group as a
place tc work as reported on
anonymous surveys. Monitoring
aNPS shows the level of
colleague satisfaction across
the Group and helps us to
ensure we sre a great place

to work and have a carcer.

2022 performance

> We have seen significant
improvements in colleague
engagement; our focus on
colleague recruitment and
retenticn supports us in our
vision to be the veterinary
campany people most want
tc work for.

» We care about the wellbeing
of our colleaguas and
continue to look for ways to
support them in their roles,
such as implementing new
pastoral support roles in
practices, and utilising our
280 active Wellbeing

(L) Client NPS"2

71.9

-0.4%

20221 719
2021t 72.2
2020 78.5
Why it’s a KPI

Client Net Promatar Score (NPS)
iz a measure of the level of our
clients’ satisfaction with their
experiences with the Group via
anonymous reporting of the
likelihcod that clients would
recommend the Group for our
services. Monitoring NPS helps
us to ensure we recommend
and provide the best clinical
care every time.,

2022 performance

» Client engagement has
remained consistent with the
prior year, at very high levels.

> We have been pleased that
our practices were able to
re-open their reception areas
for much of the financial year,
and, more recently, invite
clients back into consultation
rooms.

» We hope that our focus on
high-quality clinical care and
investment In our practice
facilities will continue to meet
our clients’ demands for
exceptional care of their

Ghamplons across the treasured animal
business. 8-
1 2 3 & 1 3

Area of focus

A culture of learning from mistakes

Talking about and learning from mistakes, or near misses,
is an integral part of having a culture where patient safsty
is paramount. It is also essential to support the team
members involved, as we know that people can become
extremely distressed by these events, known as second
victim syndrome, and their mental health may suffer.

yodey aiBajong sy)

The meaning of a significant event in this context is any
unintended or unexpected event which could or did lead
to animal harm. The significant event analysis process
provides & framework to systematically identify all factors
that contributad to an event, so that improvements can
bea madse. While human error may play a role, there will
always be more factors involved.

The online significant event recording system, VetSafe, is
where practices can record and share these events. A
high number of VetSafe records is considered success,
as the team is more likely to be learning from these
events and putting measures in place to reduce the
chances of the event happening again, Centrally, trends
in reporting are identified and support can be provided in
the form of learning opportunities and guidance, as well
as taking on some of the things that are outside of the
practices power to change themselves.

Significant events recorded on VetSafe

2021-2022 o17
2020-2021 Sty
2019-2020 540
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Sustainability

Value creation

Recruiting ond
retalning more
axcellant elinical

colleagues
Providing
Creating higher quolity
o happier of animal
warkforca care

Oul' u 5 Roistng Industry

P I'P'D . C:ormn\-llollu stendards and

Qur purpose is to give the best F_’:'f‘;'“" ha_ supporting the
i i vatarinary
possible care to animals and Impot b

Driving Helping mors

n.!sla!nubla animals, who in
investor turn Improva
raturns

people’s lives

Meeting mackat
demand

Our efforts to build a more sustainable business will drive increased standards,
an improved working environment for our colleagues and improved returns for
our shareholders. This improvement feeds into a positive cycle of performance
in all aspects of our economic performance, sustainable practicas and
COrporate governance.

Qur vision

Our vision is to be the veterinary
company pecple most want to
work for

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022



Introduction

Our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) strategy
was intreduced i our 2021 Annual Report, setting out why
and how we care:

» We care about protecting the wellbeing of our colleagues,

and equipping them with the support, resources, training
and access to personal development opportunities that
they need.

> Wae care about driving standards of clinical excellence in
the profession and giving the best possible care to
animals.

» We care about making a positive impact in the
communities in which we work.

> We care sbout doing our job in a way that is sustainable
and that does not compromise the natural environment.

> We care about delivering value for our investors by doing
the right thing.

To support the delivery of this strategy, we have established
werking groups across CVS which have been assigned tc
maonitor, assess, understand and develop proposals to
manage our impact in the following areas:

» Energy and Carbon;

» \Waste;

> ‘One Health' (including antimicrobial resistance);
» Wellbeing:;

> People Development;

» Equity, Diversity and Inclusion; and

» Community.

Qur goal is to build a more sustainable business, driving
increased standards, a better working environment for our
colleagues and improved sharshclder retums.

Read our Sustainabllity
Report at cvsukitd.co.uk

CVS in 2022 at a glance
c.1.2m

Companion anlmals under our care
(2021 c11m)

£554%4.2m

Revenue
(20621 £5101m)

£107.%m

Adjusted EBITDA
(2021: £97.5m)

£1.2bn

Market capitalisation
1.656p per share at 30 June 2022
{2021: £1.7bn, 2,415p per share)

470,000

Members of the Healthy Pet Club,
our preventative healthcare scheme
(2021: 450,000)

L

Clinicians on our Executive Committaee,
including three veterinary surgeons, of which two

are specialists, and one qualified veterinary nurse,
comprising 50% of roles {Chief Operating Officer,
Chief Veterinary Officer, Cirector of Clinical QOperations
and Group Procurement Director)

7,913

Colleagues employed

(2021: 7.247). including 2,079 veterinary surgeons
(2021:1,962) and 2,839 nurses (2021: 2,548)

472

Veterinory surgeries
(2021: 498) throughout the UK, the Netherlands
and the Republic of Ireland
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Sustainability continued

Energy and carbon

Key objectives
1. Consumption managerment and user awareness.

2. A programme of targeted capital expenditure.

3. Enhancerment of existing construction, mainterance and
property |easing activities.

Progress In the year

As part of our adoption of Streamlined Energy and Carbon
Reporting (SECR), we have undertaken work to reduce our
Scope, 2 and 3 ermissions, as well as broadening the extent of
our reporting to include details of greenhouse gas emissicns
{including anaesthetics) which are not covered by SECR.

We have moved to a renewable energy supply, we are
supporting smarter heat and building management and we are
reducing electricity use in our day-to-day operations. In April
2022, we also added a range of ultra-ow emlssions vehicles
(ULEV) to our company car list.

Wa have conducted work to measure ¢limate risk within our
business in line with the recommendations set out by the Task
Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), and we
have early-adopted the TCFD's recommendations in this
Annual Report, on pages 38 to 44,

Outlook

We are launching new Group-wide initiatives to help inform
colleagues of our responsibilities to consume and conserve
energy in the most efficlent way possible.

We are working through an updated and detailed asset survey
of the Group's property portfolio in terms of infrestructure and
equipmant. An output of this process will be a reclassification
of our key investment priorities. Using this information, we
intend to develop an investment programme tc help improve
our consumption and monitering capabiiities.

We alsc plan to enhance our facilities management provision
during the year ahead and wili engage with suppliers which
specifically promote energy managsment and sustainability
BGross their service provision to us.

As part of our forward acquisition and lease renewal activity
we will actively promote green leases with our landlords.

34 | CVS Group pk Annual Report and Financial Stataments 2022

Waste

Key objectives

1. Segregating waste appropniately to recycle where possible,
reducing the amount of waste entering landfill and the
amount of hazardous waste incinerated.

2 Where possible, replacing single-use items with reusable
ones and using products made from more sustainable
sources.

3. Engaging with suppliers to understand their sustainability
policies, end endeavounng to source products from
companies with strong environmental credentials.

Progress in the year

Annual reporting of packaging purchased across our
warehouse and laboratories shows a 35% reduction in paper
use relative to the previous year (calendar year 2021, compared
to 2020).

In addition, we have introduced paperless systems in our
warehouse, such as our new stock management system.

Wae have slso collaborated with some of our key suppliers to
offer packaging return schemes and recycling schemes for
printer cartridges, batteries and, in our equine practices,
single-use equine inhaler devices.

Vet Direct, our vetarinary equipment supplier, has vastly
reduced its printing of catalogues, and is carbon balancing
the use of paper through the World Land Trust.

Outlook

We continue to work on initiatives to reduce waste across our
business, and we hope to recruit "Waste Champions™in all
areas of the business to support our colleagues in reducing
their waste.

We use Vealia’s Microsoft Power Bl platform to analyse waste
collection data and monitor waste bin utilisation across our
practices, helping us to increase recycling and reduce waste
collections. Using this data, we can identify areas for
mprovernent in our waste reduction processes.



One Health

Key objectives
1. Promoting the responsible use of antimicrobials within CVS
and beyond.

2. Investigating the future use of parasiticides at CvS.

3. Setting short-, mediurn- and long-term recommendations
on medications and prescriptions to help inform clinical
dacision-making in the future.

Progress In the year

The: Parasiticldes working group met in April 2022 for an initial
exploratory discussion which provided short-, medium-, and
long-term recommendations, as well as emphasising the
critical need for practical research in this area, to help inform
clinical decision-making in the future.

Since updating our antimicrobial resistance (AMR) policy in late
2021, there has been considerable progress in the reduction of
Highest Priority Criticafly important Antimicrobials (HPCIA)
prescriptions due to our intervention, Read more about HPCIA
prescriptions in our 2021 Quality Improvernent report and our
2022 Sustainability Report, which ara available on our website:
www.cvsukltd .co.uk,

Outloock

There is currently insufficient evidence available to make an
effective risk-benefit analysis of the ongoing prophylactic use
of parasiticides in companion animals. Therefore, a working
group has been formed to further develop clinical strategies
airmed at balancing the use of parasiticides in companion
animals with environmental concerns regarding such products
poliuting the environment and endangering insect life.

Future discussions and decision-making will include feedback
from clinicians in practice, 1o ensure their voices are heard and
a balanced approach is taken.

Woellbeing

Key objectives
1. Self: providing support and resources to enable individual
colleagues to kook after their own wellbeing

2. Leadership: supplying leaders with the relevant tools,
training, and role-modelling to enable them to support
the wellbeing of their teams.

3. Community: fostering wellbeing across our teams and
the CVS community - using our network of Weilbeing
Champions and team wellbeing activities and events.

Progress in the year

In July 2021, CVS inroduced a Wellbeing Calendar. In its first
year, it featured topics such as resilience, exercise, sleep,
stress, financial wellbeing, and crisis awareness.

The Wellbeing working group is already seeing good results
against its three key objectives.

>1,000

colleagues have accessed wellbeing resources
on the Knowladge Hub

374

leaders have been trained in supporting the
waellbelng of their team

>350

colleagues have baen trained in First Aid
for Mental Health

Outlook

In 2023, a new regular wellbeing measure will be introduced.
This will be survay-based, asking colleagues how their work
affects their wellbeing.

In July 2022, we introduced the second year of our Wellbeing
Calendar, including topics such as mindful self-care,
community outreach, hobbies and being active.

We are {aunching a new online training module for leaders on
psychological safety - this Is, we believe, the first
psychological safety training course that is bespoke to
veterinary context.
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Sustainability continued

People Development

Key objectives

1. Developing our people to flourish in their current roles,
including ¢areer pathway development and preparing thern
for future reles.

2. Building and strengthening relationships with major partner
stakeholders to enhance our pipefine for future recruitment
and help raise the standard of new colleagues who join CVS
cr the wider profession.

3. Supporting and engaging with broader society with
initiatives including community outreach, school
engagement and client education.

Pragress In the year

Between 2017 and 2022 we have funded our apprenticeship
training through the apprenticeship levy, to the value of £4.4m
to date, and committed to continue to fund and support these
apprentices, We have over 400 currently active learners and
pver 800 colleagues have started an apprenticeship since
2017

Many of our colleagues have enjoyed implementing and taking
part in wider ipitiatives, such as our “MiniCVS” Workshops
initiative, which sees our colleagues visit local schools to help
get children excited about science and animai care.

Outlook
The People Development warking group is prioritising:
» delivering industry-leading training;

» offering the best learning, education and development In
the profession;

» having the best leaders in our business; and

» engaging with the veterinary profession and broader society.
and supporting its interests.

fi.bm
value of the apprenticeship levy

>L00

active letrner apprentices
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Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI)

Key objectives

1. For CVS to be the veterinary cormpany people most want to
work for, regardless of who they are, how they identify, or their
bhackground.

2. Establishing a ten-year plan to ensure the Group continues
to move in the right direction towards a culture of
inclusion fluency

3. Developing awareness and understanding of inclusivity with
all leaders and celleagues.

Progress In the year

we've launched an EDI educational platform within the Knowledge
Hub. It houses plenty of resources to support us all with our
continued learning and awareness around equity and inclusivity.

We've also revised our monthly colleague survey to help us
gather mara useful insights into how we'e doing: quarterly, the
survay will ask about inclusion.

In May 2022, the Board took the decision to increase the base
salary of our minimum wage roles to 3.0% above the Naticnal
Minimum Wage/National Living Wage.

We have increased the range of pronouns listed in Robovet to
provide clients with more options when registering with us, and
implemented somes changes within HR processes around
gender inclusivity, as well as ancouraging the free use of gender
pronouns.

In June 2022. CVS celebrated Pride Month.

Outlook
Through 2022 and inte 2023, our focus is on buiding
foundatonal understanding across the organisation around EDI.

We are preparing updated company policies on; EDI; Bullying,
Harassment and Incivility; and Menopause.

Cur Ability and Neurodiversity group is engaging with our
recruitment team to look at how we talk about disability and
reasonabie adjustments during the process to make it
accessible for everyone.

Our Ethnicity group is building an inclusive behaviours
framework and supportive training, and wants tc ensure all
colleagues feel confident to report any prejudice or
discrimination expenenced.

Our Social Mobility group is working towards increasing the
socio-economic diversity of qualified veterinary surgeons
and nurses in CVS and the wider profession.



Community

Key objectives
1. Working with charities.

2. Giving our time.
3. Sharing our expertise.

Progress In the yeor

Irs February 2022, we launched our “"MiniCVS” workshops
initiative, which sees our colleagues visit local schools to help
get children excited about science and animal care. Our
colleagues cater their workshops to different ages, from
role-play and pet first aid for younger children, through to
careers advice for older students

We encourage our teams to fundraise for our annual charvity of
the year, which is chosen by our colleagues tc maximise
engagement. In lanuary 2022, a £10.000 donation was made
to our charity of the year, British Divers Marine Life Rescue. CVS
also makes an annual denation to Vetlife, matching the amount
raised for the colleagues’ chosen charity of the year.

We have connected with a charitable organisation, the Links
Group, which explores the links between animal abuse and
domestic violence.

Outlook

In the year ahead, our Community working group will develop
and start to deliver a CVS Community Strategy in order to
bring additional rigour and resource to our community
activities.

In 2022, our charity of the year is the Pet Blood Bank.

"UK SAYS NO MORE" is 8 campaign working to take a stand
against domestic abuse and sexual violence by challenging
the myths and misconceptions around these issues and
sharing infermation. It is working with various pharmacies,
shops and banks across the UK to provide Safe Spacesin its
consultaticn rooms for pecple experiencing domestic abuse.
We are locking at ways we can offer a similar support network
in our practices through our project with the Links Group.

“The care we have for our
colleagues, our clients and their
animals is ingrained within our
very DNA. Qur purpose is to
give the best possible care to
animals, and our vision is to be
the veterinary company people
most want to work for. This
purpose and vision guide us in
everything we do and help us
not only to have a positive
impact on our teams, our
patients, our customers, and
our other stakeholders, but also
to make a bigger contribution
to wider society.”

Richard Falrman
Chlef Executive Officer

Read more in our 2022 Sustainabllity
Report, published on our website
www.cvsuklitd.co.uk/investor-centre/
sustainability/
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Sustainability continued

Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement

Caring for animals goes hand-In-hand with caring for the natural environment, so climate-related risks and opportunities are
a key factor of consideration in the short-, medium- and long-term strategic planning of the Group. Qur aim is to minimise
our impact on the planat in a way that supports and develops our services and clinical expertise.

This year, we have focused on developing an understanding of our impact on the environment, using the Task Force on
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures {TCFD) recommendations to guide our approach. We understand that there is further
work to be done to manage our impact on the environment, which is why we have chosen to adopt the TCFD
recommendations, which include:

» scenario analysis which includes a global warming scenario as well as a Net Zero scenario;

» setting targets for short-, medium- and long-term actions 1o lessen harmful environmental impacts of our business
and increase environmentally friendly activities; and

> reviewing and improving our processes around monitoring our envircnmental impact and managing climate-related risks.
To ensure open communication with stakeholders on progress, we have chasen to early-adapt the disclosure recommendations
of the TCFD in this Annual Report. In the table below, wa have set out our progress against the eleven recommended disclosures.

Governance and management

Disclosure

requirement Qur progress Find out more

Describe the The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring risk is appropriately managed 2022

Board's oversight across the Group, inciuding risks relating to Envirenmental, Social and Sustainability

of climate-related Governance (ESG) matters and climate change. Report available

SSKSOE:?SMUES In 2021, the Group formed an ESG implementation Group, chaired by the wegg{ténv‘:ewsfr

PP Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), to assist the Board in identifying the risks and cveukitd.co ué y

oppartunities arising as a result of sustainability matters, including climate investor—Aceﬁrre/
change. Addressing the climate challenge is a key part of our wider
ESG strategy. 2022 Annual
Sustainability and ESG, including climate-related issues, are discussed as a :i:m dPnncupa!
standing agenda item in Board meetings, with the CEO presenting the activities Uncertainties on
of the ESG Implementation Group. In 2022 there were 15 Board meetings. pages 60 to 68
Tha Board has appeinted third-party ESG advisors which have helped the 2022 Annual
Group to assess its risks and develop our sustainability and ESG strategy. Within Report:
CVS, working groups have been formed to monitor, assess and understand cur Rer‘r’:meraticn
impact on areas including energy, carbon and waste. Committee report
Although the Scard has overall responsibility for assessing and considering on pages 83to 83

climate-related issues, the day-to-day monitoring of such issues is delegated to
the relevant working groups which are chaired by members of senior management.

The Group has increased the volume and regularity of its climate-related
reporting in the past year, including earty-adoption of TCFD reparting within the
2022 Annual Report, and the publication of our first standalone Sustainability
Report, titied “Care at our Heart”, which includes data under the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board (SASB) standards. The Group has made significant
sfforts to ensure this reporting is fair, balanced and understandable, for
example by adapting metrics and, where necessary, providing supporting
discussion to explain sources of data or calculation methods.

As an AlM-guoted group. CVS is not required to report under the TCFD
recommendations this year, however, we have produced this report in order
to promote open communication of our risks, opportunities, strategies and
initiatives relating to climate issues, as well as encouraging the Board to remain
accountable to the Group's stakeholders by introducing disclosures against
which progress can be reported in future.

38 | CVS Group ple Annual Repart and Financial Statements 2022




Disclosure

requirement Qur progress Find out more
Describe FSGis a standing agenda item at Board meetings. The Group intends to 2022
Management's role | introduce further ESG targaets and KPis, including climate-related targets, Sustalnablility
in assessing/ against which progress can be reported to the Board to ensure consistent and Report available
managing chmate- | comparable information is available to support decision-making. on our Investor
related risks and . . . ) . Website www,
opportunities The Board has ultimate authority far setting climate-related goals and targets; csukltd.co.uk/

however, the ESG Implementation Group, established in 2021 and chaired by
the CEO, has assisted in the identification of climate-related risks and
opportunities and helped to set climate-related targets across the Group.

Advice is also taken from the ESG working groups across the business. These
groups are led by senior management, and are already making good progress,
having developed their own terms of reference and set work in motion to
ensure that we are doing the right thing, and to challenge us to go further. For
example, the Waste working group, established in 2021, has developed key
objectives to segregate waste appropriately for effective recycling, to replace
single-use items with reusable items where possible and to engage with
suppliers around their sustainability policies.

The Beard feels that the business is prepared for potential short-term climate-
related issues which are discussed later in this report, due to the strength of its
integrated modei.

Investor-centre/

Business model and strategy

Disclosure
requirament

Qur progress

Find out more

Describe the
climate-related
risks and
opportunities
identified in the
short, medium
and long term

The Group's continued long-term success depends on the socia! and
environmental sustainability of its operations. There is 2 risk that potential
climate-related issues can have an adverse effect on financial or operational
performance, including our ability to fulfil operational activities, disruption of
supply chain, cost of production, and demand for services.

The Group's strategy, long-term sustainability and growth potential alsc rely on
how the Group assesses risks and opportunities and takas action to reduce the
snvironmental impact of operations. Below we have detailed some of the key
climate-related risks and opportunities we have identified.

As an AIM-quoted business, risks and opportunities which will impact our financial
performance are considered financially raterial as these are likely to impact the
decision-making of our investors and potential investors, particularly our financial
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) as disclosed on pages 28 and 29 of this Annual
Report. Therefore, the Board considers that those risks that are likely to impact
these metrics the most significantly are the most financially material to the Group.

The Group has performed a scenario analysis, which Is discussed in more detail
on page N, from which the following climate-related risks and opportunities
have been identified. This is not an exhaustive list and 1s not in a particutar arder.

Risks:

> Disruptions to supply chain caused by the physical effects of climate change,
increased costs of transportation, regulatory changes and other factors. This
could result in disruptions to the Group’s revenue-generating activities,
including the zbility to administer drugs, alongside increasing costs and
decreasing margins. This is the risk most likely to be financially material to the
Group in the short-to-medium term.

» Increased likelihood and severity of extreme weather events can cause damage
to property and disruption to our colleagues’ ability to provide high-quality
clinical care, and can prevent clients from being able to visit our practices.

2022 Annual
Report: Financial
KPIs on pages 28
and 29
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Sustainabillity continued

Business model and strategy continued

Disclosure

requirement Our progress Find out more
Describe the Opportunltles: 2022 Quality
climate-related » There may be increased opportunities for the Group to provide high-quality Improvement
risks and clinical services as a result of animal injuries and ilinesses resulting from report published
opportunities clmate change, such as extreme westher events. on our website
identified in the www.cvsukitd.co.

short, medium
and long term
continued

> It is likely there will be increased appetite for veterinary innovation and
development of technological advancements, to treat new diseases and
find ways of working and supporting pet owners in a changing physical
environmeant. Qur clinicians are passionate about innovation and Quality
Improvement, evidenced by CvS being the only veterinary corporate to
publish an annual Quality Improverment report.

> As innovative utilities technologles are developed, such as technologies for
off-grid energy generation and water harvesting and recycling, these can be
implemented by the Group to reduce overhead costs and reliance on grid
stablility, Likewise, increased availability of cloud-based IT systems reduces
the space and electricity required to maintain servers in our own facilities.

» Reduction in travel, both international and local, could result in an increase in
the pet population similar o that seen during the COVID-19 pandemic, which
provides CVS with further opportunities to pravide excsllent clinical care.

In order o assess the impact of climate-related issues, including the risks and
opportunities identified above, the Group has conducted a risks and opportunities
assessment as part of our regular risk assessment process. The ESG
implernentation Group has assisted in the identfication of climate-related nsks
and opportunities and is helping to set climate-related targets across the Group.

uk/cvs-release-
fourth-annual-
quality-
improverment-
report/

2022 Annuai
Report: Principal
Risks and
Uncertainties on
pages 60 to 68

Describe tha
impact of climate-
related risks and
opportunities on
the Group's
businesses,
strategy and
financial planning

The Group introduced its ESG strategy, “Care at our Heart”, in the 2021 Annual
Report. This strategy is based on a set of foundations articulating why and how we
care. These foundations are included within the Sustainability pages of the 2022
Annual Repoert. To support the delivery of this strategy, our working groups in
Energy and Carbon, Waste, One Health, Wellbeing, People Developrment, ED| ard
Community monitor and assess our impact in these areas. Each group has its own
terms of reference and targets, within which climate-related challenges can be
identified and managed.

Impacts of low-carbon transition could include transitions to electric vehicles and
use of electricity generated from renewable sources. Such measures have been
considered in the Group’s risk and opportunities assessment.

In preparing the 2022 Annual Report, the Group has, where possible, considered
the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the Group's businesses,
strategy and financial planning. At the present time, no changes were made to the
Group's accounting policies, estimates or judgements. In line with developments in
climate change, the related reporting thereof and the climate-related initiatives we
have put in place, we expact these disclosures to evolve in future years.

2022 Annual
Report:
Sustainability on
pages 32 to 44

2022 Annual
Report: Financial
Statements
Accounting
Policies on pages
15t 123
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Disclosure
requiremsent

Qur progress

Find out more

Describe the
resilience of the
Group’s strategy,
taking into
consideration
different climate-
related scenarios,
including a 2°C or
lower scenario

A scenario analysis has been performed, taking into account a “2°C global
warming” scenario and a "net zero emissions achieved by 2050" scenario.
These were identified as key scenarios as they challenge the resilience of the
business to both impacts from climate change and impacts from policy change.

In conducting the scenario analysis, we have considered the potential risks
and opportunities and their impact on:

» financial metrics, including revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities; and
» stakeholders, iIncluding colleagues, customers, suppliers, investors and our patients.

A scenario In which a 2°C global warming is experienced could rasult In risks
and opportunities including, but not limited to, the following.

» Rising sea levels in the Group's existing gecgraphical markets, which could
decrease customer base and market size, potentially reducing the Group's
market size and increasing competition, but likely favouring the Group's
city-centre practices.

» [ncreased rates of disease and decreased longevity in all animals, which
could provide opportunities for the Group to provide excellent clinical care
and increase job satisfaction for clinical colleagues. Conversely, this could
reduce the market size if the companion animal population decreases.

» An environment which is less safe for animals, particularly companion animals
and livestock, due to high temperatures and reduced availability of food and
drinking water. This could have simifar impacts to the above.

A scenario in which net zero emissions can be achieved by 2050 in the Group's
existing geographical markets could result in risks and opportunities including,
but neot limited to, the following.

» Stricter regulations relating tc the use of fossil fuels, may increase costs and
reduce availability of grid energy, and increase the use of electric vehicles which
may prompt customers to choose veterinary practices in different lecations (e.g.
closer to their homes ar In retail parks which have electric vehicle chargers).

» A reduction in international travel, which could increase the population of
companion animals, as owners have more time and money to spend at home.
Tha Group can offer this increased population high-quality preventative and
reactive veterinary care.

v

increased costs of energy, veterinary medicine and consumables, as 3 result of
increased regulatory recuirements, for example regarding the use of chemicals
in pharmaceutical products. This could lead to disruptions to the Group's ability
to prowide clinical care; however, the Group's size and integrated veterinary
platform positions it well to remain resilient 1o price rises.

The Group's strategy for growth includes organic growth through capital
investrment in existing and new facilities, and inorganic growth through
synergistic acquisitions. This strategy enables the Group to be flexible in
deciding where to deploy capital, therefore climate-related issues such as mass
migration as a result of rising sea levels, can be adapted into our strategy, for
example by chogsing alternative sites in which {o invest.

The Group has plans to implement a Net Zero target. We are considering the
rmost appropriate target for the Group and its stakeholders and intend to
communicate this in future reports.

2022 Annual
Repaort: Principal
Risks and
Uncertainties on
pages 60 to 68

2022 Annual
Report: Market
overview on pages
4to17
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Sustainability continued

Risk management

Disclosure
requlremeant Our progress Find cut more
Describe the In order to assess the impact of climate-related issues. including the risks and 2022 Annual
Group's processes | opportunities identified above, the Group has conducted a risks and Report: Principal
for identifying and | opportunities assessment &s part of our regular risk assessment process. Risks and
i tmate- . ) . ] inti

?eslsaizz Tgkcsl mate The ESG implementation group, established in 2021, has assisted in the U;\cz;tggttlc?ssgn

identification of climate-related risks and opporiunities and helped to set pag

climate-related targets across the Group.
Describe the The Board regularly undertakes assessments of the emerging and principal 2022 Annual
Group's process risks facing the Group, including climate-related risks and climate-related Raport;: Principal
for managing impacts on other risks. The ESG Implementation Group and members of senior | Risks and
climate-related managerment menitor these risks on a day-to-day basis, reporting changes 1o Uncertainties on
risks the Board where necessary. pages 60t 68

The Group has identified a range of climate-related risks, both transitional andg 2022 Annual

physical. These have been described in detail in the preceding pages. The key Report: Directors’

impacts of climate-related nisks are considered to be financial and operational. Report on pages

Physical climate-related risks to the Group include cperational disruption to 9410100

colleagues and clients caused by extrarne weather events, and operational

and financial effects of disruptions to supply chains resulting from such events.

Transitiona! climate-related risks to the Group include increased prices for

consumables, medicines and other items due to supply chains transitioning

away from fossil fuels, e.g. to electric vehicles, and a reduction in air frelght.

The Group’s sk management process considers short-term operational risks

as well as risks that may threaten the delivery of the Group's long-term strategic

business model.

The Directors have assessed the prospects of the Group in line with the "Going

concern” provision for a period of five years, as disclosed in the Directors’

Report on pages 95 and 96 of the 2022 Annual Report, and have concluded

the business is viable and will remain viable up to at least 30 June 2027.

Sustainability and climate change are key considerations of the Group, and the

potentisl impacts have therefore been built into the Group's going concern and

viability assessment.

This assessment is reconsidered on at least an annual basis, and any significant

signals that climate-related issues are likely to have an impact on this

assessment would be identified by the warking groups responsible for

monitoring and assessing matters relating to sustainability and ESG. These

working groups feed back to the ESG implementaticn Group, which provides a

report to the Board as a standing agenda iterm.
Describe how The Group's overall risk management approach is described in the Principal 2022 Annual
processes for Risks and Uncertainties report on pages 80 to 68. One of the principal rigks Raeport: Principal
identifying, identified by the Baard Is Sustainability and climate change. Risks and

assessing and
managing climate-
related risks are
integrated into the
Group's overall risk
management

The impact and probability of this risk is reviewed on at least a bi-annuat basis,
including review of the mitigating facters in place. and any changes since the
last review.

The Group has also developed a framework for assessing climate-related risks
using a scenario analysis, which is described on page 41.

Uncertainties on
pages 60 to 68
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Maetrics and targets

Disclosure

requirement Our progress Find out morg
Discuss the The Group has a standalone ESG strategy, “Gare at Our Heart”, whichunderpins | 2022

metrics used by the Group's cverall strategy and business model. Sustainability
the Group to Report available

assess ¢limate-
related risks and
opportunities in
lirer with its
strategy and risk
management
process

To suppart the delivery of this strategy, our working groups in energy

and carbon, waste, One Heglth, people development, wellbeing, ED! and
cemmunity monitor and assess our impact in these areas. Each group has its
own terms of reference and targets, within which climate-related chailenges
can be identified and managed.

In addition, in 2022 we released our first standalone Sustainability Report in
which we produced a full disclosure rapart under the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board (SASB) standards. This reporting frammework was selected to
provide refiable data on financially material sustainability factors which is
comparable and consistent, thereby assisting investors to make better
investment and voting decisions.

SASB standards are industry specific, and under the current classification
systern used by SASB, thare is no single industry frarmework that would be fully
aligned with the indicators relevant 1o a veterinary business.

To maximise the transparency and suitability of our reporting, we decided to
report against two industry-specific sets of standards within SASB: “Health Care
Delivery”, and “Multitine and Speciality Retailers & Distributors™. In some cases
the metrics within the SASB standards were adapted to suit the Group's
business and markets. We were advised and supported in the selection of the
SASB framewaork, and the reporting of this data, by an external expert which
also advised in the creation of our Care at Our Heart strategy.

This is the first year in which we have reported against SASE standards and we
intend to continue doing sc going forward. This will involve improving our data
collection processes 10 provide our stakeholders with a full picture of our
performance, and aligning the reporting period of various disclosed metrics to
the extent possible, We have calculated the data on a basis which can be
consistently applied in future years for maximum comparability.

As this is the first time we have reported against SASB standards, some of the
data we have disclosed relates only to certain areas of the business, in
particular our Veterinary Practices division which is our largest operating
division, and to differing periods.

in all cases, we have disclosed the scope and boundary of the infermation
presented within our SASB repert. We have made efforts to align the reporting
period of the data to cur financial year where this is possible, and going forwards
we intend to ensure all data /s aligned to this pertiod, and to extend the scope of
the data to cover the entire Group wherever relevant.

Metrics regarding water, energy and land use and waste managerent are
included in the SASB standards; we have provided data to the fullest extent
possible within our 2022 Sustainability Report.

In most cases, the data required to report against SASB metrics is available
internally. This is with the exception of some energy and carbon data, for which
we use an external energy consultancy which also supports us in the delivery of
our Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting {SECR) in our Annual Report.

L

Qn our Investor
Website www.
cvsukltd.co.uk/
investor-centre/

2022 Annual
Report:
Streamlined
Energy and Carbon
Reporting on
pages 99 to 100
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Sustainability continued

Metrics and targets continued

Disclosure

requirement Our progress Find out more
Discuss the The Board are aware that the Group has runway to imprave in a range of 2022

metrics used by sustainability and climate-related metrics. One of the key intentions when Sustainability
the Group to publishing the Sustainability Report and SASB data is to ansure accountability Report available
assess climate across the Group in delivering improvements ta these metricsg. The creation of on our investor
related risks and our ESG working groups helps to disaggregate responsibility for delivering Wabsite www.
opportunities in progress in the Group’s sustainability and readiness for climate-related risks cvsukitd.co.uk/

line with jts
strategy and risk
management
process continued

and opportunities,

The Group reponts atternative climate-related metrics within the SASB section
of our 2022 Sustainability Repart, however there are not currently specific
timelines for improvement of these metrics.

investor-centre/

Disclose Scope 1,
Scope 2, and if
appropriate, Scoepe
3 greenhouse gas
(GHG} emissions,
and the related
risks

The Group’s Scope 1. Scope 2 and Scope 3 emissions and the methodology for
calculating these are disclosed in the SECR report within our 2022 Annual Report.

The SECR iays out the total emissions, as well as the methodology applied. An
internal carbon price is calculated to normalise year-on-year data, by calculating
the emissions in tonnes of CO, per £m of revenue. This allows for more
effective year-on-year comparison.

2022 Annual
Report:
Streamlined
Energy and Carbon
Reporting on
pages 99 1o 100

Describe the
targets used by the
Group to manage
climate-related
risks and
opportunities and
performance
ageinst targets

The Group has initiatives in place to reduce its impact on the environment,
which are disclosed in our 2022 Sustainability Report. Our purpase is to give
the best possible care to animals and. to be able to deliver this purpose, the
Group rmust be able to continue in operation despite climate-related risks.
Therefore, the Board is overseeing the implementation of specific targets
relating to climate resilience.

We have set sustainability-related targets in bonuses for Directors and other
Sanior Management, for the financiat year to 30 June 2023, as a stratagy to
incentivise the achievernent of climate-related targets. These are set out In our
Remuneration Committee Report on page 93.

2022
Sustainabliity
Report available
on our fnvestor
Website www,
cvsukitd.co.uk/
investor-centre/

2022 Annual
Report:
Remuneration
Committee Report
on pages 8310 93
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Operational review

Outstanding people,
delivering outstanding care
to our patients and clients

Ben Jacklin
Chisf Operating Officer

The year delivered much to be proud of in CVS, despite the
lingering challenges of a global pandamic. COVID-19
infection rates have been an ongoing challenge for both
our colleagues and our clients, but our teams continue

to demonstrate their unending passion and dedication to
achieving our purpose of giving the best possible care to
animals. | would like to take this opportunity to thark them
once again for everything they do for our patients and
each other.

We continue our relentiess pursuit of our purpose through
our clear vision to be the veterinary company people moest
want to work for, Beneath our purpose and vision are our
four strategic pillars:

> we recommend and pravide the best clinical care
every time;

> we are a great place to work and have a career;
» we provide great facilities and equipment; and
» we take our respensibilities seriously.

As we have done for a number of years, we have placed
significant focus on attracting great clinical talent and
providing them with great places to work and have a career,
Much of our success has come from the culture we have
fostered, putting clinical care at the forefront of what we do.
This has meant alignment of all our operational practices to
this goal, from KPis and incentive schemes, to the investments
we continue to make in the very best clinical equipment. Cur
national network of hub clinical leads, who are experienced
and inspirational vets, are cors to this. They support our
companion animal practices across the business by
teaching advanced diagnostics and techniques, and by
mentoring vets who are developing interests in specific
disciplines. This makes best use of expertise by spreading
that knowledige across our practices, improving the quality
of care we can offer, then supporting teams to deliver this
care to their patients. Furthermore, we have added pastoral
support rales for recently graduated veterinary clinicians
across our practices. This provides new vets with experienced
colleagues to support and gude them through their first
years in practice and ensure they have a great expetience.
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Operational review continued

“Having clearly set out our stall
of providing the best possible
care to animals, we have
continued to attract and retain
the very best clinical talent,
which has had huge benefits
for our patients and clients.”

One KPI| we introduced in 2021 was employee Net Promoter
Score, and  arm dalighted we have seen yet further improvements
in this measure during the year. By having live monthly
feedback from colieagues, we are able to ensure we are
making the right decistons for them, and creating a workplace
that is the envy of the vetarinary profession. We also reduced
attrition rates of ¢linical colleagues during the year, further
to the significant improvements we made in this measure
when we facilitated changes to the culture of our Group.

Our guality improvement team is equally important to this
culture, providing dara-driven feedback to all our clinicians
on where we can make improvements and reduce errors.
By leading national and international projects, the quality
improvement team makes a big difference to the patients
they serve and Uitimately the profession as 2 whole.

QOur Advanced Clinical Services Network (ACSN) has
continued to grow, supporting our colleagues in primary
care practices. Qur ACSN clinicians hold advanced
qualifications in specific disciplines and, by being available
across a region of our practices, they make advanced
treatmeants available to clients and patients that would
otherwise necessitate referral elsewhere. The goal of our
ACSN Is to be an accessible service to all CVS colleagues in
the UK, offering a unigue clinical career pathway for vets and
nurses and being advocates of excellent patient care, whilst
contributing to the development of general practice,
laboratory and specialist services. The number of ACSN
clinicians grew 1o ten during the year, and revenues grew
by 22.9%

We have further developed our vet-to-vet telemedicine
service, Vet Oracle™, and we now have five specialisms
within this business, offering specialist interpretation of
results and practical virtual assistance. This not only has the
benefit of creating new direct revenue streams but, more
importantly, spreads our expertise across a much wider
network, improving the ¢are offered and given to our
patients. This includes installations of advanced imaging
equipment, such as CT scanning, in practices which would
otherwise not have the expertise to interpret the results.

In 2022, Vet Oracle™ considered 13,000 cases for

CVS and non-CVS vets, a growth of 54% vear-on-year,
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Did you know?

One of our nursing assistants in the Northern
region, Julie Beckett, is our Signvidec ambassador,
supporting the Group in its projact to improve
accessibility to our veterinary practices for deaf
and hearing-impaired customers. In July 2022,
Julie attended the Deaf Rally, teaching children
about veterinary medicine whilst also expanding
their British Sign Language vocabulary.

At the Deaf Rally, Juiie had a table at which she
answered questions about the Healthy Pet Club
scheme and how Signvideo enables clear
communication on visits to the vet. She also
gave a stage presentation in which she
discussed the range of services CVS offers,
again explaining how Signvideo can support
hearing impaired customers.

Julie also hosted a range of children’s activities,
supporting them tc enhance their British Sign
Language vocabulary, whilst teaching them a
iittle about veterinary medicine. The feedback
from the event was excellent.



We are equally focused on all the other aspects of being a
colleague at CVS that can help us achieve our vision of
being the vetetinary company people most want to work
for. One significant step this year has been to increase the
rate of pay for all our colleagues on the National Living
Wage/National Minimum Wage, to 3.0% above the
standard set by the government both now and in the
future. Many of those colleagues are critical to our
success and often lead the first and most regular
interactions our clients have with their veterinary practice.
Ensuring we took the appropriate steps to support these
colleagues as costs of living rose was the right way to
deliver on our vision,

Looking after the wellbeing of our colieagues is a crucial
part of what we do at CVS, and our 280 active Wellbeing
Champions continue to do excellent work across the
business. These Champions ensure our colleagues are
informed of the various resources available to them,
including our Employee Assistance Programme and our
Wellbeing Zone on the Knowledge Hub, onto which over
1,000 colleagues enrolled in its first year. During the year,
COVID-19 isclations impacted a significant number of our
veterinary practices, as we made every effort to ensure
the safety and wellbeing of our colleagues across the
Group. We retained some social distancing, PPE and
ather restrictions as we continued to follow government
guidance and the guidance of our most senior clinicians.

Ensuring our nurses have great places to work and
rewarding careers remains a key aim, led by our Chief
Veterinary Nursing Officer. We continue to improve the
number of procedures undertaken by nurses in our
practices. We 3lso continue to see nurses leading our
business in a variety of areas, including a number of
qualfied veterinary nurses across our senior leadership
group and Executive Committee.

Despite the challenges that remain in the recruitment of
both vets and nurses, | am delighted that we increased
the average number of vets employed in the Group by
6.0% during the year, and the numbaer of nurses by 11.4%.
We continue to drive forward recruitmeant across the UK,
Europe and further afield, but most encouraging has
been the number of vets and nurses joining us on the
back of a referral from an existing colleague. We saw 362
colleagues join via a referral from an existing colleague
during the year, up 91.5% from the prior year.

Ancther major area of focus is attracting the very best
new graduate vets, and following the hugely popular
inaugural "CVS Summer Camp” in 2021 we have repeated
and enhanced the event this summer. This gives recent
graduates the very best start in their careers, allows us to
share all the benefits of the wider CVS from the start of
their time with us, and gives us and them the best chance
of a long and rewarding career with CVS. Read more
about our summer camps on page 59.

Did you know?

During the year, we completed 23 refurbishments and
relocations. This work is critical to our strategy of ensuring
the clinicians have the right environment to do the
best work for animals. We have invested in our property
team to ensure we can deliver on our objectives of
refurbishing or relocating around half of cur companion
animal sites over the next few years. The refurbishments
and relocations are very much undertaken with ESG in
mind, installing energy saving equipment, and other
measures such as car chargers and alternative sources
of energy.

Despite being unable to make acquisitions during much of
the financial year due to the Competition and Markets Authority
(CMA) investigation into our acquisition of Quality Pet Care Ltd
in August 2021, we compieted three acquisitions, comprising
four practice sites, during Q4. We continue 1o see significant
opportunity for acquisitions in the UK, with the majority of
potential targets unaffected by the CMA's determination on
Quality Pet Care Ltd. To that end, | am delighted we have
acquired a further three practice sites since the year end.

In our 2021 Annual Report we introduced our ESG strategy,
“Care at our Heart”, which underpins our strategic pillars and
gives meaning to all that we do, as we aim not only to have a
positive impact on cur teams, our patients, our customers
and our other stakeholders, but alsc to maks a bigger
contribution to wider society. Many of our initiatives across
our operations in 2022 have been driven by this intention.
Read more about our ESG strategy. including key actions
frorm our new ESG working groups, ¢n pages 32 to 44.
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Operational review continued

Veterinary Practices division

Delivering clinical excellence
in an expanding market

Veterinary Practices revenue share*

85.5%

£43902.1m

revenue

8.5%

revenue growth

470,000

HPC customers

* Revenue share before intercompany sales between pracuces
and other divisions.
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Our Veterinary Practices division comprises our companion
animal, referrals, farm animal and equine veterinary practices,
as well as our buying groups, veterinary wholesaler “Vet
Direct”, and MiPet Insurance. The division has again
performed well during the financial year, against a comparator
which included favourable tailwinds from a post-pandemic
backlog of non-essential procedures. Like-for-like sales
growth in the division was 7.6%, centributing to total revenue
growth of 8.5%. This iike-for-like growth was also hampered
during the final guarter of the financial year where we
experienced a significant increase in COVID-18 isolations of
our colleagues, which impacted revenuas. We made three
acquisitions during the financial year, adding four practice
sites to the Group. A further three practice sites have been
acquired since the year end, and we are pleased to welcome
these colleagues to the Group, As we continue our focus on
delivering the best client service across our businass and
being the veterinary company people most want to work for,
we continue to review our facilities and have closed a
number of small branch sites in the year to consclidate the
work to our larger practice sites.

Companion Animal

Qur Companicn Animel divislon forms the majority of our
Veterinary Practices division. The focus of our Companion
Animal division on delivering the very best care continues to
fare well in a market that has grown since the pandemic, and
where the humanisation of pets continues apace.

Qur Patient Care Index (PCI) is a measure of the quality of
care wea give to patients in our Companicn Animal first-
opinion practices. High PCl is associated with high-quality
clinical diagnostics and the targeted treatment that follows,
as opposed to more symplormatic treatments. We have seen
improvements in PCl across our practices as we work towards
our purpose to give the best possible care to animals, This
focus has enabled us to deliver revanue growth of 10.3% in
our Companion Animal division.



Referrals

Qur Referrals division has grown strongly in recent years. We
have continued to invest in our nursing and administration
teams within this division, which are essential to support
such strong growth. We also continue to expand our
network of advanced peripatetic practitioners, who provide
advanced clinical services to our first-opinion practices
entering new disciplines and geographical locations.

The range of clinical disciplines we offer in aur hospitals has
expanded, and we are developing opportunities to open
new sites. There has been an increase In investment in
highest-quality medical equipment and facilities, such as
MRI scanners and our cutting-edge Bristol Referral Hospital
which is planned to open in 2023

Equine

Our Equine division has 19 equine locations across the UK.
The division has performed well in the financial year; this has
partly resulted from growth in client numbers through our
focus on attracting new clients, and the introduction of

a new greenfield practice in the South of England.

Farm Animal

Our Farm Aniral division consists of 14 farm animal
locations and a large specialist poultry veterinary business,
Slate Rall. During the year we have increased fee revenue in
particular, with drug revenue impacted by conscious
movement away from antibiotic usage wherever possible.

We have been able to secure our medication supply through
one of our Group companies, Pharmsure, which is a
specialist wholesale and distribution company supplying
veterinary medicines for the pig and poultry industries. This
has helped aur farm practices to achieve improved margins,
secure prices, and be more confident in medication supply.

International

Cur International division comptises 27 practices In the
Netherlands and four practices in the Republic of Irelend.
These include companicn animal, equine and farm practices.

Internationally, we have increased investment inte our highly
valued nurses, to mitigate challenges in vet recruitment and
help us to attract and retain colleagues. This includes
benchmarking of salaries and increased investrment in

our colleagues’ wellbeing.

Head Office

Central administration costs inckide those of the
central finance, IT, human resources, purchasing,
legal and property functions, Total costs were
£168.6m (2021: £15.7m), representing 3.0% of
revenue (2021: 3.1%). The increased spend
primarily relates to salary costs for new roles to
support the continued growth of the Group and
delivery of our strategy; for exarngple, by investing
in our human resources team, we are able to
jmplement more initiatives to help reduce clinical
role attrition.

As a percentage of revenue, the spend on support
functions has remained broadly flat. The Group
continues to base support colleagues in regions
where possible, so they can easily provide the
close support that the operations teams require.
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Operational review continued

Veterinary Practices division
continued

Healthy Pet Cilub

As well as offering first class care to sick or injured animals,
we continue to offer preventative healthcare through our
Healthy Pet Club scherne, which offers routine flea and
worming trestments and vaccinations, as well as twice
yearly health checks. These clients can spread the cost of
accessing the best preventative healthcare, allowing our
clinicians to identify diseases and recommend the best
diagnostics and treatments. The scherne membership has
grown by 4.4% over the past year to around 470,000
members, representing roughly 40% of our companion
anima! active client base.

MiPet products/purchasing

Our own-brand spend consistently made up ¢.34% of the UK
practices’ pharmaceutical spending in 2022 and 2021.
During the year, we have expanded our efforts to increase
purchases ¢f our own-brand products rather than third-
party branded pharmaceuticals. This provides increased
choice for our clients and we hope this will transiate to an
increase in own-brand spend in our practices.

We have continued to improve our warshouse management
system, enhancing efficiency and increasing our permanent
staffing, which has enabled us to cope with the increase in
online retail order volumes as well as successfully complying
with sociel distancing requirements through effective use of
space and adjusted shift patterns within our warehouse.

Qutlaock

We are optimistic that our Veterinary Practices division will
continue to deliver strong revenue growth, This aptimism is
driven primarily by our continued focus on high-quality clinical
care, and we are confident we can continue to deliver
significant improvements year on year. Whilst we are mindful
cf inflationary pressures, we are reassurad that based on the
responses ta our ccnsumer ingight survey in August 2022,
pet spend on veterinary care and food appears highly resiliert.
Secondly, we are also in a market of increasing humanisation
of pets, with owners willing to spend more and more on the
health of their pets, with increasingly high expectations and
desire for their pets to have the same quality of care as every
other member of the family.

Our colleagues continue to be our biggest focus in our
Veterinary Practices division, as they are across the Group. In
our 2022 Sustainability Report, we introduced our target to
further reduce attrition by 10% which will enable us to bring
down our vet and nurse vacancy rates, which have been
relatively steady over the past two years despite significant
workforce shortages in the industry. More broadly we expect
significant improvements in supply of veterinary surgeons
into the market over the next ten years, as the number of
new graduates in the UK s set to roughly double by 2032,
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Household and furnishings,
equipment & majntanances

Area of focus

Consumer insight survey

Cur clients value the high quality of our services, and
based on our August 2022 consumer insight survey',
will preserve their spend even in the face of
economic pressures.

Based on these survey responses, we are further
reassured pet spend on veterinary care and food
appears highly resilient, with only 5.8% of clients
feeling they would try and reduce spend on
veterinary care in the face of an economic recession.
High-quality pet healthcare continues to be of great
importance to our clients, with 52.1% of clients
feeling spend on their pets healthcare would
increase over the next 2 years, whilst only 5.2% felt it
would decrease.

Spend on pet food is also considered a priority for
our clients, with 96.5% of clients feeling spend on
pet food would either stay the same or increase over
the next two years.

1 In August 2022, we issued a consumaer insight survey to 2000
clents and recewed a 23.2% rasponse rate.

5.8%

Only 5.8% of pet owners said veterinary care was an
area they would consider reducing spend onin the
event of recession.

The consumer insight survey asked:

“In the face of an economic
recesslon, which of the following
categories of spend would you
try to reduce over the next
2 years?”

Restaurants and hotels

Clothing and footwaar B7.2%
Miscellaneous gqods 545%
and services
Recreation and culture 51.0%

50.8%

Alcoholic beversges, 48.6%
tobacco and narcotics
Housing, watar, elactricity. 41.0%
gas and other fusls

Transport 320%

Food and non-alcoholic
beverages

Education 17.3%

23.8%

Caommunication 9.3%

Spend on Yeterinary Care
for my Pets 5.8%

Health 4.8%

7%



Laboratories division

Reliable diagnostic testing
supporting vets to deliver
excellent clinical care

Laboratories revenue share*

4.7%

£27.2m

revenue

-2.9%

revenue growth

445,000

laboratory tests performed

* Revenue shara before intercompany sales between practices
and cther divisions.

Qur Laboratories division provides diagnostic services and
in-practice desktop analysers to both CVS and third-party
practices, and employs a national courier network to
facifitate the collection and timely processing of samples
from practices across the UK. We continue to develop our
capability to ensure we can support the wider Group focus
on growing diagnostic cara.

Revenue has decreased 2.9% compared to the prior year
which benefitted from one-off COVID-19 1esting for CVS
and third parties. On an underlying basis, adjusting for the
COVID-12 PCR testing revenue in the prior year, revenue
increased 11% an the back of remarkable non-COViD-19
tasting growth in the prior year. Approximately 45% of our
diagnostic laboratory tests are for CVS practices, reflecting
the impartance of our integrated veterinary modal.
Adjusting for the number of COVID-18 tests performed in
2021, the number of diagnostic tests was broadly consistent
between 2021 and 2022, with price fises contributing to
underlying revenus growth.

Qutlook

The Laboratories division has remained resilient despite
increasing consolidation in the veterinary sector. By
increasing the speed and range of testing we offer in our
laboratories, continuing to ensure field-leading client
service, and employing a highly skilled network of sales
teams and engineers, we are optimistic of growth in the
years to come.
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Operational review continued

Crematoria

CVS provides compassionate service
throughout a pet’s life and beyond

Qur Crematoria division provides both individual and
communal cremation services for companicn animal and
equine clients, as well as clinical waste disposal services
for both CVS and third-party veterinary practices.

The strong growth in the division was driven by the Direct
Pet Cremation service we introduced in the previous
financial year. Putting custorners directly in contact with
crematoria to make pet aftercare srrangements, and giving
them more time t© consider their options, has resulted in
significant changes to customers’ choices and generated
improved customer care alongside financial returns. As a
result of the service, the number of individual cremations

Crematoria revenue share* increased by 5.5% in the year.

Qutlook

We are investing in 8 madern new grematorium to relocate
one of our existing crematoria. The new facility will be the
first pet crematorium in the UK to incorporate tempersture
and oxygen control systems, which to date have only been

o) used in human gremators, to minimise our envircnmental
1.7%

impact by delivering optimal combustion efficiency.

This new facility, due to complete in the 2023 financial year,
alongside continued expansion and development of tha
Direct Pet Cremation project, is expected to continue to
deliver revenue growth across the Crematoria division.

£9.5m

revenue

18.8%

revenue growth

5.5%

increase in individual cremations

* Rewvenue share before Intercaempany sales between practices
and other divisions
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Online Retail Business

Shaking up the pet food
and pharmacy sales market

Online Retall Business revenue share*

8.1%

£L436.6m

revenue

11.8%

revenue growth

368,000

unique customers

* Reverue share before intercompany sales between practices
and cther divisions.

Qur online pet food and pharmacy retailer, "Animed Diract”,
focuses on supplying pet food and prescription and
non-prescription medication, directly to customers. This is
supported by the buying power of the Group as a whols,
which ensures the business is able to provide the best value
for customers.

During the financial year, our Online Retail Business division
delivered revenue growth of 11.8% and adjusted EBITDA
growth of 20.7%. We have focused on shifting the marketing
and delivery of Animed Direct from low cost to a trusted
quality retailer, which is in line with the Group's overall
purpose and strategy. This has supported in delivering
revenue growth in the division despite the reduction in
unigque customer numbers to 368,000 (2021: 404,000).

We have also successfully implemented a new logistics and
fulfilment system to align with our improved warehouse
management procasses and ensure increased productivity
and quality control.

Outlock

In the second half of the financial year. we began the design
and implementation of a new website to enhance the
customer journey, expected to launch in the 2023 financial
year, Our improved website and warehouse systerms will
enable us to Increase capacity, delivering future growth in
online sales, generating revenue growth and improving
customer satisfaction.

Ben Jacklin
Chief Operating Officer
22 September 2022
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Financial review

Well positioned for continued
growth despite the more
uncertain macro-economic

environment

Robin Alfonso
Chief FInancial Offlecer
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Financial highlights

The Group has continued to deliver against its strategy, with
strong performance in both revenue and adjusted EBITDA.

Key financial highlights are shown below:

Change

2022 2021 *®

Revenue (Em) 554.2 5101 86%
Adjusted EBITDA (Em)* 1074 g75 10.2%
Adjusted profit before tax (Em)™ 755 662 140%
Adjusted earnings per share (p)* 85.8 751 14.2%
Operating profit (Em) 42.8 401 6.7%
Profit before tax (Em) 36.0 331 B.8%
Basic earnings per share (o} 36.2 273 326%

A reconcitiation of the difference between the reported
operating profit figure and adjusted EBITDA is shown below:

2022 202
£m £m
Operating profit 42.8 401
Adjustrments for:
Amortisation, depreciation, impairment’
and profit on disposal 473 481
Costs relating to business combinations 49 93
Exceptional items? 12.4 -
Adjusted EBITDA 107.4 975

1. Impairment of non-current assets, except for impairment of the
Investment in Quality Pet Care Lid in 2022

2. Impairment of tha investment in Quality Pet Care Ltd in 2022 is included in
exceptional tems.

* Adusted financial measures {adjusted EBITDA, adjusted profit before tax
and adjusied earnings per share) are defined in the financial statements,
and reconciled to the financial measures defined by International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) on pages 114 and 132 of the Annust
Report. Management uses adjusted EBITDA and adjusted earnings per
share ("adjusted EPS") as the basis for assessing the finanwal performance
of the Group. These figures exclude costs relating 1o business combinations
and exceptional items and hence assist in understanding the performance
of the Group. These terms are not defined by IFRS and therefore may not
be directly comparable with other companies’ adjusted profit measures.




“Delivery of our strategy drives strong
performance and robust cash flows.”

Financial performance

Revenue increased by 8.6% to £554.2m from £510.1m, with
strong like-for-like growth of 8.0%. The Group continues to
benefit from favourable market trends such as the sustained
increase in pst population and the demand for and ability

to deliver quality clinical intervention. The focus of delivery
against our strategy has underpinned revenue growth and
we have seen a 6.0% increase in the average number of vats
we employ and a 4.4% increase in our Healthy Pet Club
membership, to 470,000. This performance was particularly
pleasing given the ongoing operational challanges
associated with COVID-19.

We continue to see an oppoertunity to grow like-for-like sales
and have increased our development capital expenditura
to £13.7m from £8.4m to support ongoing expansion
opportunities including refurbishments and refocations.
We also see an apportunity to open Greenfigid sites with
three planned over the next twelve maonths.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 10.2%, to £107.4m from
£97.5m. Adjusted EBITDA margin Increased to 19.4% from
19.1%, benefitting from operating leverage and strong revenue
growth. Adjusted EBITDA also included £2.0m from another
year of Research and Development Expenditure Tax Credits,
which is the Group’s second claim under this scheme.

During the year an impairment of £12.4m was recognised as
an exceptional item, outside of adjusted EBITDA, following
the Competition and Markets Authority’s (CMA) investigation
into the acquisition of Quality Pet Care Ltd and the
subseguent divestment. This followed the CMA's conclusion
that there was a potential substantial lessening of
competition in a number of the sites acquired.

Since the conclusion of the investigation, three acquisitions
have been completed for an investment totalling £8.4m (net
of cash acquired), contributing during the period aggregate
revenue of £0.5m and adjusted EBITDA of £0.1m. The
pipeline of acquisitions remains strong and we continue to
sae opportunities for further investment in the future both in
the UK, where there is now a cleer framework to follow, and
also in other territories.

We continue to closely monitor macro-economic trends
including the impact of rising inflation. We believe that the
Group is well placed to deliver continued growth from our
integrated model, strong balance sheet and available
investment opportunities.

Adjusted profit before tax increased by 14.0%, to £75.5m
from £66.2m, in line with the increase in adjusted EBITDA.
Adjusted EPS ceorrespondingly increased by 14.2%, to 85.8p
from 75.1p. Adjusted profit before tax and adjusted EPS
exclude the impact of amortisation of intangible assets, costs
relating to business combinations and exceptional items.

Profit before tax increased by 8.8%, to £36.0m from £33.1m,
benefitting from an increase in adjusted EBITDA, a reduction
in costs relating to business combinations, which includes
businass combinations costs in respect of priar periods.
partially offset by the impairment in relation to Quality Pet
Care Ltd {further information available in note 16 to the
financial statements). Basic EPS increased by 32.6%,

to 36.2p from 27.3p.

Taxation

The total tax expensg has reduced by £3.5m to £10.3m

from £13.8m, primarily due to the prior year having included
g one-off £4.3m expense in respect of the re-measurement
of deferred tax balances following the substantive enactment
of the increase in the UK corporation tax rate to 25.0% from
April 2023. This was partially offset by a £2.3m capital loss, in
relation to the divestrment of Quality Pet Care Ltd, which could
not be utilised in the current year. A deferred tax asset has
not been recognised in respect of this loss as presently it is
not probable that the Group will utilise this loss in future periods.
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Financial review continued

Financlal performance continued

Taxation continued

The Group's effective tax rate was 28.6% (2021: 417%). A
reconciliation of the expected tax charge, at the standard
rate, to the actual charge is shown below:

£m wr
Profit before tax 36.0
Expected tax at UK standard rate of tax 68 190%
Loss on disposal of non-gqualifying assets 23 6.4%
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1.2 33%
Adjustments to previous year tax charge {0.4) (11%)
Impact of unrecognised losses 0.2 05%
Effect of difference between closing
deferred tax rate and current tax rate 0.2 0.5%
Actual charge/effective rate of tax 103 286%

* Percantage of profit before tax,

All of the Group's revenues and the majority of its expenses
are subject to cerporation tax. The main expenses that are
not deductible for tax purposes are costs relating te
acquisitions, amortisation and depreciation of property.
plant and equipment that do not qualify for tax relief. Tax
relief for some expenditure, mainly property, plant and
eduipment, is received over a longer period than that for
which the costs are charged in the financial staterments.

Financial position

2022 207

£m £m

Intangible assets 216.5 2284
Property, plant and equipment 697 574
Right-of-use assets 101.7 972
Other non-current assets 24 01
Current assets 1279 1014

Current liabilities (101.4) (985)
Non-current ligbilities (199.4) (194.9)
Equity 2174 @11

As at 30 June 2022, intangible assets armount 10 £216.5m
(2021: £228.4m), consisting of goodwill, patient data records
and computer software. The net reduction of £11.9m primarily
relates to amortisation in the year of £22.2m (2021: £23.8m),
offset by additions through business combinations of £8.8m
{2021: £22.9m). The Group maintains significant headroom
between the value-in-use of the groups of Cash Generating
Units (CGUs) and the carrying amount of the associated
assets, resulting in no impairment noted.

56 | CVS Group ple Annua| Report and Financial Stotements 2022

Property. plant and equipment of £88.7m (2021: £57.4m}
inclucdies freehold land and buildings, leasshold improvements,
fixtures fittings and equipment and motor vehicles, The net
increase of £12.3m primarlly relates 10 additions {including
those arising via business combinations) of £23.7m (2021:
£16.7m), reflecting our continuing commitment to investing
in our facilities, offset by depreciation of £11.3m (2021: £10.3m).

Right-of-use assets of £101.7m (2021: £97.2m) consists of
property leases for our veterinary practices, specialist
referral centres and support offices and short term leases
for vehicles and equiprment. The net increase in the year of
£4.5m primarily relates to additions (including those via
business combinations) and re-measurement of lease terms
of £19.6m {2021; £15.4m), partizally offset by depreciation and
Impairment charge in the year of £14.1m (2021: £14.0m) and
net disposals of £1.0m (2021 £1.7m).

Other non-gurrgnt assets of £2.4m (2021: £0.1m) primarily
relates to the fair value of the cash flow hedge of £2.3m
(2021: liability of £0.4m).

Current assets of £127.9m {2027 £101.4m) comprises
inventories of £26.2m (2021: £19.5m), trade and other
receivables of £52 7m (2021: £48.3)m) and cash and cash
equivalents of £E49.0m (2021: €33.7m). The net increase of
£28.5m mainly relates to increased inventories in line with
growth in overall revenues and increased cash and cash
equivalents arising from strong operating cash flows.

Current liabilities of £101.4m (2021: £98 5m) comprise trade
and other payables of £86.6m (2021: £86.0m), provisions of
£21m (2021: £3.9m), lease liabilities of £9.4m {2021: £8.6m),
current tax liabilities of £3.3m (2021: asset of £01m). The net
increase of £2.9m mainly relates to the increase in liability for
corporation tax.

Non-current liabilities of £198.4m (2021: £194.9m) includes
borrowings of £84.3m (2027 £83.8m), lease liabilities of
£951m (2021: £90.2m), and deferred tax liabilities of £20.0m
(2021: £20.4m). See below for further details regarding the
Group's borrowings.

Equity of £217.4m (2021: £191.1m) increased by £268.3m as a
result of total comprehensive income of £27.6m (2021:
£13.0m), new shares issuad and shares disposed from the
Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) of £2.3m {2021: £1.5m) to settle
obligations under the Group’s Save As You Earn (SAYE)
scheme, and transactions in relation to share-based
payments and associated deferred tax of £1.0m (2021:
£4.0rm). A dividend payment of £4.6m was paid in 2022
(2021: £nil).



Cash flow and movement In net debt

Net debt decreased by £14.9m to £35.3m from £50.2m. The
mavement in net debt is explained as follows:

2022 2071
£m £m
Cash generated from operations 931 803
Capital expenditure - maintenance (10.8) (8.2)
Repayment of lease liability (12.7) (13.0)
Taxation paid (11.2) (3.0}
Interest paid (6.4) (¥A)]
Free cash flow 52.0 390
Capital expenditure - development {13.7) {84)
Business combinations (net of cash
acquired) (8.4) (19.4)
Loans and borrowings acquired through
business combinaticns (0.7) 1.0)
Exceptional items (12.49) -
Dividends paid (4.6) —
Sale of property, plant and equipment 0.2 06
Proceeds from Ordinary shares 23 1.2
Proceeds from Treasury shares - 03
Amortisation of debt issuance costs (0.4) (04)
Dacrease in net debt 14.9 1.9

The Group remains highly cash generative and de-levers
quickly post-investment. Cash generated from operations
increased by 15.9% to £93.1m from £80.3m benefitting from
increased adjusted EBITDA and a reduction in contingent
consideration payments in respect of acquisition from prior
years, partially offset by an increase in inventory. Working
capital was also adversely impacted in the year by the
commutation of a portion of clinical colleagues’ bonus
payments to salary in July 2021.

The analysis of capital expenditure between maintenance
and development in the table above reflects a broad split
between expenditura which we believe will primarily maintain
profit, and that which we expect to increase profit. Development
capital expenditure includes new sites, relocations, significant
extensions and significant new equipment. All other capital
expenditure is included as maintenance; maintenance
capital expenditure remains less than 2.0% of revenue.

Repayment of lease liabilities of £12.7m (2021: £13.0m) are in
respect of property leases for our veterinary practices,
specialist referral centres and support offices and short-term
leases for vehicles and eguipment.

Ne corporation tax relief is received on the majority of the
amortisation and transaction costs which are deducted in
arriving at the unadjusted profit before tax figure. Therefore,
the tax liability moves broadly in line with the adjusted profit
before tax of the Group.

The decrease in tax paid in the year is predominantly as a
result of an increase in capital allowances and increase in
the year-end corporation tax liability.

Interest payments of £6.4m were lower than the prior year of
£7.1m, reflectng the Group’s maintenance of low levels of
net debt during the financial year. During the year, the Group
transitioned its interest benchmark rate in relation to its loan
facility from LIBOR to SOMiA.

Cash available for discretionary expenditure (*free cash
flow") increased to £52.0m from £39.0m, primarily as a
result of increased adjusted EBITDA.

Development capital expenditure increased in the year to
£13.7m, from £8.4m, to support ongoing expansion
opportunities, including a number of relocations and
renovations. We continue to see opportunities to grow
organic revenue and therefore expect development capital
expenditure to increase over the next few years.

For business combinations {pet of cash acquired) acquired
during the financial year, E8.0m (2021: £19.4m) was paid for
three practices (four practice sites), with an additional £0.4m
liability on the balance sheet. A further £0.4m (2021: £nil)
was paid in relation to prior year acquisitions. In addition,
£0.1m (2021: £1.0m) was paid to settle loans transferred as
part of the business combinations.

On 19 August 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share
capital of Quality Pet Care Ltd, an eight site companion
animal practice spread across the UK, for total consideration
of £20.4m, including repayment of loans of £3.4m. On 22
September 2021, the CMA served an initial enforcement
order in respect of this acquisition and during the period a
further £1.0m loan was provided for working capital. On 30
June 2022, the entire shareholding was divested for proceeds
of £9.0m. resulting in an Impairment of £12.4m, which has
been recognised as an exceptional item,

A dvidend of £4.6m was paid in the year {2021: £nil) reflecting
the final dividend for the prior year of 6.5p per share.

Sale of property, plant and equipment of £0.2m (2021
£0.6m) primarily related to the sale of motor vehicles.

Proceeds from the sale of Ordinary and Treasury shares of
£2.3m (2021: £1.5m) arose on the exercise of options under
the Group's approved SAYE schame, which aliows
colleagues 10 save regular amounts each month over a
three-year period and benefit from increases in the Group's
share price over that time.

Amortisation of debt issuance costs of £0.4m (2021: £0.4m)
were in line with our policy.
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Financial review continued

Cash flow and movement in net debt continued

Net debt and borrowling costs
The Group's net debt comprises the following:

2022 2021
£m Em
Borrowings repayable &fter more than
one year;
Loan facility 85.0 B30
Unamortised borrowing costs 07 {1.1)
Total barrowings 843 839
Cash and cash eguivalents (49.0) (337
Net debt 353 502

The Group has total facilities of £175.0m to 31 January 2024,
provided by & syndicate of four banks: NatWest, HSBC, BO!|
and AlB, and comprising the following elements:

» afixed term loan of £85.0m, repayable on 31 January 2024
via a single bullet repayment;

> a four-year Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) of £85.0m, that
runs to 31 January 2024;

> an envisaged, but not committed, accordion facility of up
to £100.0m, that runs to 31 January 2024; and

» a £5.0m overdraft facility, renewable annually.

The two financial covenants associated with these facilities,
described below, remain unchanged and will continue to be
calculated based on the Group's accounting policies
applicable at 30 June 2018 for the duration of the facilities,
l.e. pre-IFRS 16,

At the year-end, the total borrowings principally consist of:

» the £85.0m term loan (gross of unamortised issue costs)
(2021: £85.0m); and

» £nil drawn down under the RCF (gross of unamortised
issue costs) (2021: £nil).

The twao financial covenants associated with the Group's bank
facilities are based on the ratios of bank test EBITDA to interest
and bank test net debt to bank test EBITDA. Bank test EBITDA
is based on adjusted EBITDA, annualised for the effect of
acquisitions, including costs relating to business combinations
and excluding share option costs, prior to the adoption of IFRS
16. The bank test EBITDA to interest ratio must not be less than
4.5x%. At 30 June 2022 it was 41.00x (2021: 24.97).

The covenants allow a maximum net debt to bank test
EBITDA ratio {"gearing™) of 3.25x, although it fs not the
Group's intenticn 1o operate at this level, The gsaring ratio
decreased during the year, to 0.40x at 30 June 2022 from
0.68x at 30 June 2021. This decrease in ratio reflects both
the decrease in net debt and increase in EBITDA.

The Group manages its banking arrangements centrally.
Funds are swept daily from Its various bank accounts into
central bank sccounts to optimise the Group's net interest
payable position.
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Interest rate risk is also managed centrally and derivative
instruments are used to mitigate this risk. On 28 February
2020, the Group entered into two four-year fixed interest rate
swap arrangements to hedge fluctuations in interest rates on
£70.0m of its tarm loan facility. During the vear, the loan
facility and two hedge arrangements were transitioned from
LIBOR to SONIA benchmark rats, further information can be
found in note 17.

Going concern and viability

At the year end, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
£49.0m, a drawn term loan of £85.0m, an unutilised
revolving credit facility of £85.0m and an unutiised
overdraft facility of £5.0m. The Group are fully compliant
with all covenants in respect of these facilities.

The Directors consider that the £5.0m overdraft and the
£170.0m of debt facilities will be sufficient to enable the Group
to meet all liabilities when they fall due. The Group are not
reliant on any Government support. Since the year end, the
Group has continued to trade profitably and to generste cash.

After consideration of market conditions, the Group's
financial position (including the level of headroom available
within the bank facllities), financial forecasts for the next 12
months, its profile of cash generation and the timing and
amount of bank borrowings repayable, and principal risks,
the Directors have a reasonable expectation that both the
Compeany and the Group will be able to continue in operation
and meet our liabilities as they fall due over the period. For
this reason, the going concern basis continues to be
adopted in preparing the financial statemerits.

More information on the Greup's viability statement can be
found on pages 95 and 96.

Share price performance

At the year end the Company’s market capitalisation was
£1.2bn (1.656p per share), compared to £1.7bn (2,415p per
share) at the previous year end.

Forward-looking arrangements

Certain statements and arrangements described in the
Annual Report and results release are forward-looking.
Although the Board is comfortable that the expectations
reflected in these forward-looking staterments are reasonable,
it can give no assurance that these expectations will prove
to be correct. Because these statements involve risks and
uncertainties, actual results may differ materially from those
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.

Robin Afonso
Chief Financial Officer
22 September 2022




Area of focus

Giving our graduate vets
a warm welcome

Attracting key talent

Our vision and purpose rely on recruiting and retaining the
very best talent. We havs close relationships with the eleven
veterinary schools in the UK and new graduate vets who
chose to work at CVS are welcomed with an industry-leading
residential camp.

The summer camp

Our Graduate Summer Camp was developed to help
provide new gradustes with the skills required for a
successful start in the profession; our belief being that a
good experience in the first months of practice would set
thern up for along, happy and successful carear,

Qur graduates start with lectures on common conditions
and webinars. The second week of the course is residential,
in which graduates have opportunities to practice in areas
such as suturing, ultrasound, CPR, and dentistry. There are
also social events so they can get to know their new colleagues.
Following this, new graduates attend clinics in pairs to spend
time consulting znd operating with direct and dedicated
support from an experienced CVS vat,

One of our graduates who completed the summer camp,

shared the following feedback after her first day in practice:

“l just wanted to say that if | didn’t do the
Summer Camp, | would have been a
burden today. All the vets were really
surprised about how independent | was.
So, a massive thank you for all the work
and effort that’s been put into the
Summer Camp to moke my transition
to employment so much easier!”

Testimonials such as this have also been backed up by the

data University of Surrey is cumently analysing. In a guestionnaire

where new graduates scored their confidence going ino
practice at the beginning and end of the residential week,
there was a dramatic increase from 1.7 to 8.4.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Proactively identifying and
managing risk throughout

the Group

Risk management structure

The Beard has overall responsibility for ensuring risk is
appropriately managed across the Group. The day-to-day
identification, management and mitigation of risk is
delegated to the Group's senior management.

Risk registers are prepared which evaluate the risks most
tikely to impact the Group. Colleagues across the business
are involved in the preparstion and regular review of these
risk registers to ensure that all potential areas of risk are
adequately identified, recorded and managed. Controls that
are in place are assessed in order to determine the extent to
which they mitigate risk and in circurmnstances where it is
considered appropriate to reduce risk further, appropriate
actions are determined.

The Group's business operations are subject to a wide range
of risks. Some of the most significant risks are explained on
pages 81to 68, together with details of actions that have
been tzken to mitigate these risks.

The key roles and delegated
responsibilities

Executive Management team
Collectively responsible for managing risks.

Audit Committee

Assists the Board to fulfil its corporate governance duties
and oversees responsibilibes i relation to financial reporting,
internal control and the risk management structure.

Internal audit

Holds maetings with risk owners across the business,
assesses the risk ratings and documents the controls in
place to mitigate each risk, and recornmends improvements
and corrective actions.
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Risk appetite

The effectiveness of the Group’s risk management approach
relies upon a culture of transparency and openness that is
encouraged by both the Board and senior management. The
Group's appetite for risk is considered low; whilst some risk is
accepted in order to develop the business and invest in future
growth, the Group has no appetite for major risks which
cannot be effectively mitigated through appropriate controls.

Assossment of princlpal risks

During the year, the Board undertook a robust, in-depth and
comprehensive assessment of the emerging and principal
risks facing the Group and specifically those that might
threaten the delivery of its strategic business model, its
future perfarmance, solvency or liquidity. A summary of the
principal risks and uncertainties that could impact the
Group's performance is shown on pages 6110 68.



“During the year, the Board undertook a robust, in-depth
and comprehensive assessment of the emerging and
principal risks facing the Group and specifically those
that might threaten the delivery of its strategic business
model, its future performance, solvency or liquidity.”

Risk management framework

Board
w®
0
'r = 15

O

Executiva Committeo 3
=)

Audit 3 8 5
Committee w B
[
| 2
¢ nternal controls ] & 1" i 2
E 13
Intarnal audlt E S ™
o
'8 s 10
Group risk management = 12 9 3
J’ S b
C
Employees b =
Remote  Possible Likely Very likely
Probabllity
1 Key amployees # Health ond Safety
legisiation

2 Economic environment

™ 1 Corporate lagislotion and
*  Competition reguiatory requiremants
*  Adverse publicity n  Bank facilites

& Information technology ©  Future pandemic

& Changesin or lockdown

industry regulotions 13 Sustainability and

7 Sourcing pharmaceutical climate chonge
supplias 1 Epidemiology

8 Sourcing and integroting 18 Cyber attack
acquisitons

CVS Group pic Annual Raport and Finoncial Statements 2022

ytodey 9|Beiong M)



Principal risks and uncertainties continued

No change to risk

+“—

N

1. Key employees

Description

Failure to retain and attract
key staff, particularly
vetarinary surgecns due to
structural shortages of
qualified vets in the industry.

Potential impact

» Failure to be able to
meet the increased
demand from clients
and their animals.

» increased employment
costs leading to adverse
impact on financial
performance of the Group.

> Increased pressure on our
caolleagues to cover
vacancy gaps.

Increasing risk

Reducing risk  New risk

l N

Mhigating factors
» Close relationship with UX veterinary schoals.

> Market leading graduste induction programme,

» Focused training programmes to cover clinical, customer
service and management training.

> Appropriate reward and benefits.

» Regular feedback from colleagues to address commen
Issues Or concerns.

» Highly qualified recruitment team.

» Annual bonus scheme and a Group Long-Term Incentive
Plan (LTIP) scheme for senior colleagues. An annual Save
As You Earn (SAYE) scheme is in place for all UK
colleagues.

» Home Office reinstatement of veterinary surgeons on UK
Shortage Occupation List.

» inereasing number of veterinary schools.

» Sumrner and Winter Camps aid an increase in the number
of gredusate intake.

» Post COVID travel restrictions have eased allowing
more flexibility,

Changes in the year

» Increased the number of vets
and nurses employed by 6.0%
and 11.4% respectively.

» Vet and nurse attrition rates
remained relatively stable.

» Additional pay rises of 3.0%
for all colleagues in May 2022
to manage nsing cost of
living, in addition to the July
2021 pay review [n the year.

» Increased nurse utllisation,
improving nurse job
satisfaction and reducing
pressure on vats.

v

Summer and winter camps to
attract new graduate vets,

and increased engagement
with the top vet schools.

» Introduced an additional days
leave for each completed year
of service up to a maximum of
five additional days

Link to
strategy

Read mara on
pages 26 and 27

1 2 3 &

2. Economic environm

Deacription
Risk of potential further
decline in the UK sconomy.

Potentiolimpact

» Reduction in consumer
confidence and spending
on veterinary services in
light of inflationary
pressures.

» Rising inflation costs
impacting cost of produst
and adversely effecting
margins.

> The impact of Brexit on the
Group’s business is clearer.
The mainrisks are a
potential risk to supply and
increased compliance
around importing and
exporting goods.

ent

Mhigating foctors

» Diverse range and provision of services across the Group
1o a wide range of animals in the UK, the Netherlands and
the Republic of reland.

> Strong year-on-year growth in the Healthy Pet Club {(HPC),
which increased to 470,000 members from 450,000 at
the vear end. a 4.4% increase. This scheme helps to
promote layalty to the Group.

» Online retail business protects the Group agalnst changes
in consumer spending habits.

> Ability to source supplies from a number of
manufacturers. Wea have strong relationships with our
suppliers and manufacturers.

» Veterinary is considered to be an essential service.
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Changes In the year

> A new fixad-term energy
contract has been signed
1o protect the Group against
increasing encrgy prices.

Latest PDSA “PAW" report
found 2.5 million dogs and
cats acquired bietween 2020
e March 2022 showing
increased pet population is
here to stay.

v

v

Shift in working patterns to
more employees working
from home makes it easier
for pet owners to look after
their pats.

v

The Group is monitoring
rising inflation.

Link to
strategy

Read more on
pages 36 and I7

1T 3 4



3. Competition

Description

Increased consolidation and
acquisition of independent
veterinary practices.

Potential impact

» Loss of third-party practice
clients to Laboratories,
Crematoria and Referrals.

» Increased acquisition
value muitiples being paid.

» Increased price competition
may limit the ability to pass

Mitigating factors
» The Group has a wide range of services to offer its clients
by way of its integrated veterinary platform.

> Continuous investment to maintain high-class facilities
and equipment in order to provide excellent clinical service.

» Detailed assessment of acquisition opportunities
measured agalnst clear target criteria.

» Regular reviews of pricing of products and services
to ensure we remain competitive.

> Healthy Pet Club (HPC) scheme offers clients access
to preventative healthcare for their pets while spreading
the cost.

Changes In the year
» Ongoing market
consolidation.

> Continued increase in
our HPC scheme.

> Growth in revenues in the
year reflecting on focus to
deliver organic growth.

> Clear guidelings set by
Competition and Markets
Authority on how to assess
local market compatition.

on increases inemployment, Link to
pharmaceutical and strategy +—r
other costs. Read more on
pages 26 and 27
1 2 3
. Adverse publicity
Description Mitigating factors Changes In the year

Any adverse publicity on the
Group, other corporate
veterinary groups or the
veterinary sector as a whale.

Potential impact

> Reduction in customer
numbers leading to
adverse revenue.

> Adverse impact on our
ability to attract ard retain
key colleagues.

> Palicies and procedures in place to menitor service
delivery and ensure continued levels of high class
vetarinary care.

> Participation in the RCVS Practice Standards Scheme and
RCVS Knowledge Gi Champicn accreditation.

v

Established Clinical Advisory Committee to advise on
clinical standards and drug lists across the Group.

v

Individual practice branding to reduce rigk of adverse
publicity by being associated with other practices.

> Group marketing and communications teams to respond
swiftly to any issues.

> Prorminent representation on national bodies and at
industry events to enhance the Group's reputation
and credibility.

v

Financial PR agency appointed to support with
media communication.

v

Positive feedback from Summer and Winter Camp for
Veterinary graduates.

v

2021 Quality Improvement report issued which outlines
our approach to increasing clinical standards.

v

leading L earning, Education and Development programme
offering a wide range of continued professional
development courses for our Vets and Nurses.

> Increased media coverage
regarding veterinary
consolidation and the impact
on end user pricing.

» Continued monitaring of our
clinical standards against
our guality improverment
framewarks for clinicians and
practices.

We have engaged with third
parties to further enhance
reporting of important issues
such as sustainability.

v

Link to

strutegg
Read more on
pages 28end 27

1 2 a
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Nochangetarisk Increcsingrisk Reducingrisk New risk
— T il N

5. Information technology

Description Mitigating factors

The Groupis depandent
on various aspects of
information Technology (T}
and support for

its operations.

Potential Impoct

» Loss of connectivity and
availability of systems
across our network.

» A cyber attack could result
in loss of systerns and
potential loss of client data.

> Policies and procedures are in place to ensure stability
and security of our netwerks and systams.

> Restricted access to systems, networks and applications
wherever possible.

> Scheduled programme of network security enhancement
with external reviews performed pertiodically.

> Full system testing of any developments prior to live
deployment.

» Regular backups and testing of the recovery of those
system backups.

» Established Practice Management System in place which
is able to wark without access to the internet for short
periods of time.

> Appropriate training offered to all colleagues.

Changes In the year

» Strengthened senior T team
including sppointment of
Head of Cyber Security and
Head of Infrastructure.

v

The Group’s new Chief
Technology Officer (CTC) is
undertaking a review of

key risks.

Link to

strategy
Read more on

pages 26 and 27

E I

6. Changes in industry ragulations

Description

The industry is subject
to a number of laws
and regulations.

Potential impact

» Failure to adhere to these
could have a material
impact on the Group
through damage to
reputation and/or financial
penalties.

» Changes in regulations
could adversely impact
the Group.

Mitigating factors
> Policies and procedures in place to monitor compliance
and any developments or proposed changes.

» Regular engagement with regulatory and legisiative
bodies to promote best practice and lokbying for change
where considered appropriate.

> Clinical Directors in place to ensure high standards
are maintained.

Changes in the year

> We continue to review and
respond to evolving
government and regulatory
guidance and able 1o adapt
our services accordingly (e.g.
use of tele-consultations).

Link to
strategy
Read more on
pages 26 and 27

“—>

1 2 3 »
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7. Sourcing pharmaceutical supplies

Description

Fallure to source
pharrmacewical prodiucts
at the required price

and quantity.

Potantial impact
> Inability to treat patients

Mtitigating factors
> Supply agreements in place with multiple major
wholesalers to cover stocking issues.

» Supply of own-brand products in Group warehouses for
onwards supply.

> Kegular pricing reviews with all major suppliers across all

Changes in the gear

» New warchouse systam fully
impiernented for monitoring
stock levels accurately.

> Where possible, we have
included price caps in
supplier contracts to protect

wigi i i the Group from price
with the required divisions for best possible pricing. noraases.
prescription and non- » Increase in direct supply of products.
prescription medicines.
. Link to
» Adverse revenus impact. strategy —
. Read more cn
> Adverse impact on _ pages 26 and 27
margins through having to
source alternative supplies oW
on less favourable terms.
8. Sourcing and integrating acquisitions
Description Mhitigating factors Changes In the year

Failure to attract, acquire and
integrate acquisitions at the
appropriate price with
minimal disruption.

Potentlal Impact

» Pressure that higher
multiples reduce growth
opportunities through
acquisitions.

» Failure to integrate
efficiently impacting
actuai performance versus
business casa.

» Dedicated team committed to sourcing acquisitions.

> Clear list of criteria used to assess any potential acquisition
targets.

» Mutti-disciplined feam communications in advance
of acquisition to plan the integration.

» Use of professional advisors to ensure appropriate due
diligence and legal advice are undertaken.

» Close monitoring of post-acquisition performance versus
business plan.

» Liaise with Competitions and Mackets Authority (CMA) on
acqguisitions where appropriate.

» Added further conditions to
pre-acquisitions checklist.

» Strengthened acquisitions
team.

» Clear guidelines set by CMA

on how to assess local market
competition.

Link to

strategy
Read more on
pages 26 and 27
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

No change to risk

e 1

Increasing risk

Reducing risk  New risk

l N

9. Health and Safety legislation

Desc¢ription

Failure to comply with health
and safety legislation across
our practices, laboratories,
crematoria, warehouse and
other sites.

Potaential Impact
> Colleagues, clierts or the
general public are injured.

» Required temporary
closure of sites whilst any
issues are addressed.

Mitigating factors
» Robust hesith and safety procedures are in place ensuring
full compliance with health and safety legisiation.

> Mandatory employee training to ensure they can perform
their duties safely.

> Apprepfiate protective equipment supplied to all
employees in order for them to perform their duties safely.

» Specialist health and safety team which regularly reviews
any risks and identifies areas for improvement.

> Participation in the RCVS Practice Standards Scheme to
ensure the Group promotes the highast levels of

Changes in the year
» Continued focus on health
and safety in all practices.

> Emphasis on ensuring health
and safety standards are at
the forefront when
considering property
improvements.

» Appoirtment of Director of

Property and Health and
Safety.

linical siandard Link to
» Lass of revenue and clinical standards. strategy l

potential ¢laims agalnst » Specialist and appropriately qualified third-party Read n;osre o;”

the Group. advisors undertake maintenance, inspections and pages <G an

property development. [ TN
» Health and Safety committee in place.

10. Corporate legislation and regulatory requirements
Description Mitlgoting fustors Changes in the year

Failure to comply with laws
and regulations.

Potential Impact

> The Group could face
fines and penelties leading
to financial loss.

» The Group could
face suspension of
certain operations.

> Appropriate training supplied to colleagues in the relevart
areas required.

> Suitable experts employed to ensure compliance and to
ragularly update policies and procedures.

> Appropriate insurance cover and third-party professional
advice used as required.

> Tender process and
appointment of new
Nominated Advisor during
tha year.

Link to

strategy
Read mote an
pages 28and 27

L]

11. Bank facllities

Description

Failure to comply with bank
covenants and ability to
secure future funding.

Potential impact
> Lack of avzilability
of funding.

» Increased borrowing costs.

Mitigating factors
» The Group maintains suitable facilities from a syndicate of
leading banks with an appropriate term.

» Existing facilities comprise term debt, revolving credit
facility and an overdraft.

> Regular reporting of headroom and compliance to the
Board and Exscutive Committes.

> Regular meetings with bank syndicate membaers to
appraise performance.

> Focus on maintaining relationships with main lenders and
other banking parties.

> Daily cash flow forecasts prepared and reviewed for a
rolling three-month period to enable working capital
requiremants to be understood and to optimise bank
drawings and interest costs.

> The Group has the ability to de-lever quickly.

Changas in the gear

» Strong cash generation
continues and net debt and
leverage remain law.

» No additional borrowings
utilised in the year.

> Transition from LIBOR to
SONIA on 31 December 2021,

» The Group is manitoring the
changes in interest rates
ahead of the repayment date
of the existing credit facilities,
which is 31 January 2024,

Link to
strategy l

Read more on
pages 28 and 27

1 2 3 u
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12. Future pandemic or lockdown

Description

Future uncertainty over
COVID-19 or other pandemic
and associated lockdowns.

Potential impact

» Future lockdowns affect
our abfiity to service our
clients if non-emergency
services are unable to be
undertaken.

> Short-term restrictions in
rescurce due to
requirement for COVID-19
self-isolation.

Mitigating factors
» Working closely with the RCVS and BVA to review evolving
guidance.

» Multipie geographically-spread locations across the UK,
Netherlands and Republic of Ireland protect the Group
from any localised lockdowns.

» The Group operates across e diverse number of
operations with an online retail business and provides
veterinary care across companion, equine and farm
animal species.

» The Farm Animal division is protected due to it being
critical to the human food chain.

Changes In the year

» Continued adherence to
government and regulatory
advice across all operating
territories.

» We continue te maintain the
highast levels of protection
for our staff and customers.

> We continue to offer flexible
working where appropriate to
promote safety across the
Group as a whole.

Link to
strategy l

Read more on
pages 28 and 27

3 4

13. Sustainability and

Description

The Group's continued
success depends on the
social and envircnmental
sustainability of

its operations.

Potantial Impact

» Disruptions to our
supply chain leading to
stock shortage and
financial loss.

» Adverse weather
feading to a decline in
our client demand.

» Changes in regulations
Increasing the cost of
our operations.

climate change

Mitigating factors
» Sustainability and ESG is discussed as a standing agenda
itern in Board rmeetings.

» ESG Implementation Group formed which is chaired by
the CEQ. Supported by an additional seven working
groups in the following areas: (1) Energy and Carbon,
(2) Waste, (3) One Health, (4} Wellbeing, (5} People
Development, (6) Equity, Diversity and {7) inclusion
and Community.

> Introduction of additional electric vehicles for the car fleet
and use of energy from renewable scurces.

» Focus on implementing targets to aim for Net Zero
carbon emissions.

> Appointment of ESG advisors to help assess our risks
and to implement our ESG strategy, “Care at our Heart™.

Changes In the yeor

» Sustainability Report
published with SASB-
compliant data.

» TCFD reporting in Annual
Report.

» Risks and opportunities
assessment and scenario

analysis performed in relation
to climate change.

Link to

strategy
Read more on
pages 26and 27

1 2 3
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

No change to risk
- T

1. Epidemiology

Description

There is a risk to the Group
as a result of potential
animal epidemics.

Potential impact

» New diseases entering the
UK due to animal
impertation could lead to
animal deaths, and loss of
future revenues.

> Diseases transmitted from
animals to humans may
lead to operational
disruption.

Increasing risk

Reducing risk

1l N

New risk

Mitlgating factors
» The Group continues to invest in research and
development and closely monitors trends and concerns

through our well established Clinical Advisory Committee.

» Invested in ensuring we drive guality improvement and
continue to publish our Quality Improvement Report.

> Notification systemn implemented to aid tracking and
resolution of issuing arising.

» Focus on increased pratection if suspected cases
are identified.

Chunges in the year

» We launched cur Clinica!
Research Awards to fund
clinical research, including
quabty improvement, which
are open to both internal and
external applicants via
collaboration with universities.

Link to
strategy N

Read more on
pages 26and 27

1.

15. Cyber attack

Description

Potential for a targeted
breach of the Group's
IT security.

Potentlal impact

> L oss of client data
resulting in reputationat
damage.

» Disruption o opserations.

Mitigating factors

» Tha Group has a number of policies in place that are
aimed at ensuring the stability and security of our
networks and systems,

> Network secutity Is regularly enhanced with external
reviews being performed periodically to identify areas of
risk. A scheduled programme of equipment and software
replacement takes place to help ensure that the latest
sacurity features are available.

> The Group employs a Head of Cyber Security alongside
third-party advisors where appropriate to ensure we
maintain high standards of protection.

» Systemns are regularly backed up and the recovery of
those systemns is tested.

» Use of anti-virus software in place across the Group.

> Password policies are in place encouraging use of strong
passwords. Forced password changes on a regular basis
and two factor authentication used where appropriate.

> Fully encrypted payments terminals being rolled out
across the group.

> Restricted access to systems, networks and applications
wherever possible.

The Strategic Report is approved for Issue by the Board of Directors

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary
22 September 2022

e
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Changes in the year

> Strengthened senior IT team
including appointment of
Head of Cyber Security and
Head of Infrastructure,

» The Group's new Chief
Technolegy Officer (CTO)
is undertaking a review of
key risks.

We switched provider of
anti-virus software to mitigate
potential threats arising from
the changing political
landscape in Europe.

v

We continue to review our
equipment and software and
regularly install updates.

Link to
strategy N

Read mocre on
pages 26 and 27
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Chair’s introduction to governance

Strong governance
and leadership delivers
sustainable growth.

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present our Corporate Governance report
for the year ended 30 June 2022 on behalf of the Board. This
report explaing how we have applied the principles of the UK
Corporate Governance Code (the "Code™) during the course
of the year, as well as setting out details of changes to the
Board of Directors and our governance structure. We believe
that effective corporate governance is key to dalivering the
Group's strategy and ensuring long-term success and this
report includes information about the progress we have
made in diversity and inclusion, stakeholder engagement
and our sustainability strategy.

Board changes and effectiveness

In September 2021, we welcomed David Wilton to the Board
as an independent Non-Executive Director. David has also taken
over the role of Chair of the Audit Committes following the
departure of Mike McCollum and has brought a wealth of
financial skills and experience to the role. In addition to this,
Deborah Kemp was appointed Senior Independent Director
as well as continuing to act as the Board's dedicated
Neon-Executive Director for employee engagement.

During the year, | conducted an internal evaluation to
assess the effectiveness of the Board with support from
our Company Secretary. We have internally set out the
outcome and actions arising from the svaluation and
this includes ensuring that the Board agenda includes
opportunities for the Board to meet with and engage
with the wider management team.

Equity, diversity and inclusion

Focus on nurturing an inclusive culture at CVS through our
Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) workstream has continued
throughout the year with good progress made against our
ten-year plan. During 2022, we ran training for our HR team on
recognising and minimising bias within performance and
reward management, created EDI zones in our learning and
development platform, launched psychological safety
training and prepared updated company policies cn EDI,
Bullying, Harassment and Incivility and Menopause. CVS
Colleague ED! groups, comprising over 60 colleagues from
across the Group, have been established to focus on: ability
and neurodiversity; ethnicity; genden LGBTQ+ matters; and
social mability. These groups are already making an impact
across the business and | am pisased to report that CvS
joined together ta celebrate Pride month this year through
activities and the sharing of colleague stories.

Section 172(1) and stakeholder engagement

During the course of the year, | held a number of meetings
with our institutional shareholders so | could understand their
priotities and discuss key themas including the development
of our approach to ESG and capital management.

During my time as Chair, CVS has built a strong corporate
culture based on investing in our people, our facilities and
our clinical equipment. We continue to expand our business
and cur focus remains on attracting and retaining the very
best talent. The Board takes into account the interests of its
stakeholders when taking decisions and some examples

of how the Board has fulfilled its Section 172(1) duties and
engaged with stakeholders during the course of the

year can be found on pages 22 to 25

Sustainability

During the year the Board has discussed the development
of its approach 10 ESG at every Board meeting and we are
pleased to have released our first standzlone Sustainability
Report, detailing the progress we are making and outlining
how our ESG strategy is closely aligned to our purpose,
vision, values and strategic pillars.

Annual General Mesting (AGM)

Our 2022 AGM will be held on Wednesday 23 November 20272
at 11:00am. Full details including the resolutions to be proposed
to shareholders will be set out in the Notice of AGM which will
be made available in the Investor Centre on our website.

Qutcomes of the resolutions put to the AGM, including

poil results detailing votes for, against and withheld, will be
published on the Company’s website and the London Stock
Exchange once the AGM has concluded,

Richard Connell
Chair
22 September 2022
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Board of Directors and Company Secretary

Our experienced Board with

diverse skills and expertise

Board and Company Secretary gender diversit

1. Richard Connell (67)
Non-Executive Chair

Appointment to the Board
Richard was appointed to
the Board in October 2007

Career and experience
Richard is a Chartered
Accountant and worked in
investment management with
3i Group, invesca and HSBC.
Previausly he was Chair of
Dignity plc, Mercury Fharma
and Ideal Stelrad Group.

Male 75%
Femaie 25%
A R N

2. bavld Wilton (69)
Non-Executive Director

Appointment to the Board
David was appointed to the
Board In September 2021.

Career and experience
David is a qualified Chartered
Accountant with more than

30 years’ post-qualification
experience as a Chief Financial
Officer, Non-Executive Director
(NED) and consultant after many
years in corporate finance,
primarily in mid-cap M&A with
Rothschilds. David has held roles
in both public and private equity
backed companies including as
CFO of 5umo Group plc, Group
Finance Director of WYG plc and
NED and Chair of the Audit
Committee of Sweett Group plc.
With effect from 22 September
2022, David was appointed as
NED and Chair Designata at
Frontier Developments plc, due
to take over ag Chair in
December 2022,

Board and Company Secretary ethnic diversity

A R N

3. Deborah Kemp (61)
Non-Executive Director

Appointment to the Board
Deborah was appointed to
the Board in January 2078.

Career and exparfence
Deborah has held a variety of
Chief Executive Officer roles in
the consumer and hospitality
sector, including as a FTSE 100
main board Director at Punch
Taverns plc. Her career started
at Bass plc as a Chartered
Surveyor, subsequently holding
key strategic roles in the
evolution and growth of the
Punch Tavemns pub campany.
Following & period in private
equity and a trade sale of Laurel
Funerals, she is now a Director
af vennce Limited and a
consultancy and interim
speciallst in the consumer-
facing retail and hospitality
sector, and assists multi-site
businesses through growth,
change and transformation.

White
Ethnic minority

B7.5%
125%

A R

4. Richard Gray (85)
Non-Executive Director

Appointment to the Board
Richard was appointed to
the Board in July 2020.

Caraeer and experience
Richard is a career investment
banker who has extensive
capital markets and corporate
finance experience. He is
Chairman of CT Private Equity
Trust PLC, 2 Non-Executive
Director of Alpha Real Capital,
Vice Chairman of Invescore
Group and a Director at Zeus
Capital. He has previously
worked at Panmure Gordon.
Lazard, Charterhouse and UBS.

Committee membership
Richard is not a member of
the Audit, Remuneration cr
Nomination Committees.

Committee membership
David is Chair of the Audit
Cemmittee, and is a member
of all three Board Committegs.
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Committee membership
Deborah is Chair of the
Remuneraticn Committee. She
is a mamber of all three Board
Committees and is the Senior
Independent Director.

Committee membership
Richard is Chair of the
Nomination Committee,

and is a mamber of al! thrae
Board Committees.



5. Richard Falrman (55)
Chilef Executive Officer

Appointment to the Board
Richard was appointed as

a Director in August 2018 and
was appointed as Chief Financial
Officer in October 2018, then
as Chief Executive Officer in
November 2019.

Career and experience
Richard spent six and a

half years at the RAC Group,
including as Chief Financial
Oftiger from 2016. Prior to this,
Richard qualified as a Chartered
Accountant at EY, later working
at PwC, following which Richard
held roles including Finance
Director of Virgin Money, CFO
of Central Trust and Finance
Director of Virgin Money Giving.

4. Bén Jacklin (38)
Chief Operating Officer

Appointment to the Board
Ben was appointed as a Director
and Chief Qperating Officer

in Novernber 2019.

Career and experience

Ben is responsible for the
leadership and management of
our business operations, across
all our territories. These include
all our veterinary practices and
our laboratories, crematoria,
rnarketing and communication
departments. Ben joined CVS in
2015 and, prier to his appointment
to the Board in 2019, led the
Veterinary Practice division
across the CVS territories.

Ben qualified as a Veterinary
Surgeon from Cambridge
University, and is a European
College of Veterinary Surgeons
and Royal College of Veterinary
Surgeons recognised specialist
in equine surgery.

7. Robin Alfonso (43)
Chief Financial Officer

Appointment to the Board
Robin was appointed as a
Director and Chief Financial
Officer in November 2018,

Career and experience
Robin spent eight years at the
RAC Grougp, initialty as Group
Financial Controller and then
as Divisional Finance Director of
its largest commergial division
and profit centre, Consumer
Roadside and Marketing. Prior
to this, Robin gualified as a
Chartered Accountant at PwC,
following which he moved to
Aviva where he performed a
tachnical accounting role.

8. Jenny Farrer (415)
Company Secratary

Appointment

Jenny was appointed
as Company Secretary
in August 2021.

Careaer and experience
Jenny is a fellow of the
Chartered Governance Institute
with 16 years' experience

of acting as Cempany Secretary
1o listed and large private
companias through in-house
and professional practice roles.
Jenny is a Corporate,
Governance Professional and
also spent over seven years in
professional practice building
and heading the Company
Secretarial Practice at Mills &
Reeove LLP. Jenny established
the East of England Branch of
the Chartered Governance
institute in 2008 and still takes
an active role on its committee.

Committee membership

a Audit Committes

r Remuneration Committee

§ Nomination Cornmittee

Chair of Committee
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Corporate governance statement

Effective management
across the business

Jenny Farrer
Campany Secretary

This Corpcerate Governance Statement explains how
the Company is managed, the roles of the Board, its
Committees and Directors and compliance with the
standards set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code

2018 (the Code") for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

For more information abeut the Code set by the Financial
Reporting Council (FRC), visit www.frc.org.uk.

During the year to 30 June 2022, and up to the date of this
Annual Report and Financial Statements, the Company has
complied with the principles set out in the Code apart from
certain limited exceptions which are explained on page 75
{Chair’s independence and tenure - Provisions 10 and 139}
and page 86 (Directors’ Remuneration Policy - Pension -
Provisicn 38). The Corporate Governance Report explains
how the Company has applied the principles of the Code;
please find below a guide to the most relevant explanations
for each of the principles:

Disclosurs in the

Board activity during the financial year
to 30 June 2022

Strategy, business > Reviewing and testing the Group’s

and operational overall strategy and supporting strategic

performance pillars and monitaring perfarmance
against targets.

v

Considering end approving major
acquisitions and disposals.

v

Monitoring trading and market
conditions, competitor activity
and regulatory requirements.

Financial > Receiving Audit Committee reports
performance on full and half year financial results.

v

Reviewing and approving the Group's
annual budget

» Considering the Company’s dividend
policy and approving the allocation of
capital for investrment.

Risk management > Reviewing the Group's rigk register.
and internal
control

¥

Recaiving reports from the Audit
Committee an the effectiveness
of internal controls.

v

Approving the Audit Committee’s
recommandation tc appoint KPMG
as internal auditor.

v

Receiving regular updates on legal
and regulatory matters.

Board and » Receiving reports from
Committee Board Committees.

governance » Reviewing terms of reference
for Board Committees.

Adopting updated Schedule of Matters
Reserved to the Board.

v

Principles 2022 Report » Receiving corporate
Board leadership and A.B.C DandE Pages 72 governance updates.
Company purpose and 73
» Conducting annual review
Division of responsibilities F.GandH Page 74 of Board effectiveness.
Composition, succession and lJKandL Pages 74
evaluation and 75
Audit, risk and internal control M, Nand O Page 77
and 78
Rermuneraticn P.QandR Page 90
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Our governance framework
The Group's govarnance framework comprises matters reserved to the Board, Committees with clear terms of reference
and our Delegated Authorities policy which ensures that decisions are made at appropriate levels within the Group:

The Board

\J

!

Audit Committee
Key responsibilities:

» reviewing and monitoring
financial reparting;

» ensuring an appropriate internal
control and risk management
framework;

> monitoring internal and external
audit arrangements {including
auditor independence): and

¥

maintaining appropriate
whistleblowing procedures.

Mambership:
David Wilton - Chair

Deborah Kemp
Richard Gray

Executive Committee

Y’

Nomination Committee
Key responsibilities:

» making recommendations on
all Board appointments and
suceession planning;

> monitoring and reviewing Board
composition; and

» undertaking an annual evaluation
of the effectiveness of the Board
and its Committees.

Membership:
Richard Gray — Chair

Deborah Kemp
David Wilton

{

2

Remuneration Committae
Key responsibilities:

» assisting the Board in ensuring
appropriate remuneration policies
are in place for the Group:

» ansuring Executive Director
remuneration is aligned to the
strategic priorities of the Group
and its performance: and

» making recommendations
regarding Long-Term Incentive Plan
terms and conditions, and awards.

Membership:
Deborah Kemp - Chair

David Wilton
Richard Gray

The Executive Committee ("Exco”) comprises the Group CEO, COQ, CFC, Group HR
Directar, Chief Veterinary Officer, Group Procuremant Director, Director of Clinical
Operations and Chief Technology Officer. The Exco assists the CEQ in managing the

DIUDULIADD AIIodI0D

Group's operations and the implementation of strategy. The Exco meets at a minimum
on a monthly basis to set perfermance targets, monitor key objectives and commercial
plans and evaluate opportunities and business initiatives. Exco members raport annually
to the Board in person as well as providing monthly updates through the CEQ, COC and

CFO Board reports,

Senior Leadership Group (SLG)

The SLG comprises the heads of major business units and key service functions
The SLG meets on a monthly basis to collaborate and discuss major projects and
Group performance.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Structure of the Board and Board Committees

At 30 June 2022, the Board of Directors consisted of seven members, including a Non-Executive Chair and three independent
Non-Executive Directors. Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are set out on pages 70 and 71.
The responsibilities of the Board members are set out in the table below. The Board and its Committees have access to
management and external advisors to assist them in discharging their duties. During the year ended 30 June 2022, the
Board and Board Committees recelved sufficient. reliable and timely information in order for thern to perform their
rasponsibilities effectively.

Roles and responsibilities
There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chair and the CEQ, and all Board members have clearly defined
roles and responsibilities as set out below. Board members have the range of skills and experience required to ensure
the successful operation, growth and sustainability of the Group, as set out in their biographies on pages 70 and 71.

Role Name Responsibifity

Chair Richard Connell » The Chair is responsible far leading the Board and for its overall effectiveness
in directing the Cornpany. The Chair also facilitates constructive Board
relations and the effective contribution of all Non-Executive Directors as well
as ensuring that the Directors receiva accurate, timely and clear information
and overseeing the governance framework.

CEO Richard Fairman » The CEQ is responsible for leading the Company’s executives in managing the
day-to-day operation of the Group. The CEQ is accountable to and reports to
the Board and is assisted in his rale by the Group's Exco, all of whom report
directly or indirectly to the CEC.

cOOo Ben acklin » The COQ reports to the CEO and is responsible for oversesing and directing
the day-to-day operations of the Group in addition to supporting the CEO with
developing and implementing Group strategy.

CFOQ Robin Alfonso » The CFO reports to the CEQ and is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s finances and development and implementation
of financial strategy as well as supporting the CEQ with developing and
implementing Group strategy.

Senior Deborah Kemp » The Senior Independent Director (SID) provides advice and additional support

independent and experience to the Chair.

Director

Indepeandent Richard Gray » Independent Non-Executive Directors pravide constructive challenge, strategic

Non-Executive David Wilton guldance and specialist advice as well as hclding management to account and

Directors being available to work with the Chair to resolve contentious issues.

Company Jenny Farrer » The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Board and its Committees

Secretary and is responsible for ensuring that the Board has the policies, processes,

information, time and resources it needs in order to function effectively and
efficiently as well as supporting the Chair in developing and overseeing the
governance framewaork.

Board and Committee meeting attendance

The Board meets formally eleven times a yesr and meetings are planned around key events in the corporate calendar
including interim results, full-year results and the Annual General Meeting {(AGM). The Non-Executive Directors confirm that
they have sufficient time to devote to meet their Board responsibilities. In addition to the eleven scheduled Board meetings
and other Committee mestings, the Non-Executive Directors make themselves avaijable for ad-hoc meetings and Board
calls to receive regular updates and to deal with specific projects or matters arising during the year.

The Chair and Non-Executive Directors meet fram time to time as appropriate without the Executive Directors present.
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The table below sets out attendance at Board meetings
during the financial year ended 30 June 2022, including a
dedicated strategy meeting held in the same week as the
Board meeting in March 2022,

Audir Ramunenation Nomination

Board CommRitee Committae Committea
Number
of meetings 15 2 5 2
R Connell 15 2* b 2*
D Kemp 15 2 5 2
R Gray 15 2 5 2
D Wilton o ™ 4% ™
M McCollum 5> 1** 1=* ™
R Fairman 15 2* 5* a*
R Alfonso 15 2% 5* 2*
B Jacklin 15 2* 5* 2*

* In antendance by invitation of the respective Committee.

** Mike McCollum resignad as a Director an 23 September 2021 and was
replaced by David Wilton with effect from 24 Septamber 20271 Both
Directors attended ali maatings whilst in appointment.

Board processes and effectiveness

The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved for its
approval which includes matters of strategy, structure and
capital, financial reporting, internal controls, contracts,
Board membership, remuneration, delegation of authority
and corporate governance. Matters that fall outside of those
reserved ta the Board or its Committees fall within the
responsibility and authority of the CEQ, CQQ and CFO and
are either reserved 1o them or delegated further through the
Group's Delegated Authorities Policy.

Board and Committee papers are circulated well in advance
of mesetings and Directors have access to a Board portal
containing Board packs and reference materials from previous
meetings as well as alf Board policies and procedures. In
addftion to formaltly scheduled meetings, the Chair maintains
regular contact with the Non-Executive Directars, CEQ,
COO, CFO and Company Secretary in performing his duties
leading the Board.

Given the size of the Group and the Company's AIM listing,
the Board does not believe external evaluation of the Board
to be appropriate. During Decermber 2021, the Chair,
assisted by the Company Secretary, carried out zn internal
review of Board effectiveness which included a review of
the information provided to the Board, the composition of
the Board, decision-making processes and the Board's
annual agenda.

QOutcomes from the Board effectiveness review:

» dedicated strategy day held in March 2022 to review
and refresh the Group's five-year plan;

» development of an annual relling sgenda to encourage
interaction with Executive Committee membaers;

> Nomination Committee to continue to monitor the gender
diversity of the Board: and

> introduction of & Board portal to support Directorsin
reviewing Board papers and create a reference point
for Board policies and procedures.

Board induction and training

New Directors appointed to the Board undertake an
induction programme to assist in developing their
understanding and awareness of the business, its
governance framework, employees and Group policies and
procedures. Induction is tailored to suit the requirements of
each new Director and includes site visits to practices
around the Group, meatings with the heads of Group
functions and one-on-one meetings with fellow Board
members, Executive Committee members and the
Company’s external advisors in addition to being provided
with details of the Group’s policies and procedures.

buring the financial year endec 30 June 2022, Board
members received refresher training on AIM and the Market
Abuse Regulations delivered by the Company's Nominated
Advisor and external legal counsel.

Independence

Richard Connell has held the positicn of Chair of the Board
since October 2007 and has therefore served on the Board
for more than nine years, which is an example in the Code
of a circumstance in which a Non-Executive Director's
incdependence is likely to be, or could appear to be,
impaired. The Board of Directors believes that Richard's
knowledge of the veterinary sector and the Group's
operations and experience of transactions continue

to be invaluable to the leadership of the Group.

Deborah Kemnp, Richard Gray and David Wilton are
considered to be independent by the Board.

All Directors will offer themselves for re-election at the 2022
AGM of the Company.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Relations with shareholders

Copies of the Annual Report and Financial Statements are
issued to all shareholders where requested and copies are
available on the Group’s website, www.cvsukitd.co.uk.
The Group also uses its website to provide inforrmation to
shargholders and other interested parties. The Company
deals with sharsholder correspondence as and when it
arises thrcughout the year.

The CEQ, COO and CFO have regular meetings with
institutional investors, private client brokers, individual
shareholders, fund managers and analysts to discuss
infarmation made public by the Group.

The Chair and the Non-Executive Directors are always
available to sharehclders on all matters relating to governance
and strategy. They may be contacted through the Company
Secretary at company.secretary@cvsvets.com.

Shareholder engagement activities:
> Praliminary results roadshow - September 2021

> Annual General Meeting ~ November 2021
» Interim results roadshow - March 2022

> US roadshow - April 2022

» Republic of Ireland roadshow - June 2022

The Audit Committee

During the ysar under review the Committee Chair was
David Wilton. David became Chair of the Committee in
September 2021 end has a wealth of experience in senior
finance roles including in fisted companies. All Non-Executive
Directors other than the Chair were members of the Committee.

The Board considers that members of the Audit Committee
have recent and relevant financial expertise, and that the
Committee as a whcle has competence relevant to the
sector in which the Company operates.

The Audit Committee’s duties primarily concern financial
reporting, internal control and risk management systerns,
whistleblowing procedures and internal audit and external
audit arrangements {including asuditor independence).

The Audit Committee report can be found on pages 79
and 80.
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The Nomination Committee

During the year under review the Chair of the Namination
Committee was Richard Gray, following his appointment
as a Non-Executive Director in July 2020. All Non-Executive
Directors other than the Chair were members of

the Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing

the structure, size and composition, including skills,
independence, knowledge and experience, of the Board.

It is &lso responsible for the co-ordination of the annual
evalustion of the performance of the Board and of its
Committees, and for ensuring appropriate succession plans
are in place. Given the size of the Group and the Company’s
AIM listing. the Board does not believe external evaluation
of the Board to be appropnate. All Directors engage in the
internal evaluation and appropriate action is taken in light

of the assessment.

The Committee is responsible for making recormmendations
to the Board on all Board appointments and on the
succession plans for both Executive Directors and
Non-Executive Directors, During the year it appointed

a new Non-Executive Director David Wilton, to replace

Mike McCollum,

The Nomination Commitiee Report can be found on
pages 81 and 82.

The Remuneration Committee

During the year under review the Chair of the Rermuneration
Committee was Deborah Kemp. Deborah became Chair of
the Committee in July 2020. All Non-Executive Directors
other than the Chair were members of the Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has delegated responsibility
for designing and determining remuneration for the Chair,
Executive Directors and next level of senicr management,
as well as the Company Secretary.

The CEQ, COO and CFO are invited to attend meetings as
appropriate but do not participate in discussions relating to
their awn remuneration. The Chair will also be invited to
attend meetings as appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee Report can be found
on pages 83 to 93.



The Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that
Board procedures are complied with, advising the Board

on all governance matters, supporting the Chair and helping
the Board and its Cornmittees to function efficiently.

Jerny Farrer was appointed Company Secretary with effect
from 16 August 2021

Annual General Meeting 2022 — voting results

In the 2021 Resufts of AGM announcemsent, the Board of
CVS noted that all the resolutions had been passed with
the requisite majority. During the course of the year, the
Board of Directors has continued to actively engage with
sharehoiders and to discuss and consider their feedback.

Over the past two years, the following changes have been
made to remuneration policies and committea composition:

> introduction of malus and clawback for annual bonuses
and Long-Term Incentive Plans (LTIP);

» Rermuneration Committee discretion to override formulaic
outcomes introduced for bonuses and LTiPs;

» LTIP scheme performance conditions amended so as to
closely align with shareholder returns with 50.0% of the
performance condition now based on total shareholder
return;

> target shareholding thresholds introduced of 100.0% of
salary for the CEO, COQ and CFO:

» two-year holding period introduced for new LTIP awards
far the CEQ, COO and CFO; and

» Board Committees were restructured as Richard Connell
stood down from all Committees.

Whistleblowing

The Group’s whistteblowing policy is reviewed by the Board
annualiy. The policy sets out the procedures for employees
or third parties to raise concermns about any suspected
wrongdoeing. Employees also have access to 2 wide range
of alternative and informal routes through which to raise
concerns. This reflects the open culture and strong internal
communication channels of the Group, in line with our
strategy. and supports the formal whistleblowing policy we
have in place. The Board receives a whistleblowing report at
each Board meeting and will receive more detailed reports
of any investigations that may take place. There were no
issues reported to the Board under the whistleblowing
policy during the year.

Audit, risk and Internal control

The Board is ultimately responsibfe for the Group's system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness on an
ongoing basis.

The system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve the Group's strategic objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The key risk management processes and internal control
procedures include the following:

» the close involvement of the Executive Directors in all
aspects of the day-to-day operations, including regular
meetings with senior colleagues from across the Group
and a review of the monthly operational reports compiled
by senior management;

» clearly defined responsibilities and limits of authority. The
Board has responsibility for strategy and has adopted a
schedule of matters which are required to be brought to
it for decision;

» a comprehensive system of financial reporting,
forecasting and budgeting. Detailed budgets are prepared
annually for 2ll parts of the business, Reviews occur
through the management structure culminating in a
Croup budget which is considered and approved by the
Board. Group management accounts are prepared
monthly and submitted to the Board for review. Variances
from the budget and the prior year are closely monitored
and explanations are pravided for significant variances.
Independent of the budget process, the Board regularly
reviews revised profit and cash flow forecasts which are
updated to reflect actual performance trends;

> a continuous process for identifying. evaluating and
managing significant risks across the Group together with
a comprehensive annual review of risks which covers both
financial and non-financial areas;

» an independent internal audit function that reports to the
Chair of the Audit Committee;

» a central team that checks clinical and health and safety
compliance in alf parts of the Group; and

» the Company’s Scheme of Delegation of
Financial Authority.
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Corporate governance
statement continued

Audit, risk and internal control continued

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of
business conduct and ethics, and has an ongoing process
for identifying, evaluating and managing any significant risks
in this regard.

The internal control progedures are delegated to the
Execuytive Directors and senicr management and are
reviewed in light of the ongoing assessment of the Group’s
significant risks.

Internal Audit

During the year, the Audit Committes toak the decision to
appoint KPMG as Internal Auditer to provide an
outsourced service.

Remuneration

The Board considers that policies on executive remuneration
should be transparent. They should be implemented in a
manner which supports strategy and promotes long-term
sustainable growth. In addition, remuneration should reflect
both the performance of the Company as well as individuals.
The Board has delegated to the Remuneration Commiittee
responsibility for complying with these aspects of the Code
and the work of the Committee is reported in ful! on pages
83 to 93 of this Annual Report.

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Mesting (AGM) of the Company will take
place on 23 Novermber 2022. Full details of resolutions to be

proposed to our sharehclders will be set out in the Notice of

AGM will which will be made available in the Investor Centre

on our website.

Outcomes of the resolutions put to the AGM, including poll
results detailing votes for, against and withheld, will be
published on the website of the Company and the London
Stock Exchange once the AGM has concluded.

By order of the Board

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary
22 September 2022
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Area of focus

Engaging with charities

Every year, CVS colleagues nominate and vote for their
favourite animal charities to be selectad as the Group's
Charity of the Year. Throughout the vear, our colleagues
fundraise for this charity; this ranges from collection pots
in veterinary practices, to bake sales, to large sponsored
events. Each year. CVS matches the amount ratsed by
colleagues for the Charity of the Year, with a donation to
Vetife, a charity that provides emotional, financial and
mental health suppert to the veterinary community.

For 2022, the chosen Charity of the Year is the Pet Blood
Bank, a charity set up to support vets by providing a blood
service for pats, just like the one we have as humans.

"We are absolutely over the moon to have
been chosen by CVS colleagues as their
charity of the year! Pet Blood Bank is a
smaill charity but what we do is critical to
the veterinary industry. The support from
CVS will help to fund things like free
training and education for vets and go
towards helping to keep the cost of our
blcod products as low as possible.
Uhlimately, this partnership will help to
save more lives and we are so grateful
for the nomination.”

Nicole Osborne
Marketing Manager for Pet Blood Bank



Audit Committee report

Ensuring the continued integrity
and quality of financial information

David Wiiton
Audit Committee Chalr

Key responsibliities:
»> reviewing and monitoring financial reporting;

> ensuring an appropriate internal control and risk
management framework;

» rmonitoring internal and external audit arrangements
(including auditor independence); and

» maintaining appropriate whistleblowing procedures.

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2022 Attendance
David Witton* 1
Deborah Kemp 2
Richard Gray 2
Mike McCollum** 1

*  David Wiltor attended the Audit Committee meeting held
following his appointment on 24 September 2021

"= Mike McCollum attended the Audit committee mesting hekd priar
to him stepping down from the Beard on 23 September 2021,
Prior 1o his resignation, Mike McCollum chaired the
Audit Committee.

Responsibilities and terms of reference

The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the financial
performance of the Group is properly controlled, monitored
and repcrted, for liaising with the extemal auditor and reviewing
its reports relating to the Annual Report and Financial
Statements, and for internal control matters. David Wilton
became Chair of the Committee following his appointment
as a Non-Executive Director on 24 September 2021,
replacing Mike McColium. David is a chartered accountant
and, until his retirement at the end of October 2022, will be
the Chief Financial Officer of another company that was
listed until January 2022, All members of the Committee are
Nor-Executive Directors with considerable experience in
senior roles and are deemed to have the necessary ability
and experience to understand financial statements. The
Chair, the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), the Chief Operating

Officer (COO) and the Chief Financial Officer {CFO) are
invited to attend such meetings, but the Committee also
meets with the external auditor without the CEQ, COO and
CFO being present at least once annually. Other members of
management are invited to present such reports as are
required for the Comnittee to discharge its duties.

The agenda of each meeting is linked to the reporting
requirements of the Group and the Group's financial
calendar. Each Audit Committee member has the right to
request reports on matters relevant to its terms of refarence
in addition to the regular items.

Summary of octivity

In the year ended 30 June 2027 and up to the date of
this report, the actions taken by the Audit Committee to
discharge its duties included:

» reviewing the Annual Report and Financial Statements and
the Interim Report, including significant financial reporting
judgements contained therein. As part of these reviews
the Committee received a report from the external auditor
on its audit of the 2022 financial statements;

» advising the Board that the Annual Report and Financial
Statements are fair, balanced and understandable, and
provide the information necsssary for shareholders to
assess the Company's position and performance,
business model and strategy;

» reviewing the effectivenass of the Group’s internal
controls and reports raceived from the Group's internal
audit function in respect of its programme of internal
audit reviews;

> reviewing the Group's risk management framework;

> reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal audit
function and arranging for the appointment of KPMG to
provide an outsourced internal audit service;

» reviewing the external auditor’s audit planning document,
with particular reference to the audit approach, planned
materiality, significant risks as detailed in the Independent
Auditor's Report and the audit approach to these risks;

> reviewing the external auditors sudit findings
memorandum, noting conclusions in respect of identified
audit risks, materiality of adjusted and unadjusted
misstatements, control observations and suggested
improvements in the disclosure provided in the Annual
Report and Financial Statements;

» considering papers prepared by the CFC to support the
going concern basis of preparation of the Annual Report
and Firancial Statements;
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Audit Committee report continued

Summary of activity continued
* considering papers prepared by the CFQO to support
goodwill and cash-generating unit impairment review;

» reviewing the calculation, application and presentation of
Alternative Parformance Measures (APMs) in the Annual
Report and Financial Statements;

> agreeing the fees to be paid to the extemnal auditor
for its audit of the 2022 financial statements; and

> reviewing the performance and independence of the
external auditor.

Significant financial reporting risks and judgement
areas considered during the year

Revenue recognition

During the year, the Committee has reviewed the Group'a
revenue recognition in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue
frem Contracts with Customars, The Committee reviewed
the revenue recognised under the Healthy Pet Club
membership scheme, to ensure revenue is recognised on
delivery of the performance obligation, In the year the Board
reviewed the assumptions around the occurrence of the
performance obligations and cancluded the recognition of
Healthy Pet Club revenue to be appropriate.

Management override

During the year, the Committea has reviewed the
appropriateness of controls around managemeant override
of controls taking into account reasons which could iead
management to override controls. The Committee
concluded there are adeguate policies end procedures in
place and there is a culture of high adherence to compliance,
ethics and code of conduct across the Group. The Group
also has an appropriate whistleblowing policy in place.

The Audit Committee also received and considersed reports
from the external auditor, Deloitte LLP. which included
control findings relevant to their audit. Management
conducts reguiar reviews to identify and evaluate the

risks faced by the Group and to ensure that mitigation

is appropriate. This process was reviewed by the Audit
Committee and is considered appropriate.

The Board also carties out its own annual review and assessment
of key risks. During the year the Audit Committee has
received a presemntation detailing each key risk, and the
mitigating actions in place.

Research and Development Expenditure Tax Credit
(RDEC) Income

During the year, the Committee has reviewed the
appropriateness of the income recognised in relation

to RDEC. The Group has considered the facts and
circumstances relating to the claims in order to make a
judgemant as to whether compliance is reasonably assured
and therefore receipt is reasonably certain. The Committee
has reviewed the estimated discount appliea to the gross
cleims and the associated uncertainty of the claims until
either the formal acceptance of the claims has been
raceived from HM Revenue & Customs ar the expiry enguiry
window of the relevant claims, The Committee concluded
the income recognised is considered to be appropriate.
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In respect of these significant financial reporting risks and
judgement areas, we concluded that the Group's accounting
treatment andfor controls in place were appropriate.

Golng concemn and viabllity assessment

In considering going concern and viability overall, the
Committee reviewed the Group's forecasts with particular
focus on the key assumptions in relation to revenue, gross
margin and cash flow management. Sensitivities to these
key assumptions were also reviewed based on the impact of
the Group's key risks. as set out on pages 60 to 68.

Following a review of the detailed considerations set out
above by the Committee and Executive Committes, the
Committee Is satisfied that it is appropriate for the Group to
continue to adopt the geoing concern basis in preparing the
Annual Report and Accounts of the Group and, further, that
the going concern langer term viabflity statement on pages 95
to 96 is appropriate.

External auditor

The external auditor was appointed with effect from the
year ended 30 June 2017 giving a current tenure of six years.
A tender process was carried out prior to this change. From
the year ending 30 June 2022, in line with guidance from the
Auditing Standards Board, there has been an audit
engagement partner ratation and & new audit partner has
become the Seniar Statutory Auditor. The appointment of
the externa! auditor is reviewed and subject to a shareholder
vote at the AGM on an annual basis. Details of the fess paid
to the external suditor during the financial year are set out

in note 6 to the financial staterments.

The Audit Camrnittee has primary responsibility for the
supervision of the relationship with the external auditor,
including overseeing its qualification, independence,
expertise, performance and effectiveness, and the terms

of its engagsament and remuneration. The Committes is also
responsible for ensuring the guality and efficiency of the
external audit, enabling the Committee to formally evaluate
the effectiveness and quality of the external auditor's output,
which it does annually. After reviewing the external auditor's
performance during the year, the Committee has concluded
that it is satisfied with the effectiveness of the external
auditor and the external audit process, and that Deloitte
remains effective in its role as external auditor. The
Committee has therefore recommended to the Board

that Deloitte LLP be reappointed for a further year and

a resolution to this effect will be proposed at the AGM.

Approval

The members of the Audit Commitiee have reviewed the
financial statements and the content of the draft Annual
Report and Financial Statements to ensure that they are far,
balanced and understandable and, accordingly, the Audit
Cammittee resolved tc recommend that the Board makes
the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 97.

David Wikon
Audit Committee Chalr
22 September 2022



Nomination Committee report

Ensuring an appropriate level
of experience on the Board

Richard Gray
Nomination Committee Chair

Key responsibllities:
» making recommendations on all Board appcintments
and succassion planning;

» maonitoring and reviewing the Board composition; and

» undertaking an annual evaluation of the effectivenass
of the Board and its Committees.

The Committee is comprised of the three independent
Non-Executive Directors. The primary purpose of

the Committee is to lead the process for Board
appointments and to make recommendations to the
Board to achieve the optimal compoesition of the Board
having regard to:

> its size and composition;

> ensuring that it consists of individuals who are best
able to discharge the responsibilities of Directors;

» potential conflicts of interest;

» the extent to which the required skills, experience
or attributes are represented; and

» the need to maintain the highest standards of
carporate governance.

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse
Board and workforce and encourages reviewing ways of
working to ensure candidates from all backgrounds can
apply. Each appointment of a Board member or senior
executive is made on merit and the best candidate will
be appointed The Board recognises that further steps
can be taken to improve the diversity of the Group at

all levels and across all business streams, and

continues to woark towards this aim.

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2022 Attendance
Richard Gray 2
Deborah Kemp 2
David Wilton* 1
Mike McCollum™* 1

* David Wilton attended the Nomination Cammittee meating held
fotlowing his sppointment on 24 September 2021

** Mike McCollum attended the Nomination Committee meeting held
prior to him stapping down from the Board on 23 Septembar 2021.

Board appolntments and resignations

Mike McColium, former Senior Independent Non-Executive
Director and Chair of the Audit Committes, resigned from
the Board at the end of his term on 23 September 2021 to
pursue a full-time opportunity outside of the Group,

In light of Mike McCollum's resignation, Deborah Kemp,
who has served as a Non-Executive Director since her
appointment on 2 January 2018, was appointed Senior
Independent Diractor.

The Nomination Committee oversaw the eppointment of
David Wilten as the new Chair of the Audit Committee with
effect from 24 September 2021. David Wilton is a qualified
Chartered Accountant with more than 30 years’ post-
qualification experience as a Chief Financial Officer, Non-
Executive Director and consultant after many years in
corporate finance, primarily in mid-cap M&A with
Rothschilds. David has held roles in both public and private
equity backed companies including as CFO of Sumo Group
ple, Group Finance Director of WYG plc and Non-Executive
Director and Chair of the Audit Committee of Sweett Group
ple. With effect from 22 September 2022, David was
appointed as Non-Executive Director and Chairman
Designate at Frontier Developments plc, taking over as
Chairman in December 2022,

The Nomination Committee engaged a third-party
recruitment specialist, Chief Officers Group, to support
with the appointment of David Wilton.
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Nomination Committee report continued

Board evaluation and effectiveness

The Nomination Committee scrutinises the performance

of the Executive Directors, taking into account the performance
of the business against agreed plans. The Nomination
Committee also considers the other commitments of
Directors and is satisfied that all Directors devote appropriate
time to the Company's affairs.

in April 2022, the Nomination Committee evaluated the
results of the internal Board Effectiveness review carried out
by the Chair and the Company Secretary and was satisfied
that the Board remains effective and has the right balance of
skills and experience to provide continued effective
stewardship of the Croup.

Commiittee terms of reference

The Nomination Committee’s terms of reference were
reviewad during the course of the year and were considered
to be appropriate.

Succession planning

The Cormmittee is responsible for ensuring that plans are

in place for orderly succession 1o Board and executive
positicns, and to oversee the development of 3 diverse
pipeline for succession, taking into account the challenges
and opportunities facing the Graup end the skills and
expertise needed on the Board in the future. The Nomination
Committee considered contingency and succession plans
in April 2022,

The Committee is also respansitle for kesping under review
the leadership needs of the Group, both Executive and
Non-Executive, with a view to ensuring the continued ability
of the Graup to compete effectively.

It is impaortant that a diverse pipeline for succession is
developed in line with the Company’s strategy on pages 26
and 27. The gender balance of those in the senior
management, which, in accordance with the Code, we
cansider to be the Executive Committee and the Company
Secretary, is four women and five men.

The Committee is responsible for keeping up o date and
fully-informed about strategic issues and commercial
changes affecting the Group and the market in which it
operates. The Group competes with a number of private
equity backed veterinary businesses and, in order to
respond eppropriately to changing and increasing
competition, and to successfully execute accrative
acquisitions, it is considered important that the Board
contains Executive and Non-Executive Directors with both
private equity and trensaction experience.
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Conflicts of interest

The Board has established robust procedures for monitoring
conflicts of interest in accordance with the Group's Articles
of Association and conflicts of interest policy. All Directors are
required to make the Board aware of any other commitments
and potential conflicts of interest are approved by the Board
where appropriate, and recorded in the conflicts register. The
Board has delegated authority to the Nomination Committee
to keep under review any actual or potential conflict of
interest situations authorised by the Board, and to determine
whether it is appropriate for such matter{s) tc remain so
authorised. During the year the Committee reviewed the
conflicts register and it was noted that none of the Directors
have interests or external appointments which give rise to
material conflicts of interest.

Electing and re-electing Directors

The Committee has reviewed the independence of the
Non-Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Chair and
concluded thar all remain independent and have sufficient
time to meet their Board responsibilities in accordance with
the critaria set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code.

The Committee will recommend to the Board and the
shareholders that all serving Directors should be submitted
for re-election at the Company’s 2022 AGM.

Ongoing review

Whilst the Committee will continue to review the
composition of the Board, it is confident that the Board has
the right balance of skills, experience and tenure &t present
to successfully steer the Group through the next stages of
its growth and to respond appropriately to the strategic
opportunities ahead.

The Group's continuing sweng financial performance,
strangthened balance sheet and experienced management
team position it well to take advantage of these opportunities
and to deliver further enhancements in shareholder value.

Richard Gray
Nomination Committee Chair
22 September 2022




Remuneration Committee report — unaudited

Ensuring remuneration is aligned
with shareholders’ interests

Deborah Kemp
Remuneration Committee Chalr
Key responsiblilities:

» assisting the Board in ensuring appropriate
remuneration policies are in place for the Group;

> ensuring Executive Director remunetration is aligned
to the strategic priorities of the Group and its
performance; and

> mazking recommendations regarding Long-Term Incentive

Plan (LTIP) terms and conditions, and awards.

The Remuneration Committee is comprised of three
independent Non-Executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee meets frequently
throughout the year to consider remuneration matters
of the Group, to consider feedback from shareholders
on rémuneration matters and to make appropriate
recommendations to the Board.

Terms of Reference

The full Terrns of Reference for the Committee are
reviewed and appraved annually. These were last
updated on 22 September 2022,

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2022 Attendance
Deborah Kemp S
Richard Gray 5
David Wilton* 4
Mike McCollurm** 1

* David wilton attended all Remuneration Committes meatings held
following his appointment on 24 Saptember 2021

** Mike MeCallum attended the Remunerstion Commitiea meseting held
prior 1o him stapping down from the Board on 23 September 2021,

As an AIM-quoted company, the information provided in this
report is disclosed to fulfil the requirements of AlM Rule 19.
CVS Group plc is not requirad to comply with Schedule 8 of
the Large and Medium-sized Cornpanies and Groups
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. The information
is unaudited.

Remuneration policy

The Remuneration Committee seeks to develop the
Company’s executive rermuneration arrangements
appropriately taking due account of matters specified in
the UK Corporate Governance Code and the Investment
Association Principles of Remuneration in light of the
Company’s growth and its status as an AIM 50 company.

The Remuneration Comimittee considers it important that
remuneration policies for Executive Directors are aligned
to the Group’s long-term strategy and that a meaningful
portion of Executive Director reward is linked to long-term
performance. In light of this, remuneration for Executive
Directors is comprised of base salary, an annual banus and
a Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP} with performance criteria
based on earnings per share and total shareholder return.

In respect of basic salary, the objective is to ensurs that the
Group attracts and retains high calibre Executives with the
skills, experience and motivation necessary to direct and
rmanage the affairs of the Group. The annual borus scheme
is designed to reward exceptional performance with criteria
aligned to the annual budget approved by the Board.
Long-Term incentive Plans are seen as an impartant part

of Executive Directors’ total remuneration and are desigred
to drive and reward exceptional performance aligned with
shareholder interests over the long term.

The policy alsc provides for post-retirement benefits through
contributions to Executive Directors’ personal pension
schemes, together with other benefits such as a company
car (or car sllowance), and life and medical insurance.

A description of how the Company has addressed the
matters specified in Rule 41 of the FRC Code is set out
on page 83.

Ongoing development of remuneration policy in
alignment with shareholder Interests

The Remuneration Committee has introduced the following
changes in Executive Director reward and benefits over the
past two years following consultation with major shareholders:

» the introduction of malus and clawback provisions for
annual bonuses and LTIPs;

> the ability for the Remuneration Committee o override
formulaic outcomes;
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Ongoing development of remuneration policy in

alignment with shareholder interests continued

» the amendment of LTIP performance criteria such that
50.0% of the performance condition is based on achieving
total shareholder return with the remaining 50.0%
continuing to be based on delivering real increases in
earnings per share; and

> the introduction of formal shareholding guidelines of
100.0% of salary for the three Executive Directors.

in light of these changes, and the voluntary forgoing of
20.0% of salaries by all Directors in the final quarter of the
financia! year to 30 June 2020 at the peak of the COVID-18
pandemic Impact, the advisory vote to approve the
Directors” Remuneration Report at our 2021 AGM was
supportad by 84.5% of vates cast.

The Remuneration Committee is committed to ensuring that
the Group’s remuneration policies remain appropriate given
its AIM-quoted status and has introduced the following two
additional changes in the past year:

» a new two-year hold period has been introduced for all
new LTIP awards for Executive Directors, commencing
with the awards made in Qctober 2021 in relation to the
three-year performance period ending 30 June 2024 (save
that the Executive Directors will be able to sell sufficient
shares to cover any tax liability arising); and

> new non-financial measures have been intreduced in the
Executive Directors’ annual bonus scheme for the year to
30 June 2023 with 20.0% of bonus potential being based
on the delivery of five non-financial measures. These
measures are aligned with shareholder interests and
comprise targets on improving Patient Cars Index,
reducing attrition, improving employee net promater
scores, improving client net promoter scores and reducing
gross tonnage clinical waste which is sent to landfill.

The Remuneration Comimittee will continue to review a
number of further matters on remuneration in particular;
bonus deferral, the level of the shareholding guidelines and
Director pension alignment with the workforee.

In relation to bonus deferral, the Remuneration Committee
continues to see merit in a clear distinction between annual
honus and long-term incentives and does not propese this
should beintroduced at this paint. The maximum annual bonus
is capped at 100.0% of salary for each Executive Director.

The Executive Directors have each increased their individual
shareholdings in CvS Group plc over the past year and the
company intends to maintain its shareholding guideline at
100.0% of salary for the three Executive Directors.

Executlve Director Service Agreements

During the pricr year, the Remuneration Committee
oversaw the agreement of new Service Agreements with
each Executive Director to reflect current best practice in
light of inpurt from the Group’s legal advisors, DLA Pipar UK
LLP. The Remuneration Committee believes that the terms
of these Service Agreements remain appropriate and in
{ine with best practice.
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Executive Director sualary review

Salaries are reviewed annually and are regularly
benchmarked against similar AiM-quoted and other listed
companies with changes effective annually in January. The
Remuneration Committee decided to increase the salary of
the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), Chief Operating Officer
(COQ) and Chief Financial Officer (CFC) by 2.0% with effect
from 1 January 2022 in line with the average Company-wide
increase. The CEQ salary increased to £416,000, the COOC
salary increased to £312,000 and the CFO salary increased
to £270,000.

Executive Director annual bonus scheme

The annual bonus scheme in which the Executive Directors
participate is based on the achievement of adjusted EBITDA
prior to share option costs, in comparison to the annual
budget approved by the Board. For 2021/22, the maximum
bonus for the CEQ, COO and CFO was 100.0% of salary.

In fight of the financial performance in the year, the
Remuneration Committee proposes that the CEO, CCO and
CFO achieve 98.4% of their bonus entitlement.

LT¥IP awards

In Qctober 2021, the Company granted awards under its LTIP
scheme to the CEQ with a value of 125.0% of salary, and to
the COC and CFO with g value of 100.0% of salary. These
awards are subject to an adjusted EPS real growth performance
condition measured over threg years in addition to the total
shareholder return benchmarked against the FTSE 250
index {less investment trusts) measured over three years. For
the first time these awards are now subject Lo a two-vear
hold period post-vesting. Detail on the performance
conditions is sat cut later in this report,

The Remuneration Committee plans to make further awards
in Octaber 2022 on a consistent basis,

Recognising the contribution of ull CVS colleagues
CVS colleagues continue to work tirelessly to ensure CvVS
provides the best possible care to animals. In recognition of
the dedication and professionalism of collsaguss, during the
year the Remuneration Committee made the following
changes:

» salary review dates for all colleagues (save for Directors)
were accelerated from 1 January 2022 to 1 July 2021;

» the Remuneration Committee decided 1o increase the
holiday entitlement to colleagues with an additioral day's
haliday for every completed year of service,upto a
rmaximum of five days; and

» the Rermuneration Committea approved an additional
3.0% selary increase for all colleagues (save for the Board
whose salary review will take place under the normal
cycle) in May 2022, recognising the pressures faced with
the increased cost of living, At the same time they
committed to always paying all colleagues at least 3.0%
above the National Minimum Wage/National Living Wage,
improving salaries for our lower income colleagues.



In light of the competitive landscape and the continued shortage of veterinary professionals in the UK, the Remuneration
Committee will continue to consider reward and benefits across the Group to ensure that CVS remains well positioned to

attract and retain talent.

Ongoing review

The Remuneration Committee intends to keep remuneration policies under review and will continue to consider and

develop its approach to remuneration on an ongoing basis.

The Remuneration Committee has received advice in refation to the matters outlined above and overall executive

remuneration from h2glenfern Remunerstion Advisory.

| hope that you find the report helpful and informative, and | look forward to receiving further feedback from our investors

on the information presentad.

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report sets out the remuneration policy of the Company with regard to its

Executive Directors,

Purpoaa and link to strategy
Base salary

Oparation

Base pay is designed to  Salaries are reviewed annually and
reflect Executive benchmarked against similar
Directors’ experience,  AlM-quoted and listed companies
capabilities and rcle with any changes effective from
within the business. 1 January. The review takes

To be set at a level Into account:

which is sufficiently
competitive to recruit
and retain individuals of
the appropriate calibre
to deliver the Group's
strategy.

> Company performance and
increase in scale and complexity;

» the role, experience and
performance of the individual
Director; and

> average workforce salary
adjustments within the Company.

Beneflts

To complement
base salary by
providing market
competitive benefits
to attract and retain
Executive Directors.

Reviewed from time to time to
ensure that benefits, whan taken
together with other elerments

of remuneration, remain

market competitive.

Benefits for the Executive Directors
currently include the provision of

a company car and medical and
life insurance.

Potentlal remuneration Performance metrics

The CEQ's base salary was Not applicable.
reviewed on 1 January 2022

{the prior review being in

January 2021) and was

increased by 2.0% to £416,160.

The COO's base salary was
reviewed on 1 January 2022
{the pricr review being on

1 January 2021) and was
increased by 2.0% to £312,120.

The CFO's base salary was
reviewed on 1 January 2022
{the prior raview being on

1 January 2021) and was
increased by 2.0%

to £270,300.

The cost of providing these
benefits varies year on year
depending on the schemes’
premiums. The Remuneration
Committee monitors the
overall cost of the

benefits package.

Not applicable.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy continued

Purpose and link o strategy
Pension

Oparation

To provide retirement
benefits which, when
taken together with
other elements of

the remuneration
package, will enable
the Company to
attract and retain
appropriately qualified
Executive Directors.

The CEQ participates in a defined
contribution pension arrangement
and receives payments partly in
lieu of pension.

The COO receives payments in lieu
of pension which are partly used
for an enhanced company car
contribution.

The CFQ receives payments in lieu
of pension.

Pension arrangements, including
contribution rates, for any new
Executive Directors will be zligned
with those of the majority of the
UK workforce.

Annual bonus

To drive and reward
excepticnal
performance.

The Executive Directors are eligible
to participate in a discretionary,
annual, performance related bonus
scheme. Targets arg set at the
beginning of each year based

on the recommendations of

the Remuneration Committee.

Bonuses are paid in cash based
on audited financial results. Annual
ponus payments are subject to
malus and clawback grovisions,
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Potential remuneration

The CEQ is entitled to

a Company pension
contribution cf 12.0%. This is
partly taken as a payment in
lieu of a pension.

The COQ s entitled to

a Company pension
contribution of 10.0%. Thisis
partly taken as a payment in
lieu of pension and partly as
enhanced company car
contribution.

The CFO is entitled to

a Compéany pension
contribution of 8.0%. Thig

is taken as a payment in lieu
of pension.

Only base salary
is pensionable.

During the year under review,
the maxirnum capped bonus
potential fer the CEO, COO
and CFO is 100.0% of base
salary.

Purformance metrics

Not applicable.

For the year ended

30 June 2022 the targets are
based on adjusted EBITDA.
The target is adjusted to take
account of acquisitions made
in the course of the year. The
level of payment commences
from zero at the threshold
target increasing on a
straight-line basis to full
payment at the maximum
target. For the year ending

30 June 2023, 80.0% of
bonus will be payable on
adjusted EBITDA as
described above, and 20.0%
on non-financial ESG related
targets. More information can
be found on page 93.



Purpose and link to strategy

Operation

Long-Term Incentive Plan {LTIP)

To drive and reward
exceptional
performance over the
medium term and to
align the interests of
Executive Directors and
shareholders.

The Executive Directors are

entitled to be considered for the
grant of awards under the Group's
LTIP scheme. The awards take the
form of nominal cost options over
a specified number of Ordinary
shares, Awards are not transferable
or assignable. Awards are released
to participants after a performance
pariod of three years, subjact to
certain performance and service

conditions being met. 25.0%
of awards vest at threshold
performance for each target,
being adjusted EPS growth and
Total Shareholder Return.

The LTIP rewards the future
performance of the Executive
Directors and certain other
employees by linking the size

of the award to the achievement of

Group performance targets.

Participation is at the discretion
of the Remuneration Committee.

Awards will typically be made

annually based on a percentage of
annual salary, The Remuneration

Committee sets performance
conditions at the time of the
award. The 2017 plan rules,
amongst other things, include
clawback provisions and a
limitation to ensure that new

shares issued, when aggregated

with all other employee share

awards, must not exceed 10.0%
of issued share capital over any

ten-year period.

For schemes granted from 2021,

there will be a two-year holding
periad for LTIPs for Executive

Directors, cther than for settling

related tax liabilities.

Potential remuneration

The Remuneration Committee
would in normal circumstances
expect 1o make annual LTIP
awards to the CEQ of 125.0%
of salary and the COO and
CFQof 100.0% of salary.

The maximum annual award
permissible under the 2017
plan rules in exceptional
circumstances is 200.0%

of salary.

Performanca metrics

From 2019, awards are
subject 50.0% to an adjusted
EPS CAGR real growth target.
where adjusted CPS reflects
adjustments for amortisation
of intangibles, costs of
business cambinations and
assoclated income tax and
exceptional items, and 30.0%
to a relative Total Shareholder
Return performance
condition against the FTSE
250 companies excluding
investment trusts.

In addition, and irespective
of the targets, no award will
vest unless, in the opinion of
the Ramuneration
Committee, the underlying
performance of the Group
has been satisfactory over
the measurement pariod,

An amendrment to the 2017
plan was made in 2019 to
ensure that the Committee
has discretion o vary award
vesting in the event of
exceptional negative events
and tc override formulaic
outcomes.

Commencing in 2021, 2
two-year holding period
applies to Directors for shares
awarded under LTIP
schemes, other than the
requirement to sell to settle
associated tax liabilities.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy continued

Purpose end link to strategy Operatlon Potential rafmuneration Performance metrics
Shareholding guldeline

To incentivise Target value to be echieved over Not applicable. Not applicable.
Executives to five years:

achieve the Company’s
long-term strategy CEQ -100.0% of salary.

and create sustainable COQ -100.0% of salary.

sharehoider value.
To align with CFO -100.0% of salary.
shareholder interests.  Current shareholder interests

are shown on page 92.

In relation to both annual bonus and LTIP awards, the Remuneration Committes may, in line with the UK Corporate Governance
Code, exercise its discretion to override formulaic outcomes, including to reflect overall corporate performance and the
experience of sharehclders of the Company and if the business has suffered an exceptional negative event. Malus and
clawback provisions are effective for three years from the date bonus is paid. Issues which may trigger malus and clawback
include discovery of misstatement of the financial results or error in assessing the achievement of the performance
conditions. Other circumstances include the individual being found guilty of misconduct.

Save As You Earn (SAYE)

The Group operates a savings scheme for ajl UK colleagues, including the Executive Directors, being the CVS SAYE plan.
A SAYE scheme is operated for each calendar year. Under the SAYE14 and SAYE13 schemes, the awards were made at a
20.0% discount to the closing mid-market price of the day preceding the date of invitation. Under the SAYE12 and SAYE
schemes, the awards were made at a 10.0% discount. There are no performance conditions attached to any of the

SAYE schemes.

Policy on Non-Executive Directors” remuneration

The Chair and the other Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration comprises only directorship fees. They are reviewed annually.
The Chair's and the Non-Executive Directors' fees are approved by the Board on the recommendation of the CEO. The
Nan-Executive Directors are not involved in any decisions about their own remuneration. The Chair and the cther
independent Non-Executive Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable expenses.

Details of the fees payeble for 2021/22 are set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration.

The current annual fees are as follows:

Director

R Connell £11765C
[ Kemp £47858
R Gray £45,257
D Wilton £47858

Executive Directors’ service agreements

Richard Fairman’s service agreement cornmenced on 1 August 2018 and his most recent service agreemsnt is dated 10
Septermber 2020. The CEQ's agreement can be terminated by either the CEO or the Company on twelve months’ notice.
Ben Jacklin's service agresment commenced on 7 September 2015 and his most racent service agreement is dated 18
September 2020. The COQO's agreement can be terminated by either the COO or the Company on twelve months’

notice. Robin Alfonso’s service agreement commenced on 8 July 2019 and his most recent service agreement is dated

22 September 2020. The CFO's agreement can be terminated by either the CFO or the Company on twelve months’ notice.
As well as an annual salary, the service agreements also detail the provision of other benefits including performance related
bonuses, mediczal and life insurance, a car allowance and contributions to personal pensicn plans.
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Non-Executlve Directors’ letters of appointment

Richard Connell was appointed on 4 October 2007, His most recent service agreement is for a one-year terrmn ending on

21 September 2023, His appointment may be terminated by the Company or himself giving three months' notice. Deborah
Kemp was appointed on 2 January 2018. Her most recent service agreement is dated 2 January 2021 for a three-year term
ending on 2 January 2024, Her appointment can be terminated by the Company or harself by giving three months’ notice.
Richard Gray was appointed on 16 July 2020 for a three-year term ending 16 July 2023. His appointment can be terminated
by the Company or himself by giving three months’ notice. David Wilton was appointed on 24 September 2021 for a three-year
term ending 24 September 2024. His appointment can be terminated by the Company or himself by giving three months’
notice,

Further items specified under Rule 41 of the FRC Code

The Remuneration Committee believes remuneration is appropriate in light of the skills and experience of the Executive
Directors, and the need for differentials between different levals of seniority, and in the context of the amounts and structure
of remuneraticn at comparable UK companies.

Mindful of provision 40 of the Code, the Remuneration Committee wili continue to consider factors including clarity,
simplicity, risk, predictability, proportionality and alignment to culture. The Remuneration Committee believes that the
Company's remuneration practices are clear and simple, as laid out in this Remuneration Report. The Committee has always
been conscious of reputational and other risks in managing remuneration and in taking decisions on remuneration matters.
Malus and clawback provisions, and the Remuneration Committee’s ability to exercise discretion within the policy to override
fermulaic outcomes, support the mitigation of risks. The Committee believes that the range of possible values of rewards is
clearly identified and explained in this report, that the rewards and potential rewards are proportionate and do not reward
poor performance and that remuneration amangements are aligned with Company culture.

The Remuneration Committee believes that the policy operated as intended in terms of Company performance and
quantum during 2021/22. The Committee continues to engage with the workforce in respect of remuneration and other
matters, The Committee did not apply discretions in respect of the operation of annual bonus or LTIP during 2021/22.

Annual Report on Remuneration

Introduction
This Annual Report on Remuneration sets out information about the remuneration of the Directors of the Company for
the year ended 30 June 2022.

Meambership and role of the Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is appointed by the Board, and comprises Deborah Kemp as Chair, Richard Gray and David
Wilton. Mike McCollum was a member of the Committee until he left the Board on 23 September 2021, The role of the
Remuneration Committee is to determine and recommend to the Board the remuneration policy for the Executive Directors.
This includes base salary, annual and long-term incentive awards and pension arrangements.

Advisors

During the vear, the Company engaged h2glenfern Remuneration Advisory to provide advice on Executive remuneration.
h2glenfern Remuneration Advisory is &8 member of the Remuneration Consultants Group in relation to executive
remuneration consulting in the United Kingdom. h2glenfern does not provide other services 1o the Group and has na other
connection with the Company or individual Directors. The Board is satisfied that h2glenfern is independent and has no
connection to any individual Director.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Remuneration of the Executive Directors — agudited

Dirsctors’ emoluments
Value of
share LTIP
Bagic salary Parformance awards vested
allowance Benefits related during the
and feos in kind Pansion bonus year® Totsl
£:000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive Directors
R Fairman 2022 412 12 49 408 sl 1,673
2021 404 12 48 408 750 1,622
B Jacklin 2022 303 4 24 307 475 m3
2021 303 10 28 306 150 797
R Alfonso 2022 268 10 2 266 261 826
201 25 9 17 265 — 506
Non-Executive Chair
R Connell 2022 116 — — — — 118
2041 14 — - — - 14
Non-Executive Directors
M MeCollum’ 2022 16 - — — — 16
2021 45 - - - - 46
D Kemp 2022 47 - — - — 47
2021 46 — — _ — 48
R Gray 2022 45 — — - — 45
20 42 - — - 42
D Wilton? 2022 37 — — — — 37
202 — — — — — -

1. M McCollum resigned orn 23 September 2021
2. D Wilton was appainted on 24 September 2021,

3. In respect of 2022, LTIF awards expected to vest by reference to a performance pericd ending 30 june 2022 valus is based on: the estimated vesting
outturn (100%) and the estimated value of a share gt vesting calculated by referenca to the three month average share price up 10 30 June 2022 (being
£17.08) less the per share exercise price (0.2 pence). Inthe 2021 Directors' Remuneration Report, the value of awards vesting in respact of tha performance
period ending 30 June 2021 was calculated by reference to the share price at date of grant. The values have bean updated to reflect the share price on the
date of vesting (13 October 2021), baing £24.22. The value of these awards is not included in the tabla in note 8  the financial statements.

Benefits in kind include the provision of a company car and medical and life insurance for each Executive Director.
No Directors waived emoluments in respect of the year ended 30 June 2022,

The rermmuneration of the Executive Directers of CVS Group plc is barne by the subsidiary company, CVS (UK) Limited,
without recharge to CVS Group plc.

LTIP vesting
E TIP awards for tha three year performance period ended 30 June 2022 are due to vest in December 2022 ("LTIP 13%).
The vesting of thesa awards is subject to meeting sdjusted EPS and total shareholder return targets as set out below:

Adjusted EPS

Pre-IFRS 16 adjusted EPS for the vear ended 30 June 2022 was 87.5p. This compares to adjusted EPS of 46.7p for the year
ended 30 June 2019, 2 Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of 17.8% abave inflation. The target CAGR for threshold end
full vesting of LTIPs issued in December 2015 was 5.0% and 10.0% above inflation, respectively. This target has been
substantially excesded and, therefore, 50.0% of the options granted have vested.
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Tota! shareholder return

Total shareholder return for the three years to 30 June 2022 was 124.0%, and in the upper quartile when benchmarked
against the FTSE-250 index {less investment trusts), measured over the same period. This target has been exceeded and,
therefore, 50.0% of the options granted have vestad,

in light of the adjusted EPS and total shareholder return targets having been achieved, 100.0% of the options granted have
vested for LTIP13.

Discretionary bonus

Range Actual
Bonus (adjusted EBITDA (adfjusted EBITDA Payout
(% of salary) pre-share option cost)* pre-shars option cost) £000
R Fairman 2022+ 284 £1011m to £110.6m £171.5m 409
2021+ 100 £572mto £627m £791m 408
B Jacklin 2022~ 984 E107.1m to ENG6m £1M.5m 307
2021* 100 £572mto £627m £791m 306
R Alfonso 2022~ 984 £1013Im ta £1106m £11.5m 266
2021™ 100 E572mto EB2.7m £797m 265

* 2022 bonus targets were adjusted EBITDA, axcluding Executive Committee borus acerual, share opticn costs and associated employee natlonal insurance
** 2021 bonus targets were pra-IFRS 16 adjusted EBITCA, and pre-share option costs.
The Remuneration Committee has considered the financial performance of the year and considers it appropriate that the

CEQ, COOQ and CFO are paid 98.4% of their bonus entitlement. The Group has not taken government support in the current
or previous financial year.

Share scheme interests as of 30 June 2022
Details of plans at the reporting date that have not yet vested are set out below.

Award Grant date Vasting pericd

LTIP13 19 Decemnber 2019 3 years The performance targets for awards LTIP13, LTIP14 and LTIP15 are based
LTiP14 02 October 2020 3 years on achieving adjusted EPS growth in excess of inflation and total

LTIP1S 06 Qctober 2021 3 years shareholder return in comparison to the FTSE 250,

50.0% of the awards will vest if adjusted EPS growth in excess of inflation,
pre-tFRS 16 {LTIP14 and LYIP15 post-1FRS 16), is achieved as follows:

> less than 5.0% CAGR - no award subject to this condition;

» 5.0% to 10.0% CAGR - awarded on a straight-line basis between 25.0%
and 10C.0% of total award subject to this condition; or

» more than 10.0% CAGR - full award subject to this condition.

50.0% of the awards will vest if total shareholder returns in comparison to
the FTSE 250 index (excluding investment trusts) are achieved as follows:

> below median comparable performance - no award subject to
this condition;

» median comparable performance - 25.0% of awards subject to
this condition;

» median to upper quartile comparable perfformance - 25.0% to 100.0%
of awards subiject to this condition measured on a straight-line basis; or

» upper guartile comparable performance - 100.0% of awards subject
to this condition.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Share scheme interests as of 30 June 2022 continued
Options over Ordinary shares awarded to Executive Directors under the LTIP and SAYE schemes in place on 22 September 2022
are as follows:

Market price of sharas Earliest axercive date and Number of
Scheme Date of grent on date of grant date of vesting of shares  Exarcise price shares
R Fairman
LTIP13 19 December 2019 1.080p 30 June 2022 0.2p 46,296
LTIP14 02 October 2020 1219p 30 June 2023 0.2p 41,030
LTIP1S 06 October 2021 2407p 30 Jjune 2024 02p 2188
SAYE13 02 December 2020 1418p 01 lanuary 2024 1.009p 806
SAYE4 25 November 2021 2,230p 01 January 2025 1.974p 310
B Jacklin
LTIP13 19 December 2019 1.080p 30 June 2022 0.2p 27778
LTIP14 02 October 2020 1,219p 30 June 2023 02p 24618
LTIPMS 08 October 2021 2407p 30 June 2024 02p 12,712
SAYE1Z 04 December 2019 1.054p 01 January 2023 863p 709
SAYE13 02 December 2020 1.415p 01 January 2024 1,009p 570
SAYE14 25 November 2021 2,230p O1Januery 2025 1974p 31C
R Alfonso
LTIimM3 19 December 2019 1.080p 30 June 2022 0.2p 15,278
LTIP14 02 October 2620 1.219p 30 June 2023 C.2p 13,540
LTiP14(k) 04 January 2021 1.485p 30 June 2023 02p 6,733
LTIM5 06 October 2021 2407p 30 June 2024 C2p 1,009
SAYE12 04 December 2019 1,054p 01 January 2023 863p 709
SAYE13 02 December 2020 1415p 01 January 2024 1,009p 606
SAYEl4 25 November 2021 2,230p 07 January 2025 1.974p n
During the year, shares were exercised as follows:

Market price of shares £arfliest axercisa date and Number of
Scheme Date of grant on date of grant date of vesting of shares  Exercise prioe shares
R Fairman
LP2 12 October 2018 807p 30 june 202 0.2p 30869
SAYEN 30 November 2018 913p 01 January 2022 830p 737
B Jacklin
LTIP12 12 October 2018 807p 30 June 2027 02p 6194
SAYE™N 30 Novernber 2078 913p Q1 January 2022 830p 737

No options heve lapsed during the year.

Directors’ Interests In shares
The interests of the Directors when combined with their spouses’ holdings as of 30 June 2022 in the shares of the Company were:

Ordinary

sharas

of 0.2p each

Number

R Ceonnell 164,500
D Kemip 6,559
R Gray 5,000
D Wilton 5,500
R Fairman 29,462
B Jacklin 5,446
R Alfonso 2,000
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Apart frorm the interests in shares and share options disclosed above, the Directors had no other interest in shares of Group
companies. There have been no changes to the Directors’ interests in shares between the year end and the date of this
Annual Report.

On 30 June 2022, the market price of the Ordinary shares was 1,6560.
Stotement of voting

At the 2021 AGM, a motion was proposed to the shareholders to approve on an advisory only basis the Directors’ Remuneration
Report contained In the 2021 Annual Report. 94.5% ot votes cast were in favour of the motion and 5.5% of votes cast were against.

Remuneration in 2022/23
Salarles and fegs
Salaries and fees effective from 1 January 2022 are detailed earlier in this report.

Bonus targets for the financial year to 30 June 2023

The Remuneration Committee has approved a bonus scheme for Executive Directors for the financial year to 30 June 2023,
with 80.0% of bonus potential being based on EBITDA performance versus budget, with 20.0% being based on ESG related
non-financial measures for the first time.

The targets of the financial element of the bonus are deermed commercially sensitive, and therefore the committee has decided
that the targets will not be disclosed for the current financial year. The Committee intends to retrospectively publish the annual
bonus targets in the Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year to June 2023.

The ESG related non-financial element is based on targets being achieved in key non-financial metrics as follows.
Patient Care Index - an increase of one percentage point.

Attrition - 10.0% reduction,

eiPS - 50.0% improvement in employee net promoter score.

> owoN

Clinical waste - 5.0% reduction in gross tonnage clinical waste which is incinerated or which is sent to landfill (measured
across existing CVS sites and excluding acquisitions in year).

5. Client NPS - 5.0% improvement in client net promater score.

LTIP targets for the three-year performance peried to 30 June 2025
The Remuneration Committee is proposing new LTIP targets for Executive Directors for the three-year LTIP scheme (“LTIF 16}
for the performance period to 30 June 2025 on the following basis:

50.0% of the awards will vest if adjusted EFS growth in excess of inflation is achieved as follows:

» lessthan1.0% CAGR - no award subject to this condition;

»  1.0% 10 6.0% CAGR - awarded on a straight-line basis between 25.0% and 100.0% of total award subject to this condition; cr
+ more than 6.0% CAGR - full award subject to this conditior.

50.0% of the awards will vest if total shareholder returns in comparison to the FTSE 250 index {excluding investment trusts)
are achieved as follows:

+  below median comparable performance - no award subject to this condition;
» median comparable performance - 25.0% of awards subject to this condition;

« median to upper quartile comparable performance - 25.0% to 100.0% of awards subject to this condition measured
on a straight-line basis; or

- Upper quartile comperable performance - 100.0% of awards subject to this condition.

Deborah Kemp
Remuneration Committee Chair
22 September 2022
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Directors’ report

The Directors pressent their Annual Report and Financisl
Statements together with the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.

Principal activities and results

The principal activities of the Group are to operate animal
veterinary practices, complementary veterinary diagnostic
businesses, pet crematoria and an online retail business.
The principal activity of CVS Group ple isthat of a

holding cocmpany.

The Group made a profit after taxation of £25.7m (2021: £19.3m,.

Particulars of events which have occurred since the end
of the financial year have been disclosed in note 32 to the
financial statements.

Business review

The infarmation that fulfils the requirements of the business
review, including details of the 2022 results, key performance
indicators, principal risks and uncertainties and the outlook
for future years, Is set out in the Chair's statement {pages 6 o 8),
the Chief Executive Officer’s review (pages 1010 12), the
Operational review (pages 45 to 53) and the Financial review
(pages 54 to 58) including key performance indicators (pages
28 to 31) and principal risks and uncertainties (pages 60 to 68).

Dividends

In respect of the year under review. the Directors recormmend
a dividend payment of 7.0p, amounting to £5.0m (2021 £4.6m).
The aggregate dividends recognised as distributions in the
year ended 30 June 2022 amounted to £4.6m {2027 £nil).
No interim dividends (2021: £nil) have been paid during the
year.

Dividand policy

The Group has established an ordinary dividend policy that
is both progressive and sustainable, based on growing the
ordinary dividend per share over time. The rate of growth

of the ordinary dividend will be decided by the Board in light
of the circurnstances at the time. The Board also gives due
consideration to the return of capital through the use of
special dividends or share buybacks.

The ability of the Group to pay a dividend is also subject to
constraints including the availability of distributable reserves
and the Group's financial and cperating performance.
Distributable reserves are determined as required by the
Companies Act 2006 by reference to a company’s individual
financial statements.
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Diractors
The following Directors held office during the year and up to the
date of signing the financial statements uniess otherwise stated:

R Connell

M McCollum (resigned 23 September 2021)
D Kemp

R Gray

D wilton {appointed 24 September 2021}

R Fairman

B Jacklin

R Alfonso

Biographical details of the Directors are provided on
pages 70 and 71

Re-election of Directors

The Articles of Association of the Company require all
Directors to be re-elected at intervals of not more than three
years. The Board has decided that it is appropriate for ail
Directors to be re-appointed each year, so in accordance
with that decision all Directors will stand for re-election at
the Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ remuneration and interests

The Remuneration Comrmittee report is set cut on

pages 83 to 93. It includes details of Directors’ remuneration,
interests in the shares of the Company. share options and
pension arrangements.

Enviranment

The Group recognises the significance of environmental
responsibility and undertakes ciinical compliance reviews
to ensure environmental standards are conformed with

in addition to providing training to its employees to
ensure compliance.

Although the Group's activities do not have a major impact
on the environment, every effort is made to reduce any
effect. Details of the Group's approach to sustainability
and £SG are set out on pages 32 to 44,

Health and safety

The Group is fully aware of its obligations to maintain high
health and safety standards at all times, and the safety of our
colleagues and customers is of paramount importance. The
Group’s operations are managed at all times in such a way
as to ensure, as far as is reasonably practicable, the health,
safety and welfare of all of our colleagues and all other
people who may be attending our premises.

Corporate governance
The Board's Corporate Governance Statement is set out on
pages 72 to 78.




Going concern

The Governance Code requires the Board to assess and
report on the prospects of the Group and whether the
business is a going concern. In considering this requirement,
the Directors have taken into account the Group's forecast
cash flows, liquidity, borrowing facilities (which mature in
January 2024} and related covenant requirements and the
expected operational activities of the Group.

As part of the gaing concern assessment, the Group
modelled & base case scenario and undertook sensitivity
analysis to stress-test the performance at which the Group
would breach its covenants. This sensitivity analysis
assessed the impact of a sustained reduction in revenues on
cash and covenants, with reductions between 5% and 30%
modelled. While the sensitivity analysis was modelled up to
asustained 30% decrease in revenue, it is considered that a
reduction of 15% would be a realistic worst case scenario,
given this was the short-term decrease in revenues
experienced across the Group at the haight of the COVID-19
pandemic. In the 15% decrease scenario, the Group would
breach its covenants in September 2023, however this
analysis excludes any reduction in costs and in practice, the
Group is confident that sufficient mitigating actions could

be taken to remedy this. Additional details on the ebove scenario
analysis can be found in the Viabllity statement below.

Having due regard to these matters and after making
appropriate enguiries, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group and the Company have
adequate resources to remain in operation unti! at least
twelve months after the approval of these Financial
Statements, The Board has therefore continued to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated Financiat
Statements.

Viability statement

In accordance with provision 31 of the UK Corporate
Governance Code, the Directors have assessed the
prospects of the Group over a longer period than 12 months
required by the "Going concern” provision. A period of five
years is believed to be appropriate for this assessment since
this is consistent with the Group’s iong term strategic
planning, and other assessment pertods included within the
Annual Report, for example impairment reviews. The Group
also finances debt on a four-plus-one-year period, which is
consistent with a five-year assessment period.

The Directors confirm that they have a reasonable
expectation that the Group will continue in operation to
meat its liabilities as they fall due, up to 30 June 2027

The Directors’ assessment has been made by reference

to the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2022, its
prospects, the Group’s strategy, the Board's risk appetite and
the Group's principal risks, all of which are described in the
Strategic Report. The assessment also considers scenario
analysis over the key principal risks to the business, how the
Group is resilient to those rigks and how the Group can
mitigate the effects of those risks.

The Directors’ assessment of the Group's viahility is undempinned
by a paper prepared by management. The paper is supported
by comprehensive and detailed analysis and maodelling,
containing financial projections for a detailed one-year plan
and extended five-year pericd. The longer-term planis
reviewed each year by the Board as part of the strategy
review process. Once approved by the Board, the plan is
cascaded across the Group and provides the basis for setting
all detailed financial budgets and strategic actions that are
subsequently used by the Board to menitor performance.

The five-year plan provides a robust planning tool against
which strategic decisions can be made. In making their viability
assessment, the Board has taken into consideration that
financing facilities are maintained for the duration of

the forecast.

For the purposes of assessing the Group's viability, tha
Directors identified that, of the principal risks detailed on
pages 60 to 68, the most important to the assessment of
the viability of the group are Economic environment, Future
pandemic or lockdown, and Bank facilities.

As part of the going concern assessment, the Group
modelled 2 base case scenario and undertook sensitivity
analysis 1o stress test the performance at which the Group
woutd breach its covenants. The Group has two financial
covenants associated with the Group’s bank facilities, which
are based on the ratios of net debt to bank test EBITDA and
bank test EBITDA to interest. The net debt to bank test
EBITDA ratio must not exceed 3.25x. The bank test EBITDA to
interest ratio must not be less than 4.50x. Further details on
the covenants, solvency andliquidity are included below.

Scenario analysis was completed to assess the required
reduction in revenue that would lead to a breach of
covenants befere any mitigating actions. At a sustained
15.0% decrease in revenue, covenants would be breached
by September 2023 due to the negative impact on EBITDA.
This sustained decrease in revenue has been modelled
around the impact of the first COVID-19 lockdown as the
Directors consider this to be an accurate representation of
a potential worst-case scenario.

The Directors consider the Group to be resilient to future
pandemics or lockdowns, including through the following:

» geographically-spread locations across the UK, the
Netherlands and the Republic of ireland protect the Group
from any localised lockdowns;

» better knowledge and understanding of the impacts of
lockdowns on the business, reducing the level of
uncertainty: and

> improved infrastructure to cope with rermote working,
such as telemedicine capabilities.
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Directors’ report continued

Viability statement continued

The scenaric analysis assumes that no mitigating action is
taken. However, the Group would be able to mitigate the
impact of future pandemics ar lockdowns on covenant
caompliance through reductions in non-essential spending,
including locum vets and discretionary bonuses, and the
deferment of non-essential capital expenditure.

Therefore, the Directors consider that under this worst-case
scenario, the Group would be able to comply with its
covenants and secure further funding if required.

The Directors have considered other sources of risks and
uncertainties that may impact on the Group's ability to trade,
and the controls in place to mitigate them, on pages 60 to 68.

The outputs of the above scenario tests have been reviewed
against the Group’s current and projected future cash and
liguidity position. At the year end, the Group had cash and
cash equivalents of £49.0m, a drawn term loan of £85.0m,
an unutilised revolving credit facility of £85.0m, and an
unutilised overdraft facility of £5.0m.

During the viability period, on 31 January 2024, the term loan
of £85.0m will expire. The Directors have considered the
available cash and undrawn overdraft facility and cash flow
forecests (including those prepared on the basis of & lower
investment capital expenditure profile) and consider that the
Group will be able to meet its liabilities In fuli as they fail due,
including the repayment of the term lean if not refinanced.
The Group monitors cash flow on a daily basis, and
maintains sufficient cash reserves to ensure both solvency
and liquidity within the Group.

In making this assessment, the Board has assumed that there
is no material adverse change in the legislative environment
in the practice of veterinary medicine. The Group expects
that legislative changes, such as the proposal by the RCVS to
enabie highly skilled nurses to undertake a broader range of
pracedures without veterinary surgeon supervision, will
benefit the Group moving forwards. It is recognised however,
that such future assessments are subject to a level of
uncertainty that increases with time and therefore future
outcomes cannot be guaranteed or predicted with certainty.
In the scenario analysis, the Board has also assumed that 2
worst case scenario would not exceed the impact of the
nitial COVID-19 lockdown, On this basls and in conjunction
with other matters considered and reviewed by the Board
during the year, the Board has reasonable expectations thet
the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its
liabilities as they fall due over the five financial years used for
its assessmant.
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Financial Instruments
Details of the Group’s financial risk management objectives
and policies are included in note 3 to the financial statements.

Share capital and substantial shareholdings

31 August %
Sharaholdar 2022 C
BlackRock inc 5,905,327 8.30
Octopus Investments Lirmnited 4759771 6.69
Grandeur Peak Global Advisors 421773 6.00
Ameriprise Financial 3872818 516
abrdn plc 3,378,549 475
Global Alpha Capital Management 2,892,337 406
Canaccord Genuity
Wealth Management 2,616,423 368
Invesco 2,210,381 an
29,707,379 41.75

Details of the share capital of the Company as at 30 June
2022 are set out in note 26 1o the financial statements. Each
share carries the right to one vote at general meetings of
the Cormpany.

At 31 August 2022, the Company has been notified (using
TR1 standard form) of the substantial shareholdings detailed
in the table above comprising 3.0% or more of the issued
Ordinary share capital of the Company.

The Board is satisfied that no major shareholder presents
a conflict of interest or exerts undue influence over the
Board’s independent judgement.

Employeoas

Consultation with employees takes place through a number
of regional meetings throughout the year and an annual
staff survey. The aim is to ensure that employees’ views are
taken into account when decisions are made which are likely
to affect their interasts and that all employees are aware of
the genera! progress of their business units and of the
Group as a whole. To enhance communication within the
Group, a commiittee Is in place which is constituted of
regional members from all areas of the business with the
alm of improving consultation and communication levels.

Deborah Kemp is the Board's dedicated Non-Executive
Director for employee engagement and during tha year
Deborah has consulted with employees through online
meetings with the Company’s Senior Leadership Team,
visits to our businesses and regular reviews of the Group’s
monthly employee Net Promoter Score. The business has
further reviewed its monthly employee survey and additional
questions have been added to this to obtain more detailed
feedback frorn employees in addition to caleulating the
employee Net Promoter Score.

The Group regularly consults with, and sesks feedback from,
employees, and the Board monitors employee engagement.



Applications for employment by disabled people are always
fully considered, bearing in mind the respective aptitudes
and abilities of the spplicant concerned. In the event of
members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made
to ensure that their employment with the Group continues
and that appropriate training is arranged.

It is the policy of the Group that the training, career
development and promotion of a disabled persun should
be, as far as possible, identical to that of a person who does
not have a disability.

The Group operstes a Long-Term Incentive Plan for
Executive Directors and senior managers. Details are
included in note 11. The Group also has a Save As You Earn
scheme, now in its 14th year, under which employees are
granted an option to purchase Ordinary shares in the
Company in three years' time, dependant upon their
entering into a contract to make monthly contributions to

a savings account over the relevant period. These savings
are used to fund the option exercise value, The exercise
price in respect of options issued in the year was at a 20.0%
discount to the shares’ market value at the date of invitation.
The scheme is open to all UK Group employses, including
the Executive Directors. Details of the scheme are included
in the Remuneration Committee report on pages 83 to 93.

Directors' third-party Indemnity provision

A gualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined in
Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006 was in force during
the year and also at the consolidated and Company statement
of financial position date for the benefit of each of the Directors
in respect of habilities incurred as a result of their office with
the Company and any associated company to the extent
permitted by law. In respect of those liabilities for which
Directors may not be indemnified. the Company maintained
a Directors’ and Officers’ ("D&0O"} liability insurance policy
throughout the financial year.

Directors’ responsibllities statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Repert and Financial Statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors tc prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors are required to prepare the Group and Company
financial statements in accordance with internationat
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006. Under company law the
Directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true &nd fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the
profit or loss of the Company and the Group for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are
required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply
themn consistently:

» make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

> siate whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the
European Unicn have been followed, subject to any
materizl departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

> prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continua in business.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the

Annual Report provides information necessary to enable
shareholders 1o assass the Company's position, performance,
business model and strategy.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company
and the Group and enable thern to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the Company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

> the financial staterments, prepared In accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2008, give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and
profit of loss of the Company and the undertakings
included in the consclidation takan as a whole;

» the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the
position of the Company and the undertakings included
in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face; and

» the Annual Report and Financial Staterents, taken
as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information nacessary for shareholders
to assess the Company’s position and performance,
business model and strategy.
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Directors’ report continued

Disclosure of Information to auditor
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval
of this Annual Report and Financial Statements confirms that:

» so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

> the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to
have taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditor is aware cf that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the
Companies Act 20086.

Resolutions concerning the re-appoinrtment of Deloitte LLP
as auditor and authorising the Audit Committee to set its

remuneration will be proposed at the AGM.
— W

Company Secretary
22 September 2022
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)

The Group is required under the Streemlined Energy and
Carbon Reporting (SECR) reguiations to report how it
manages its energy consumption and carbon emissions and
has used a third-party consultant to advise on this and
support with the preparation of this SECR report. Since
2020, we have published our direct greenhouse gas (GHG)
ermissions from sources that are controlled or owned by the
Group (“Scope 17, indirect GHG emissions from the Group’s
consumption of purchased electricity ("Scope 27) and all
ernissions the Group is indirectly responsible for across its
value chain ("Scope 37),

Monitoring and reporting these emissions enables

us to evaluate and minimise our impact on the naturat
environment, which suppaorts us in our purpose to give the
best possible care to animals. We have taken strong actions
1o increase our eneigy efficiency and reduce any adverse
impact our business has on the planet.

Our energy efficlency actions

Increasing energy efficlency in our facllities

One of our strategic goals is to provide great facilities and
equipment, and a key part of this is to ensure our facilities
and operations are as energy efficient as possible.

We are currently working through an updated and detailed
asset survey of the Group's property portfolio in terms of
infrastructure and equipment. An output of this process will
be a reclassification of a number of our key investment
priorities. Using this information we intend to develop a
programme of investment to help improve our consumption
and monitoring capabilities. This will focus on, but not be
limited to:

» replacing our lighting infrastructure with LED/Energy
efficient products;

» targeted deployment of Smart meters particularly focused
on high consuming locations;

» the installation of further EV chargers at appropriate
locations across our estate; and

» installing energy saving equipment such as Passive
Infrared {PIR) detectors and other intelligent solutions.

A greener approach to transport

We have added a range of ultra-low emissions vehicles
{ULEV) to our company car list, as well as more hybrid and
Electric Vehicles (EV). All fossit fuel-reliant vehicles on the list
are capped to 130g CO, emissions. To support the future
increase in EV and hybrid vehicles, we have installed several
EV charging points at a range of our sites. We have also
installed charging points at our Wetherby and Diss support
office sites,

Using renewable sources

Since August 2021, all our veterinary practice sites across
the UK, the Neatherlands and the Republic of Ireland use
electricity from 100% renewable sources.

Reducing the energy consumed by our equlpment
All relocations and new builds are fitted with LED lights from
the outset, combined with PIR switches where apprepriate,
to ensure lights ate not left on for longer than required.

In our existing sites we continue 1o roll out an LED light
replacement programme which sees all bulbs which

expire across our estate being replaced with LEDs.

Where possible, all devices are set to hibernate after a short
period of idle time, for example display monitors, computers
and printers.

We have briefed our suppliers to supply only A-rated
appliances, such as refrigerators and washing equipment.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) continued

Our UK and offshore energy usage and carbon emissions

2022 20n
1C0.8 tCOe Change (%} Comments
Scope 1 8,539 4,862 75.8% The increase in these emissions arises

from a return to regular business transport
following the COVID-19 pandemic, as
business has begun to return to nermal,
particularly in our support offices in
Wetherby and Diss. Emissions from gas
hava decreased 7.2%.

Scope 2 2,619 2,840 -109% The reduction in these emissions arises
partly from the full-year impact of the
switch to renewable sources for all our UK
veterinary practices in January 2021 There
is a parual offset due to support office
workers returning to the office.

Scope 3 593 2 2955% The Group did not record grey fleet
mileage for the financial year ended 30
June 2021, however, we have implemented
a process to record this and therefore
emissions from grey fleet have been
included in 2022,

Total ernissions 1,750 7804 50.6%

Total energy volume (kwh) 55,227,876 38,928,681 4.9%

Intensity ratio (tCC.e 21.2 15.3 386% The intensity ratio has increased from the
per £m revenue) prior yeer, as a result of the prior year

impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which
only impacted part of the current year,

Methedology

The Group has taken guidance from the UK Gavernment's Environmental Reporting Guidelines {March 2019), the Greenhouse
Gas Protocol reporting standard, and the UK Government's Greenhouse Gas Conversion Factors for Company Reporting
document for calculating carbon emissians.

Energy usage information (gas and electricity) has been obtained diractly from the Group's energy suppliers and Half-Hourly
Automated Meter Reading (HM/AMR) data, where available, for those suppliers with HH/AMR meters. For suppliers where
energy usage data was not available for a full twelve months, flat profile estimation techniques were used to calculate the
annual consumption. With all landlord sites these have had to be estimated using similar-sized sites’ usage for gas and electricity.

Transport mileage data was cttained from expense claims submitted for our company cars and grey flest.

Exclusions

Transport mileage and/or fuel usage data was provided for the Group's and colleagues” owned vehicles. Grey fleet mileage
was included for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 but was not reccorded in the prior year comparative as the Group did
nct have methods in place for recording this mileage at that time.

CO,e emissions were calculated using the appropriate emission factors from the UK Government’s UK Greenhouse Cas
Conversion Factors and this is retained within the Group's data file for reference where required.

Normalisation
The Group has chosen to report gross Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions tonnes of CO, equivalent (tCO,e) per £m revenue as this is
a common metric used in corporate GHG reporting.

Approval
Authorised by order of the Board

ey

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary
22 September 2022

100 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financlal Statements 2022



Independent auditor’s report
To the members of CVS Group plc

Report on the audit of the financlal statements

1. Opinion
In our opinion:;

» the financial statements of CVS Group ple {the “parent
company”) and its subsidiaries {the “Group™) give a true
and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent
comparny’s affairs as at 30 June 2022 and of the Group's
profit for the year then ended;

» the Group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards;

» the parent company financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
adopted international accounting standards and as
applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006; and

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:
» the consolidated income statement;
» the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

» the consolidated and parent company statements
of financial position;

» the consolidated and parent company staterments
of changes in equity:

» the consolidated and parent company statements
of cash flow; and

» the related notes 1to 33.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
adopted international accounting standards and, as regards
the parent company financial statements, as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

2.Basls for opinlon

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (iSAs (UK})} and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial staternents section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the parent company in
accordasnce with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the
Financial Reporting Gouncil's (FRC) Ethical Standard as applied
to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

3.Summary of our audit appreach

Key audit The key audit matter that we identified
matters in the current year was:
> Revenue Recognition - Healthy Pet Club
This is a similar level of risk to the prior year.
Materiality  The materiglity that we used for the Group
financial statements was £3.0m (2021: £2.5m)
which was determined by reference to a
range of income statement measures.
Scoping Our audit comprised of two components
subject 1o full-scope audits and a further 13
components subject to audit procedures
on specified account balances. The
remainder of the Group was subject
to review procedures only.
Significant  There have been no significant changes
changes o our audit approach in the current year.
inour
approach

L. Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that
the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting

in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Qur evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group's
and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting included:

> Assessment of the financing facilities available to Group,
including repayment terms and likelihooed of breaching
financial covenants;

» Fvaluation of the assumptions used in the forecasts such
as revenue growth, gross margin changes and cash flow
movements, and whether these are appropriate in line
with historical performance;

> Assessment of the level of headroom in the financing
facilities under the base case forecast;

» Assessment of the arithmetical accuracy of the forecast
model confirming consistent calculations are used
throughout, using internal software;

> Assessment of the historical accuracy of forecasts through
comparing actual performance to forecast, to assess the
historic accuracy of forecasts prepared by management;

> Assessment of the reverse stress test scenario performed
by management, and consideration of whether the
adverse vanance in cash flows reguired to produce a
covenant breach represents a remote possibility: and

» Assessrnent of the appropriateness of the going concemn
disclosures in the financial statements.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

k.Conclusions relating to geing concern continued

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and parent company’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In relation to the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nathing material
to add or draw attention to in relation to the Directors’ statement In the financial statements about whether the Directors
considered It appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

QOur responsibllities and the responsibilities of the Directars with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

5.Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in cur professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current year and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether
or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the afforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1. Healthy Pet Club — Revenue Recagnition

Key audit The Group earns revenue via the Healthy Pet Club (HPC) scheme whereby customers sign up for a

matter monthly or annual direct debit arrangerment in exchange for a program of preventative products and

description  treatments. The Group recognised £67.3m (2021: £60.2m) of HPC revenue during the year and has
approximately 470,000 (2021: 450,000} active members as at the year-end.

The revenue recognition for this scheme is judgemental since IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” raquires revenue to be recorded either at a point in time or over time according to when the
performance obligation Is satisfied, which in the case of HPC revenue Is not aligned to the timing of cash
receipts due ta the weighting of treatments towards the earlier months of the scheme. Revenue must also
be adjusted for anticipated animat deaths (whereby outstanding fees will be waived} and irmecoverable
debts. Additional adjustments are also required where a customer does not receive their treatment during
the scheduled month, due tc various factors.

The Group's accounting policy is to record revenue according to the cost profile associated with providing
the services offerad in the scheme. as disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements, and due to the
complexities outlined above there is & risk that revenue recognition is not in accordance with {FRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers,

How the In response to the key audit matter, we performed the following procedures:

Zz?';zgift > Tested management’s controls around HPC revenue recognition;

responded » Assessed the appropriateness of accruing revenue according to the cost profile of treatments offered,
to the key incluging adjustments to delay revenue recognition where treatrments are missed, in line with the

audit matter requirements of [FRS 15;
» Tested the sccuracy and compieteness of the membership data that drives the HPC revenue calculation;

> Tested the accuracy and completeness of the underlying data of the assumed cost profiles for the
different types of pet that can be added to the scheme;

» Performed a reconcifiation of amounts due from customers to cash receipts in bank statements,
for a sample of months;

> Performed a recalculation of accrued revenue based onmember data and assumed cost profiles;

> Performed a recalculation of revenue subsequently deferred due 10 missed treatments, based on
operational and sales data used to estimate the level of missed treatments occurring across the Group; and

» Criticelly assessed assumptions around animal deaths and cancellations through comparison and
benchmarking against direct debit collection rates and operational data around animal life expectancy.

Key Based on the audit procedures performed, we concluded that revenue recognition in respact of the HPC
observations is appropriate.
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6.0ur application of materiality

é.1. Materlality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the
economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality
bath in planning the scope of aur audit work and in evaluating the resutts of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materlality for the financial statermnents as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Materiality £3.0m (2021: £2.5m) £2.3m (2021: £2.3m)

Basis for determining 3.9% (2021: 3.8%) of adjusted pre-tax profit. 1.5% (2021: 1.5%) of net assets.
materiality

Rationale for the We have considered both adjusted pre-tax As a holding company, net assets were
benchmark applied profit of £75.5m (2021: £66.2m} and revenue  considered the most relevant benchmark

of £654.2m (2027 £510.1m). where adjusted to users of the parent company

pre-tax profit is calculated as profit before tax  financial statements.

adjusted for amortisation, costs associated

with business combinations and exceptional

items. These are the metrics that are deemed

to be of most importance to stakeholders, as

disclosed within Note 1.

Group materiality

£3.0m
Adjusted PBT Component
£75.5m materiality range
EOQ.8m to £1.9m
Adjusted PBT Audit Committee
Group matsriality reporting threshold
£015m

6.2. Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a [evel lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected
and undetected misstaiements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Performance
materlality 70% (2021. 70%) of Group materiality. 70% (2021: 70%) of parent company materiality.
Basls and rationale We have assessed the guzlity of the Group's The assessment at 8 Group level is alsa
for determining overall control environment, as wefl as the low  appiicable for the parent company, also noting
performance volume of corrected and uncorrected that minimal entries are made in the parent
materiality misstatements in the previous audit. company reducing the risk of material

misstatement.

6.3. Error reporting threshold

We agread with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £150k (2021
£125k) a5 well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on guglitative grounds. We also report
to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial
staternents.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

7. An overview of the scope of our audlt

7.1. identification and scoping of components

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including Group-wide
controls, and assessing the risks of material misstaternent.

We have focused our work on the UK-based subsidiaries which account for the majority of the Group's revenus, expenses
and net assets. We have subjected two components te full-scope audits and a further thirteen components to audits of
specified account balances, which covers 84% of revenue, 85% of expenses and 91% of net assets. The remainder of the
Group, including all compoenents located overseas in the Republic of Ireland and the Netherlends, were subject to review
procedures only. All audit work was carried out by the UK engagement team, with no reliance of components auditors.
Testing was performed to component materiality ranging from £0.7m to £1.8m (2021; £0.8m to £1.5rm).

16% 15% 9%

Revenue Expenses Net assets

22% 62% 19% 56% 1%

Fullaudit scape  Specified audit procedures  Review at Group level

7.2. Our cunsideration of the contrel environment

We have not relied on controls in the current year. During the course of the audit, we have performed testing around
selected revenue controls and relevant IT systems, and communicated a number of observations and recommendations
to management, in anticipation of adopting a controls reliance approach for material revenue streams in future years.

8. Other informuatlen
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information contained within the Annual Report.

Cur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial staternents or our knowledge cbtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.

if we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether
this gives rige to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a rmaterial misstaterment of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial staterments and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal controf as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to geoing concern and using the gaing
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic atternative but to do so.
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10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will
always detect a2 material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor's report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered
capable of detecting Irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud.
The extent 1o which our procedures are capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

111. Identifying and assessing potential risks related

to Irregulorities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in
respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance
with laws and regulations, we considered the following:

» the nature of the industry and sector, control environment
and business performance including the design of the
Group’s remuneration policies, key drivers for Directors’
remuneration, bonus fevels and performance targets;

» the Group's own assessment of the risks that irregularities
may occur either as a result of fraud or error:

v

results of our enquiries of management and the audit
committee about their own identification and assessment
of the risks of irregularities;

> any matters we ideniified having obtained and reviewed
the Group’s documentation of their policies and
procedures relating to:

> identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and
regulations and whether they weare aware of any
instances of non-compliance

» detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and
whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected
or zlleged fraud

» the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud
or non-compliance with laws and regulations

» the matters discussed among the audit engagement team
and relevant internal specialists, including tax, valuations
and IT specizlists regarding how and where fraud might
occur in the financial statements and any potential
indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the
opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential
for fraud in the following area: Revenue Recognition -
Healthy Pet Club. In common with all audits under (SAs (UK),
we are also required to perform specific procedures to
respond to the risk of managsment override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and
regulatory frameworks that the Group operates in, focusing
on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct
effect on the determination of material amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and
regulations we considered in this context included the
Companies Act, AIM listing rules, corporate governance
code, pensions legislation and tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and
regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial
statements but compliance with which may be fundamental
to the Group's ability to operate or to avoid a material
penalty. These included the Group's compliance with the
RCVS regulations applicable to all praciices and qualified
nurses, GDPR, Veterinary Surgeons Act 1966, Animed
Welfare Act 2006, Veterinary Medicines Regulations 2013
and The Animal Act 1986.

11.2. Audlt response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified Revenue
Recognition - Healthy Pet Club as a key audit matter related
to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section
of aur report exglains the matter in more detail and also
describes the specific procedures we performed in
response to that key audit matter.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks
identified included the following:

» reviewing thefinancial statement disclosures and testing
10 supporting documentation to assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as
having a direct effect on the financial statements;

» enquiring of management, the audit committee and
external legal counsel concerning actual and potentizl
litigation and claims;

» performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual
or unexpacted relationships that may indicate risks of
matsrial misstatement due to fraud;

> reading minutes of meetings of those charged with
governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing
correspondence with the Health and Safety Excecutive
(HSE) and the Royal College of Veterinary Services (RCVS):

> reviewing the disclosures in the Audit Committee Report
on pages 79 and 80; and
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Independent auditor’s report continued

11. Extent to which the oudit was considered

capable of detecting irregularities, Including fraud

continued

11.2. Audit response to risks identified continued

> in addressing the risk of fraud through management
ovenide of controls, testing the appropriateness of joumal
entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the
judgements made in making accounting estimates are
indicativa of a potontial blas; and evaluating the business
rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual
or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identfied laws and
regulations and potentiel fraud risks to all engegement team
members including internal specialists, and remained alert
to ary indications of fraud or non-compliances with laws and
reguilations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory
requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the

Companles Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course

of the audit:

» the information given in the strategic report and the
Directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements; and

> the strategic report and the Directors’ report have been

prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.,

Ir1 the light of the knowledge and understanding of the
Group and the parent company and their environment
obtalned in the course of the audit, we have not identified
any meterial misstatermnents in the strategic report or the
Directors’ report.

13. Corporate Governance Statement

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have
concliuded that each of the following elements of the
Corporate Governance Statement is materially consistent
with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained
during the audit:

> the Dhrectors’ staterment with regards to the
appropriateness of adopting the galng concern besis of
accounting and any materiel uncertainties identified set
out on pages 95 and 96:

> the Directors” explanation &s to its assessment of the
Group's prospects, the period this assessment covers and
why the period is appropriate set out an pages 85 and 96;

» the Directors’ statament on being fair, balanced and
understandabile set out on page 97;

> the Board's confirmation that it has carried out a robust
assessment of the emerging end principal risks set out on
page 95;
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> the section of the Annual Report that describes the review
of effectiveness of risk management and internal control
gystems set out on page 77; and

» the saction describing the work of the audit committee
set out on pages 79 and 80.

4. Matters on which we are required to report
by excaption

th.1. Adequucy of explanations recelved and
accounting records

Under the Companies Act 2008 we are required to report
to you i, in our opinion:,

> wa have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit: or

» adenquate accounting records have not been kept by the
parent compary, or returns adeguate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

»> the parent company financial statements are not in
agreemant with the accounting records and retums.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

1.2, Directors’ remunaration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to
report if in our opinion certain disclosures of Directors’
remuneration have not baen made.

Wa have nothing to report in respect of this matter.

15. Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members,

as a body, in accardance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undsitaken
so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an suditot’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do nat accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report,

or for the opintons we have formed.

Paul Schofleld FCA (Senlor Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloftte LLP
Statutory Audhtor

Cambridge, United Kingdom
22 Septembar 2022



Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2022 20m
Note £m £Em
Revenue 4 554.2 5101
Cost of sales (315.0) (288.2)
Gross profit 2391 2219
Administrative expenses {186.3) (181.8)
Oparating profit 42.8 401
Finance expense (3] (6.8) {70)
Profit before tax 4 36.0 331
Tax expense 9 (10.3) (13.8)
Profit for the year 257 193
Earnings per Ordinary share (EPS)
Basic 10 36.2p 27.3p
Diluted 10 35.9p 27p

All activities derive from continuing operations.

Reconciliation of aternative performance measures
The Directors believe that adjusted measures, being adjusted EBITDA, adjusted PBT and adjusted EPS provide additional useful information
for sharehelders. These measures are used by the Board and management for planning, internal reporting and setting Director and
management remuneration. In addition, they are used by the investor analyst community and are aligned to our strategy and KPls. These
rmeasures ere not defined by IFRS end therefare may not be directly comparable with other companies’ adjusted measures.

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by reference to profit before tax, adjusted for interest {net finance expense), depreciation, amortisation,
costs relating to business combinations and exceptional items, The following table provides the calculation of adjusted EBITDA:

2022 202
Alternative performence measure: adjusted EBITDA Note £m £m
Profit before income tax 36.0 a3
Adjustments for:
Finance exgense g a8 70
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 222 238
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 na 103
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and nght-of-use assats {0.3) -
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-1ise assets 14 141 140
Costs relating to business combinations' 4 4.9 93
Excaptionaliterns? 16 12.4 —
Adjustad EBITDA 4 107.4 975
Adjusted earnings per share (EPS):
Adjusted EPS (o) 85.8p Tolp
Dibtad adjusted EPS 10 85.0p J46p

1
2

Includas amounts paid in respect of acquisitions in prior vz rs expansad 1o the income statement,

Exceptional ttems relate to imparmant in relation to Quabty Pet Care Ltd, refer 1o note 18

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2022 | 107

quewsMg msunuly



Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2021

Note £m £m

Profit for the year 257 193
Other comprehensive income ~ items thst will or may be reclassified to profit or loss
in future periods
Cash flow hedges:

Net movement on cash flow hedge 28 09

Cost of hedging reserve (0.1) (04)
Deferred tax on cash flow hedge and available-for-sale financial assets 25 (07} on
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (01) (07
Cther comprehensive income/{expensa) for the year. net of tax 19 (03)
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the parent 276 180
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Consolidated and Company statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2022

Company registration number. 06312831

Group Group Company Compsany

2022 3021 2022 2021
Note £m £m £m Em
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 12 2i6.5 2284 - -
Property, plant and equipment 13 69.7 574 - —
Right-of-use assets 14 1017 972 — —
Investments 16 01 01 739 716
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 33 - — 79.4 823
Derivative financia! instruments 17 2.3 — — —
390.3 3833 163.3 1538
Currant assets
Inventories 19 26.2 195 — -
Trade and other receivables 20 527 481 - -
Current tax receivable - o1 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 21 49.0 337 — -
127.9 1014 - -
Total assets 4 518.2 4845 153.3 1539
Curront llabilitles
Trade and other payables 22 (86.6) 86.0) — —
Provisions 23 21) (3.9) — -
Lease lighilities 14 (9.4) {8.6) - —
Current tax liabilities (3.3) — —

(101.4) (98.5) - —

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 24 (84.3) {839) - -
Lease liabilities 14 (95.1) (20.2) - —
Derivative financial instruments 17 — (0.4) - —
Deferred tax liabilities 25 {20.0} {204) — -
(199.4) {194.9) —_ —
Total liahilities 4 {300.8) (293.4) — -
Net assets 174 1911 163.3 1539
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 26 01 01 01 o
Share pramium 27 105.4 1031 105.4 1031
Capital redemption reserve 0.6 06 0.6 06
Cash flow hedge reserve 16 (05) - -
Cost of hedging reserve — o)l — —
Marger reserve (61.4) (a61.4) - —
Retained earnings 711 1491 47.2 501
Total equity 2174 1911 163.3 153.8

The Company reported a total comprehensive loss for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 of £0.6m (2021; £0.5m).
The notes on pages 114 to 150 are an integral part of these consclidated and Company financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 107 to 150 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 September 2022
and were signed on its behalf by:

s —

Richard Falrman Robin Alfonso
Director Diractor
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 June 2022

Captal Cash flow Costof
Share Share redemption  Treasury hedge  hedging Merger  Retained Total
CBD\[EJ pramium rasene resarve raserve reserve reserve sﬂrnings unitv
Nate £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At1 July 201 01 1031 06 — (D.5) X} (61.4) 1491 1911
Profit for the year -~ — - — — — — 257 257
Other comprehensive income
and losses
Cash flow hedges:
Fair value income/(loss) — — — - 28 (o) — — 27
Deferred tax on cash flow hedge and
available-for-sale financial assets — — - — ()} - - — [(o])]
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations — - — — — - — (X)) on
Total other comprehensive Income/
(loss) — - - - 21 {01 — Q1) 19
Total comprehensive income/(loss) — — — — 21 (Qn — 258 216
Transactions with owners
issue of Crdinary shares 26 — 23 - — - - — - 23
Credit to reserves for share-based
payments 1 - — — — — — — 23 23
Deferred tax relating to share-based
payments 25 — — — — — — — (1.3} (1.3
Dividends to equity holders of the
Company 26 — — — — - - —_ (4.6) {4.6)
Total transactions with owners — 23 — — - — — (3.6) (1.3)
At 30 June 2022 0.1 1054 0.6 — 1.6 — {814 1mna N74
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Capital Cash flow Cost of
Share Shere redamption  Treasury hadge  hedging Merger  Reteined Total
capital premium rasserve reserve regerve reserve resarve samings aquity
Note £m £Em Em Em £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 July 2020 01 1019 06 {C.3) (1.4) 05 (614) 1266 166.6
Profit for the year — - - — — — — 19.3 19.3
Other comprehensive income
and losses
Cash flow hedges:
Fair value income/f{loss) — - — — 09 G4 - - 05
Deferred tax on cash flow hedge
and available-for-sale financial assets - — — — - - — (on ()]
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations — —_ - - — — — (07} {C.7)
Total other comprehensive
{loss)/income — — — — 09 (0.4) — (0.8) {0.3)
Total comprehensive income/{loss) — — - — 09 {04) — 185 19.0
Transactions with owners
Issue of Ordinary shares 26 - 12 — — — — — — 12
Disposal of treasury reserve 26 — — — 0.3 — — - — 03
Credit to raserves for
share-based payments m - - — — - - - 22 22
Deferred tax relating to
share-based payments 25 - - — — — — — 18 1.8
Total transactions with owners — 12 — 0.3 — — — 40 55
At 30 June 2021 01 1031 Q6 — (0.5) 01 (61.4) 1481 1911
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Capital

Shara Share redemption Retained Torai

capital Premiurn resarve earnings auity

Note £m £m £m £m Em

At 1 July 2021 (o} 1031 06 501 1539
Total comprehensive |oss for the year — — — {08) (08

Transactions with owners
Issue of Ordinary shares 26 — 23 — — 23
Credit to reserves for share-based payments 1 - —_ - 23 23
Dividends to equity holders of the Cempany 26 - — - (48) (46)
Total transactions with owners - 23 — {2.3) —_
At 30 June 2022 0 105.4 06 472 163.3
Capital

Sharg Share redemption Retained Jotal

capital premium reserve earnings equity

Note £m £m £rm £m £m

At 1 July 2020 o) 1018 086 AB.4 1510
Total comprehensive loss for the year — — - (05) (05)

Transactions with owners

Issue of Ordinary shares 26 — 12 — — 1.2
Credit to reserves for share-based payments 1 -— — - 22 22
Dividends to equity holders of the Company 26 - - - — -
Tatal transactions with owners — 12 - 22 34
At 30 June 2021 o1 1031 0B 501 1539
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Consolidated and Company statement of cash flow

for the year ended 30 June 2022

Group Group Company Compary
2022 2021 2022 207
Note £m £m £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from/{used in) operations 29 931 803 23 (L2
Taxation peid 1.2) (13.0) - —
Interest paid (6.4) (71} — —
Net cash generated from/{used in) operating activities 75.5 60.2 23 (1.2}
Cash flows from investing activities
Business combinations {net of cash acquired) 15 (8.4) {19.4) - —
Purchase of property, plant and eguipment 13 {23.0) {168.1) - —
Proceeds from sale of property. plant and equipment 0.2 06 - -
Purchase of intangible assets 12 (1.5} (0.5) — —
Purchase of other investments 16 {21.4) — -— -
Proceeds from sale of other investments 16 9.0 — — —
Net cash used in investing activities {45.1) (354) — _
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid 26 {4.6) — (4.6) -
Proceeds from issue of Ordinary shares 26 23 1.2 23 12
Proceeds from sale of Treasury shares 26 - 03 — -
Repayrment of obligations under right-of-use assets {12.7) (13.0) - —
Repayment of borrowings 28 (o) (in - -—
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (153) {126} (2.3) 12
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 15.3 12.2 — -
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the vear 337 215 - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 49.0 337 — —
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022

1. General information

The principal activity of CVS Group plc, together with its subsidiaries (“the Group®). is to operate veterinary practices,
complementary veterinary diagnostic businesses, pet crematoria and an online pharmacy and retail business. The principal
activity of CVS Group plc ("the Campany”) is that of a holding company.

CVS Group plc is a public limited company incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 and domiciled in England end
Wales and its shares are quoted on AIM of the London Stack Exchange ("CVSG"). Its company registration number is
06312831 and registered office is CVS House, Owen Road, Diss, IP22 4ER.

Use of alternative parformance measures

Adjusted EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amartlsation), adjusted profit before tax (adjusted PBT)
and adjusted earnings per share (adjusted EPS)

The Directors believe that adjusted measures, being adjusted EBITDA, adjusted PBT and adjusted EPS provide additional
useful information for shareholders. These measures are used by the Board and management for planning, internal
reparting and setting Director and management remuneration. In addition, they are used by the investor analyst cormmunity
and are aligned to aur strategy and KPis. These measures are not defined by International Financial Reporting Standards
{IFRS) and therefara may not be directly comparable with other companies’ adjusted measures. They ara not intended to be
a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measurements of profit or earnings per share.

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by reference to profit before tax, adjusted for interest (net finance expense), depreciation,
amortisation, costs relating to business combinations and exceptional itams.

Adjusted PBT is calculated as profit before tax, amortisation, costs relating 1o business combinations and exceptional items.

Adjusted EPS is calculated as adjusted profit before tax, less appiicable tax, divided by the weighted average number of
Ordinary shares in issue in the period.

The following table provides the calculation of adjusted EBITDA as defined above:

2022 2021
Alternative performance measure: adjustad EBITDA Note £m £m
Profit before income tax 36.0 331
Adjustments for:
Finance expense 5 6.8 70
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 222 238
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 1.3 103
pProfit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (0.3) —
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 4 141 140
Costs relating to business combinations' 4 4.9 93
Exceptional items? 16 12.4 -
Adjusted EBITDA 4 1074 a75
Adjusted earnings per share (EPS):
Adjusted EPS (pence) 10 85.8 751
Diluted adjusted EPS (pence) 10 85.0 746
1. Includes amounts paid in raspect of acquisitions In prior years expensed to the income statement.
2. Exceptional tems reiate to irmpairment in relation 1o Quality Pet Care Ltd, rafer to note 16.
The reconciliations for adjusted PBT and adjusted EPS can be found in note 10
Net debt
Net debt is calculated as bank borrowings less gross cash and cash equivalents and unamortised borrowing caosts.
2022 207
Note £m £m
Borrowings repayable after more than one year
Loan facility 85.0 850
Unamortised borrowing costs c.7) {1
Total borrewings 24 84.3 839
Cash and cash equivalents 21 (49.0) (337
Net debt 35.3 50.2
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1. General information continued

Use of alternative performance madasures continued

Like-for-like sales

Like-for-like sales shows revenue generated from like-for-like operations compared to the prior year, adjusted for the number
of working days. For example, for a practice acquired in September 2020, revenue is included from September 2021 in the
like-for-like calculations.

2. Summary of significant accounting policles

Basis of preparation

The consolidated and Company financial statements of CVS Group plc have been prepared in accordance with international
accounting standards and in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The consolidated financial staterments have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention,
except for certain financial instruments and share-based payments that have been measured at fair value. At the year end the
Group had cash balances of £49.0m and an unutilised overdraft facility of £5.0m, Total facilities of £170.0m are available to support
the Group's organic and acquisitive growth initiatives over the coming years, comprising a term loan of £85.0m and an unutilised
revolving credit facility of £85.0m. The Group is fully compliant with all covenants in respect of these facilities. The Directors
consider that the £5.0rn overdraft and the £170.0m facility enable the Group to meet all current liabilities as they fall due. The Group
is not reliant on any Government support. Since the year end, the Group has continued 1o trade profitably and to generate cash.
After consideration of market conditions, the Group’s financial position (including the leve! of headroom available within the bank
facilites), financial forecasts, its profite of cash generation and the timing and amount of bank bomrowings repayable, principal risks,
and considering the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) scenario analysis conducted, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For
this reason, they continue to adopt the going concemn basis in preparing these financial statements.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all years presented in these
financial statements. The accounting policies which follow relate o the Group and are applied by the Company as appropriate.

Critlcal accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are bekieved to be reasonable under the
cireumstances, the results of which form a basis for making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readity apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects that period, or in the period of
the revision and future pericds if the revision affects both current and future periods. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in
making assumptions and estimates, actual outcomes will differ from those assumptions and estimates.

Judgement: Leases
Management exercises judgement in determining the likelihood of exercising break or extension options in determining
the lease term.

When determining the lease term in accordance with IFRS 16, ‘Leases’, paragraphs 18-21, managsment has applied the
following policy for all leases:

a) for properties in contract, the lease term has been determinad o be the pariod to the end of the contractual lease term;

b) for properties out of contract and therefore occupied on a rolling basis in accordance with legislation that permits this,
the lease term has been determined tc be 7.5 years from the end of the contractual lease term; and

¢} for properties where management has committed to close the site, the lease term is determined to be until the next break clause.
Refer to note 14 for additional disclosures related to leases.

Accounting estimate: Resecrch and Development Expenditure Tax Credit (RDEC)

The Group has recognised £2.0m (2021: £2.0m} income in relation to claims made by the Group under HM Revenue & Customs
(+IMRC} RDEC scheme in respect of costs relating to qualifying research and development (R&D) activities. The income is recognised
when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the refevant conditions of the scheme and that the tax credits
will be received, which can be some time after the original expense is incurred. The Group's assessment of eligible expenditure and
qualifying activities must align with the definition of R&D for RDEC purposes. The Group has considered the facts and circumstances
relating to each company’s claim in order to make a judgerment as to whether compliance is reasonably assured and therefore
receipt is reasonably certain. The Group has applied an estimated discount to the gross claims of £4.1m (2021: £3.9rm) submitted to
HMRC in the period and recognised £21m (2021: £1.9m), The aggregate amaount unrecogrised at 30 June 2022 amounted  £4.0m
(2021: £1.9m). The unrecognised amount of £4.0m, will be recognised when uncertainty has been removed either via formal
acceptance of the claims or the expiry of the enquiry windows, which should occur in the year ended June 2023.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Changes In accounting policles and disclosure

Standards adopted by the Group for the first time

Two new and revised standards, including the following, are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021:

» Amendment to IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ - COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions Beyend 30 June 2021
» Amendments to IFRS 9, 1AS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2
Adogtion of these standards has not had an impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Standards and interpretations to existing standards which are not yet effective and are under review as to their impact

on the Group

The following standards and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Group's
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2022 or later periods but which the Group has not early adopted:

» Amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ - Proceeds Before Intended Use (effactive 1 January 2022)
> Annuzl Improverments to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 (effective 1 January 2022)

» Amendments to IFRS 3 - Reference to the Conceptual Framework (effective 1 January 2022)

> Amendments to IAS 37 - Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (effective 1 January 2022)

> Amendments to IFRS 17, ‘Insurance Contracts’ (effective 1 January 2023}

> Amendments 10 1AS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (effective 1 January 2023)

> Amendments tc IAS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates (effective 1 January 2023)

» Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Staterment 2 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective 1 January 2023)

> Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (effective
1January 2023}

The consolidated financial statements include the financial information of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings
as at and for the year ended 30 June 2022.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The results of companies and businesses acquired are
included in the consolidated income statement from the date control passes. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases. Where the Group does not control a subsidiary, it is not consolidated. On acquisition of a company or
business, all assets and liabilities that exist at the date of acquisition are recorded at their fair values, reflecting their
condition at that date. Changes that arise during the measurement period that inform about conditions at the date of the
acquisition are adjusted via goodwill, and changes that atise after the measurement period, are credited or charged to the
income statement.

Intra-group transactions and profits are eliminated fully on consalidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
aligned to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker
(CODM). The CODM has been determined to be the Board of Directors, as it is primarily responsible for the allocation of
resources to segments and the assessment of the performance of segments, The Group has four operating segments:
Veterinary Practices, Laborataries, Crematoria and Online Retzil Business. Further details of the Group's operating segments
are pravided in note 4 wo the financial statements.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combinatior is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred hy the Group and liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree. Acguisition
related costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred. At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.

Goodwilll is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment. the net of the acquisition date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the excess is
recagnised immediately in the income statement as a bargain purchase gain.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Business combinations continued

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes an asset or liability rasulting from

a contingent or deferred consideration arrangement, this additional consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferrad in a business combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent
or deferred consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with cotresponding
adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period’ {which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. Contingent or deferred consideration that is classified as an asset or

a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’, or 1AS 37, ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding
gain or loss being recognised in the income statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost {being the purchase cost, together with any incidental costs of acquisition)
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed annually, and adjusted as appropriate. Depreciation is provided so as to write off the cost of propaerty, plant and
equipment, less their estimated residual values, over the expected useful economic lives of the assets in equal annual
instalments &t the following principal rates:

Freehold buildings 2% straight line

Leasehold improvements Straight line over the life of the lease
Fixtures, fittings and equioment  20%-33% straight line

Motor vehicles 25% straight line

Freeheld land is not depreciated on the basis that it has an unlimited life.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it ts probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All ather repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial year in which
they are incurred.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

With the exception of the acquisition of CVS {UK) Limited, which was accounted for using the principles of merger accounting,
all business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Goodwill arising on acquisitions that have
occurred since 1 July 2004 is stated after separate recognition of intangible assets and represents the difference between the
fair value of the purchase consideration and the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets of an acquired
entity. In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 July 2004 goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents
the amount recorded under previous Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, and is subject to annual impairment testing.

Patient dato records and trode names

Acquired patient data records and trade names are recognised as intangible assets at the fair value of the consideration paid
to acquire them and are carried at historical cost less provisions for amortisation and impairment. The fair value attributable
1o these items acquired through a business combination is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows to

be generated from that asset at the risk-adjusted post-tax weighted average cost of capital for a market participant. The
residual values are assumed to be £nil. Patient data records and trade names are reviewed for impairment if conditions exist
that indicate a review is required. Amortisation Is provided so as to write off the cost over the expected economic lives of
the asset in equal instalments at the following principal rates:

Patient data records 10% per annum
Trade names 10% per annum
Amartisation is charged to administrative expenses.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring into use the
specific software These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of three vears and charged to administrative
expenses. Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognised as incurred.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policles continued

Impairment of non-current assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for impairment. Assets

that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amcunt.

As permitted by IAS 36, ‘Impairment of Assets’, for the purposss of assessing impairment, individual cash-generating units
(CGUs) are grouped at a lavel consistent with the Graup's operating segments. Recoverable amounts for CGUs are based
on value in use, which is calculated from cash flow projections using data from the Group’s latest internal forecasts, being

a one-year detailed forecast and extrapolated forecasts thereafter, the results of which are approved by the Board. The

key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations are those regarding discount rates and growth rates. The Group has
considered the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclesures (TCFD) scenatio analysis conducted in undertaking this
assessment and concluded no changes were required to the Group's accounting policies, estimates or judgements in this area.

in respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does
nat exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised. Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed.

Inventories

inventories comprise goods held for resale and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a first in, first cut
basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less costs expected to be incurred on disposal. Where
necessary, a provision is made for obsolete, slow rmoving or defective inventery.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group's consolidated and Company statement of financial
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is recognised if
there are considered to be expected credit losses. The amount of expected credit losses is updeated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. Losses arising from impairment are recognised
in the income statement within administration expenses.

Investments

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-far-sale investments in equity instruments that have

a quoted market price sre recognised directly in other comprehensive income (*fair value through other comprehensive
income” (FYTOCI)) until the security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, &t which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is included in the net result for the year.

In accordance with IFRS 9, available-for-sale investrments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost. The Group assesses at each
year-end whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets Is impaired.

Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised in the income statement when the Group's right
to receive payment is established.

In the Company's financial statemants, investments in subsidiary undertakings are initially stated at cost. Provision is made
for any permanent impairmeant in the value of these investments.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial lisbilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into. Financial liabilities are obligations ta pay cash or other financial assets and are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial lizbilities are recorded initially at fair value and
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest related charges recognised as an expense
in finance cost in the income statement. A financial liability is derecognised only when the abligation is extinguished. An
equity instrument is any contract that gives a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Financial Instruments continued

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded as the proceeds received, net of associated transaction
costs. Subseguent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between
cost and redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabitities uriess the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlerment
of the liability for at least twelve manths after the consolidated end Company statement of financial position date.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are recognised initially at fair value and subseguently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Equity instrumants
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds recsived, net of direct issue costs.

Darivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group uses derlvative financial instruments to hedae its exposure to interest rate risks arising from financing activities.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes; however, if derivatives do not gualify
for hedge accounting they are accounted for as such.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fair value. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is
determined by reference to market values for similar finrancial instruments, by discounted cash flows, or by the use of option
valuation models. The fair value of interest rate swap arrangements is calculated as the present value of the estimated future
cash flows. Where derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses on remeasurement are immediately
recognised in the income statement.

Where derivatives guslify for hedge accounting. recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the
hedge reiationship and the iterm being hadged.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged iterns,
as well as Its risk management objectives, the strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions, the nature of the risks
being hedged and the economic relationship between the item being hedgad and the hedging instrument. The Group also
documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether or not the derivatives that are
used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged itemns.

The fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the rernaining maturity of the
hedged Item is more than twelve months and as a current asset or ligbility when the remaining maturity of the hedged item
is less than twelve months.

Cash flow hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when they hedge the Group’s expasure to variability in
cash fiows that are either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probabile
forecasted transaction.

The effective element of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is
recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
the incorme statement where material. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods
when the hedged item affects the income statement. The classification of the effective portion when recognised in the
income statement is the same as the classification of the hedged transaction. Any element of the remeasurement of the
derivative instrument which does not meet the criteria for an effective hedge is recognised immediately in the income
statement within finance costs.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or whan a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, eny
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the income statement when the
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income staternent. When a forecast transaction is no {onger expected
to oceur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity 18 immediately transferred to the income statemaent.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits with maturities of three months or less from inception,
Bank overdrafts that are repayable cn demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated and Company statement of cash flow.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued
Current and deferred tax
The tax expenss represents the sum of the current tax payable, deferred tax and any adjustments in respect of previous periods.

The current tax payable Is based on taxable profit for the yesr. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
income staternent because it excludes some iterns of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes iterns that are never taxable or tax deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated on the basis
of tax laws and tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the consclidated and Company statement of
financial position date. Management periodically evaluales positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to Interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities used in computation of taxable profits and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax is not accounted for If it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting ner taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is determined using tax
rates {(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated and Company statement of financial
position ciate and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is reallsed or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Current and deferred tax is charged or credited in the income staternent, except where it relates to items charged or
credited directly to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or equity respectively.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differances can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on either
the taxable entity or different taxable entities whare there is an intention to sett/e the balances on a net basis, or to reafise
the asset and settle the liahility simuitaneously.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured in accordance with relevant accounting stendards. For all cantracts within the scope of IFRS 15,
'‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, the Group determines whether enforceable rights and obligations have been
created with the customer and recognises revenue based on total transaction price as estirnated at the contract inception,
being the amount which the Group expects ta be entitled to and has pressnt enforceable rights under contract. Revenue is
allocated proporticnately across the contract performance obligations and recegnised either over time or at a point in time
as appropriate.

Service revenue

Revenue represents sales of veterinary services, iaberatory diagnostic services and crematoria services which are
recognised in accordance with IFRS 15, at the point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied. Revenue is
recognised when the veterinary consuiltation, veterinary procedure, laboratory test or cremation is completad.

Members of customear membership schemes, for example the Healthy Pet Club, pay annually or monthly subscription fees
and recelve preventative consultations and treatments over a twelve-month periad, being the life of the contract. Annual
subscription fees are received annually in advance and manthly subscription fees are recelved evenly over & twelve-month
period. Revenue is recognised in line with the cost profile of individual performance obligations as they are completed in
accordance with the contract and not in line with the receipt of subscription fees. For the majority of customers who pay
monthly this results in revenue recognised in advance of cash received as performance obligations are weighted towards
the beginning of the twelve-month contract.

The adjustments are made through deferred and accrued income and the contract asset and contract liability for this are
shown in note 20 and note 22, respectively. Revenue is recognised net of the provision to reflect cancellations as a result of
animal deaths, due to our policy not to invoice our custarners in such an event. The provision is calculated based on historical
membership data. All other cancellations are accounted for as an impairment of receivables within administration expenses.

Products
Revenue relating to the sale of veterinary products is recognised according to the terms of sale, at tha point in time when
the perfoarmance cbligations are satisfied.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policles continusd

Rebates recelved from manufocturers

Consistent with standard industry practice, the Group has agreements with suppliars whereby volume related allowances
and various cther fess are received in connection with the purchase of goods from those suppliers in the form of rebates.
Rebates received from drug and consumatie manufacturers in respect of the Group's purchases relating to inventories are
held by the Group at the reporting date; the rebate is included within the cost of those inventeries and recognised in cost
of sales upon sale of those inventories.

Rebates negotiated on behaif of our buying group members, MivetClub and VetShare, are recorded in the statement of
financial position as a receivable and the corresponding liability for the rebate due to the member is recorded as a payable.
The associated commission receivable by the Group is recorded as revenue in the income statement when all obligations
attached to the rebate have been discharged and the rebate can be measured reliably based on the terms of the contract
which is taken as at the point at which the buying group membaer purchases the drugs and consumables.

Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group sssesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-cf-use
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangemnents in which it is the lessee, except for short-term
leases (defined as leases with a lease term of twelve months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal
computers, small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expensea on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless anaother systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which econoric benefits frorm the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initislly measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not psid at the commencement
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee uses its
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the leass liability comprise:

» fixed lease payments {including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

> variable lease payments that depend on an index of rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
> the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

» the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

» payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.
The lease ligbility is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
{using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

> the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate;

» the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged
discount rate {Unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used); and

» a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at
or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently
rmeasured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Leases continued

The Group s a lessee continued

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which

it is located or restore the underlyving asset to the condition required oy the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision
is recognised and measured under 1AS 37,

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease
transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise
a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset Is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation
starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
toss as described in the Property, plant and equipment policy on page 17.

Variable rents that do not depend on an indax or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers those payments cccurs and are included in administration expenses in the income statement.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for any

lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not used this practical expedient. For
a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative standalone price of the iease
component and the aggregate standalone price of the non-lease components.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in the income staternent on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with ne future related costs are recognised in the income statement in the period
in which they become receivable.

Certain companies within the Group may be entitled to claim tax credits in relation to the Research and Development
Expenditure Tax Credit (RDEC) scheme in the UK. Tax credits recelvable under this scheme are determined to have

the substance of a government grant and accordingly these tax credits are accounted for under 1AS 20, ‘Accounting for
Government Grants’, as described above. The tax credits are recognised within administration expenses within the income
statemnant when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the relevant conditions and that the tax
credits will be received.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligaticn as a result of a past event and that can be reliably measured and it is probable that an outflow of econemic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to the liability.

Share-based payments

Certaln employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions,
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares cr rights over shares (equity-settled transactions). UK employees
may also acquire shares in the Company through an HMRC-approved employee Save As You Earn scheme (SAYE), where
the employee makes monthly savings over a three-year period and has the option to purchase shares at the end of the period.

The fair values of equity-settled transactions are measured indirectly at the dates of grant using Monte Carlo or Black
Scholes option pricing models. taking into account the terms and conditions upen which the awards are granted. The fair
value of share-based payments under such schemes is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group's estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted at each reporting date for the effect of
non-market-basad vesting conditions. Tha fair value of options awarded to employees of subsidiary undertakings is
recognised as a capital contribution and recorded in investments on the Company statement of financial position.
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2. Summary of signiflcant accounting policles continued

Foreign currency transiation

Functional and presentational currency

The individual financial statemenits of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the
results and financial position of each Group company are expressed in Sterling. which is the functional currency of the
Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements, rounded to the nearest £0.1m.

in preparing the financial statements of the individual cormnpanies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At each year-end, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-rmonetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differances are recognised in the incorme statement in the period in which thay arise.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the consolidated and Company statement of financial position date. Income
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that pericd, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprahensive income and accumulated In a separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. The Group has elected to treat goodwiil and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisitions before the date of transition 1o IFRS as Sterling-denominated assets and liabilities. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Retirement benefit costs

The Group makes contributions to stakeholder and employee personal pension defined contribution schemes in respect of
certain employees. The Group has no further payment obligations cnce the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as en employee benefit expense in the period to which they relate. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or s reduction in the future payments Is available,

Financing costs
Financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings, debt finance costs, finance cost on the right-of-use lease liability,
and gains and losses on derivative financial instruments that are recognised in the income statement.

interest expanse is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

Share premium
The share premium reserve comprises the premium received over the nominal value of shares issued.

Treasury reserve
The treasury reserve comprises shares held by an Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) for the purposes of satisfying the exercise
of certain share options vesting under the Group's Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP} and SAYE schemes.

Capital redemption reserve
Upon cancellation of redeemable Preferance shares on redemption, a capital redemption reserve was created representing
the nominal value of the shares cancelled. This is a non-distributable reserve.

Mesrger reserva
The merger reserve resulted from the acquisition of CVS (UK) Limited and represents the difference between the value
of the shares acquired {nominal value plus related share premium) and the nominal value of the shares issued.

Loss for the financial year

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not to present its own income
staternent or statement, of comprehensive income for the year. The loss attributable to the Company is disclosed in
the footnote to the consalidated and Company statement of financial position.

3. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk {being foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The Group uses derivative
instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate movements. i is not the Group's policy to actively trade in derivatives.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the yecr ended 30 June 2022

3. Financial risk management continued

Financial risk factors continued

The Board monitors finaricial risk management. The policies set by the Board of Directors are implemented by the Group's
finance department.

a) Market risk

1) Foreign exchange currency rate risk

The Group has limited exposure to foreign exchange risk as the majority of its transactions are denominated in the
Company’s functional currency of Sterling. The Group has a policy t© minimise fareign exchange currency rate risk through
the regular monitoring of foreign currency flows. Currency exposures are reviewed regularly and all significant foreign
exchange transactions are approved by Group management. For subsidiaries incorporated in the Netherlands and the
Republic of Ireland, a natural hedga is applied where both revenue and expenditure is denominated in Euros. Aside from
this, the Group doas not hedge any foreign currency transactions but continues to keep this policy under review.

ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group has interest-bearing assets and liabilities. The Group's income and operating cash inflows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

At the year end, the Group had interest hedging arrangements in place covering £70.0m {2021: £70.0m) of debt. This aliows
the Group to minimise its exposure to significant interest rate increases whilst enabling the Group o take advantage of
interest rate reductions. The strategy for undertaking the hedge is ta match a portion of the loan liability with a coterminous
derivative that allows interest to float within an agreed range and thereby limits the cash flow exposure relating to interest.

Excluding the impact of the Interest rate swap arrsngement, bank borrowings bear interest at 1.45% to 2.70% above SONIA
plus a credit adjustment spread. The applicable interest rate is dependent upon the bank test net debt to bank test EBITDA
ratio. During the year the bank borrowings carried a rate averaging 1.45% above SONIA.

At 30 June 2022, the Group has considered the impact of movements in interest rates over the past year and has concluded
that & 1% movement is a reasonable benchmark, At 30 June 2022, if interest rates on Sterling-denominated borrowings had
been 1% higher or lower, with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit and the movement in net assets for the year
would have been approximately £0.9m (2021: £0.8m) lower or higher, mainly as a result of the movement in interest rates
on the floating rate borrowings. net of the hedging derivative instrument in place.

b) Cradit risk

Trade receivables are recognised inftially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is recognised on trade receivables if there is considered to be
expected credit losses. The amount of expected credit losses is calculated using the simplified approach as allowable under
IFRS @ and is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset.
Losses arising from impairment are recognised in the staterment of comprehensive income in other operating expenses.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

Concentraticns of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group's diverse custorner base. Sales
made other than on a cash basis are limited 1o a small part of the Groug's overall business, and within these business areas
the Group has appropriate credit checking facilities and procedures in place. Customer accounts are also monitored on an
ongoing basis and appropriate action is taken where necessary to minimise any credit risk. The Directors therefore believe
there is no further credit risk provision required in excess of normal provision for impaired receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at 30 June 2022 is the fair value of each class of receivable as disclosed in note 20
to the financial statements.

€) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. The Group actively maintains cash balances and a mix
of long-term and short-term finance facilities that sre designed to ensure the Group has sufficient available funds for operations
and acauisitions. Management maonitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flow.

The table below summarises the remaining contractual maturity for the Group's financial liabilities. The amounts shown
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, which include interest, analysed by contractual maturity. When the amount
payable or receivable Is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates
as iflustrated by the yield curves existing at the reporting date.
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3. Financlal sk management continued
Financlal risk factors continued
<) Liquidity risk continued
Inmerethan Inmorathan  Inmore than

one year but  two yearsbut three years but
inlesythan not morethan notmorethan netmorathan  Inmors than

one year two years three yaars flve yaars five yeamn Total
30 June 2022 Note £m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative finzncial liabilities
Borrowings — 85.0 — — — 85.0
Trade and other payables {excluding
social security and other taxes) 22 68.2 _ - — - 68.2
Lease liabilities L 13.2 15.5 14.6 261 566 126.0

81.4 100.5 14.6 261 56.6 2792
In more than In more than In mora than
onae year but  two years but  three years but
Inkessthan  not more than  notmore than not frxs than in more than

ane year two years three yaers frve years fiva yaars Total
30 Juna 20N Note £m £m £m £€m £ £m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings — — 850 — — 850
Trade and other payables {excluding
social security and other taxes) 22 691 — - - — 691
Lease liabllities 14 124 14.2 13.2 237 572 1207

815 142 982 237 572 2748

Capltal risk managemant

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base, defined as bank facilities plus total shareholders’ equity, so as to
maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Within this overall
policy, the Group seeks to maintain an optimum capital structure by a mixture of debt and retained earnings.

The bank facilities include financial covenants and a number of general undertakings. There have been no breaches of
the terms of the respective loan agreements, breaches of covenants or defaults during the current or comparative years.

Funding needs are reviewed periodically and also each time a significant acquisition is made. A number of factors are
cansidered which include the bank test net debt/bank test EBITDA ratio, future funding needs (usually potential acquisitions}
and Group banking arrangements.

2022 2091

Em £m
Bank test net debt 36.0 513
Bank test EBITDA 89.3 755
Ratio Q.40 068

The ratio above is calculated for the bank covenants as bank test net debt divided by bank test EBITDA.

Bank test net debt
Drawn bank debt less cash and cash equivalents which includes £9.0m held in escrow at 30 June 2022 (2021: £nil).

Bank test EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA annualised for the effect of acquisitions, deducting costs relating to business combinations and adding
back share option costs, on an accounting basis prior to the adoption of IFRS 16. Refer to note 1 for the calculation of
adjusted EBITDA.

There were no changes 1o the Group's approach to capital management during the year.

The primary sources of funding for the Group are internally generated cash and syndicated borrowings. The Group's
£5.0m overdraft facility and £85.0m revolving credit facility were undrawn at 30 June 2022,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

3. Financial risk management continued
Fair value measurement
The Group's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 30 June 2022 by level of fair value hierarchy are:

> quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or labilitiss (level 1);

» inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1that are observatle for the asset or liability, either directly
{that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

» inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The Group has level 1 available-for-sale financial assets of £0.1m {2021: £0.1m). Refer to note 16 for further information.

k. Segment reporting
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group's business and geographical segments. The primary format, operating
segments, is based on the Group's managernent and internal reporting structure and monitored by the Group's CODM.

Segmant results, assets and liabillties include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly interest-bearing borrowings and associated costs, tax-related
assets and liabilities, costs refating to business combinations, and Head Cffice salary and premises costs.

Revenue comprises £398.1m of fees and £156 1m of goods (2021: £359.3m and £150.8m respectively).

Operating segments

The Group is split into four operating segments (Veterinary Practices, Laboratories, Crematoria and Online Retail Business)
and a centralised suppaort function (Head Office) for business segment analysis, In identifying these operating segments,
management generally follows the Group's service lines represanting its main products and services.

Each of these operating segments 's managed separately as each segment requires different specialisms, marketing
approaches and resources. Intra-group sales eliminations are included within the Head Office segment. Head Office
includes costs relating to the employees, property and other overhead costs asseciated with the centralised support
function together with finance costs arising on the Group's borrowings.

Vatarinary online Retall

Practi Lab ] Crematoria Husiness Head Offica Group
Year ended 30 June 2022 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 4921 27.2 9.5 466 {21.2) 554.2
Adjusted EBITDA 108.8 83 34 3.5 (16.6) 1074
Profit/(loss) befare tax 64.8 76 29 3.4 (42.7) 36.0
Totel assets 428.0 386 201 279 5.6 5182
Total lisbilities (170.6) [(h)] (2.2) (18.6} (104.3) (300.8)
Reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA
Profit/{loss) before tax 64.8 76 2.9 3.4 (42.7) 360
Finance expense 41 — — — 27 6.8
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9.8 0.6 Q5 — 03 n3
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 137 01 — - 0.3 1441
Profit on disposal of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets {0.3) - - —_ — (0.3)
Amortisation of intangible assets 14.6 - — 0.1 7.5 222
Costs relating to business combinations 2.0 - - - 2.9 4.9
Exceptional items — - - - 12.4 124
Adjusted EBITDA 108.8 83 34 3.5 (16.6) 107.4
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%. Segment reporting continued
Operating segmants continued

Vaterinary Online Retail

Practices iaboratories Crematoria Businass Head Office Group
‘ear ended 30 June 2021 Ermn Em £m £m £m £m
Revenue 4534 280 8.0 a7 {21.0) 5101
Adjusted EBITDA 984 a1 28 29 (157) 975
Piufit/{luss) before tax 495 84 24 27 {299) 33
Total assets 422 4 327 169 109 16 4845
Total liabilities (179.8) 40) (14} (34) (104.8) (293.4)
Reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA
Profit/(loss) before tax 495 B4 24 27 (29.9) 331
Finance expense 41 — — - 29 70
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 20 06 04 — 03 103
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 137 o1 — - 02 1490
Amortisation of intangible assets 140 — - 02 96 238
Costs relating to business combinations B1 - _ — 12 83
Adjusted EBITDA 98.4 a1 28 29 (157 975

Geographical sogmants

The business operates pradominantly in the UK. As at 30 June 2022, it has 27 veterinary practices in the Netherlands and
four in the Republic of Ireland. it performs a small amount of laboratory work and teleradiolcgy work for Furope-based
clients and a small amount of teleradiclogy work for clients based in the rest of the world. In accordance with IFRS 8,
‘Operating Segments’, no segment results are presentad for trade with clients in Europe or the rest of the world as these
are not reported separately for management reporting purposes and are not considered material for separate disclosure.

5. Finance expense

2022 200

Em £m

Interest expense on bank loans and overdraft 2.2 25
Interest expense on lease liabilities 4.2 a1
Amortisation of debt arrangement fees 0.4 04
Finance expense 6.8 70
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2022

6. Expenses/(income) by nature

2022 2021
Note £m £m
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 22.2 238
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 1n3 0.3
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 14 14.1 14.0
employee benefit expenses 7 259.6 2315
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales) 121.2 175
Repairs and maintenance expenditure cn property, plant and equipment 4.9 53
Moverment in provision for expected credit losses 20 (1.4) Q7
Exceptional items! 18 12.4 -
RDEC income? (2.0) (2.0}
Other expenses 691 68.9
Total cost of sales and administrative expenses 511.4 4700

1. During tha year anded 30 June 2022, exceptional items related to impairment of the invastment in Quality Pet Care Ltd, which was disposed of on

30 June 2022 The impairment of this investment is considered as exceptional and nen-recurring dug to the circumstances of the sale, as described in
nate 16. These costs are included within administration expenses and are shown above. There wera no exceptiona| items in the year anded 30 June 2021,

2. Inthe course of therr ordmary wark, our colleagues perform work which advances the overall knowledge in the veterinary field end seeks to resolve
scientific and technolegical uncertainties. In the grior year, the Group submitted ¢laims under the Research and Developrient Expenditure Credits
(RDEC) scheme to HMRC for the first time in respect of the 2078 financial yaar, and in the current year claims were submitted in respect of 2020, The
arnount of qualifying expanditure in relation to 2021 and 2022 Is yet to be determined. in part dus to the uncertainty around FY19 and FY20 claims,
which is explained more fully In Note 2. The amount of research and development expenditure within Cost of sales and Administrative expenses is

therefore not separately disclosed.

Servicas provided by the Company’s auditor and assoclotes

During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Company’s auditor at costs as detailed below:

2022 20
£000 £000
Audit services
Fees payzhle to the Group's auditor for:
The audit of the parent company and consolidated financial statements 180 164
The audit of the Company's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 352 326
832 490
7. Employee benefit expense and numbers
Group
2012 2021
Employee benefit expanse for the Group Note £m €m
Wages and salaries 228.5 2050
Social security costs 229 193
Other pension costs 3 59 5.0
Share-based payments 1 23 22
259.6 2315

The employee benefit expense included within cost of sales is £181.9m (2021: £180.7m). The balance is recarded within

administrative expenses.
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7. Employee beneflt expense and numbaers continued

Group continued

The average monthly number of people employed by the Group (including Executive and Non-Executive Directors) during
the year, analysed by category. was as follows:

2022 2021

Number Number

Veterinary surgeons and pathologists 2,079 1962
Nurses, practice ancillaries and tachnicians 5,489 4976
Crematoria staff 98 84
Central support 247 219
7,913 7241

Company
The average monthly number of people employed by the Company is four (2021: four), being the Non-Executive Directors.
The Executive Directors received remuneration in respect of their services to the Company from a subsidiary company.

8. Directors’ remuneration and key management compensation

Highest paid Diractor Directors’ emotuments
2022 207 2022 20m
Em £m £m £m
Salaries and other shon-term employee benefits 0.8 08 23 22
Company contributions to money purchase schemes - - 01 01
0.8 08 24 23

Retirement benefits are accruing to one Director (2021: three) under a personal pension plan The remuneration of the
Executive Directors, amounting to £2.1m (2021: £2.1r), is borne by the subsidiary company CvS (UK) Limited, without
recharge. The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directars, amounting to £0.3m (2021: £0.2m), is borne by the subsidiary
company CVS (UK} Limited and recharged to the Company.

Directors’ remuneration is disciosed on an individual basis in the Remuneration Committee Report on pages 83 te 93.

Share options
Under the Company's SAYE schemes the Directors have the following options at the year end.
Earligst exercisa date Number of
SAYE scheme Dete of grant end vesting date  Exetclse price shares
B lacktin SAYE12 04 December 2019 01 January 2023 863p 708
R Alfonso SAYET2 04 December 2019 Q1 January 2023 863p 709
R Fairman SAYE13 02 Dscember 2020 01 January 2024 1,00%p 606
B Jlacklin SAYE13 G2 December 2020 01 January 2024 1.009p 570
R Alfonso SAYEL3 02 December 2020 01 January 2024 1.008p 606
R Fairman SAYE14 25 Novermber 2021 01 January 2025 1,974p 310
B Jacklin SAYE14 25 Novemnber 2021 01 January 2025 1.974p 310
R Alfonsc SAYE14 25 Novermber 2021 01 January 2025 1,974p 291
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2022

8. Directors’ remuneration and key management compensatio
Share options continued

n continued

Under the Company’s Long-Terrm Incentiva Pians (LTIP) the Directors have the following options at the year-end.

Market prics on Earllast exercise date Nurnber of

LTIP Dats of grant date of grant and vesting date $hares

R Fairman LTIP13 19 December 2019 1.080p 30 Jure 2022 46,296
B Jacklin LTIM3 19 December 2019 1,080p 30 June 2022 27778
R Alfonso LTIM3 19 December 2019 1080p 30 June 2022 15,278
R Fairman LTIM4 02 Cctober 2020 1.219p 30 June 2023 41,030
B Jacklin LTIP14 02 October 2020 1.219p 30 June 2023 24,618
R Alfonso LTIP14 02 October 2020 1.219p 30 June 2023 13,540
R Alfonso LTIP14{k) 04 January 2021 1485p 30 June 2023 6,733
R Fairman LTIP15 06 October 2021 2,407p 30 June 2024 21,88
B Jacklin LTIP1S 06 October 2021 2,407 30 Jure 2024 12,712
R Alfonso LTIPS 06 October 2021 2407p 30 June 2024 11,009

The exercise price for all shares awarded under TIPs is 0.2p.

LTIP12 vested in the year; for further details of the above schemes see the Remuneration Committes report on pages 83

to 83.

Key management compensation

Key management is considered to be those on the Executive Committee (being the Executive Directors and other senior
management} and the Non-Executive Directers. The empioyment costs of key management are as follows:

2022

204

£m £m

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 3.5 40
Post-employment benefits 0.2 02
Share-based payments 11 10

A8 52
9. Tax expensae
a) Analysls of tax expense recognised In the income statement

2022 202

Nore £m £m

Current tax
Current tax on profits for the year 1341 129
Adjustments in raspect of previous years - 13
Total current tax charge 131 14.2
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences {2.4) (50)
Adjustments in respect of previous years {0.8) 03
Effect of tex rate change on opening deferred tax balance - 43
Total deferred tax credit 25 {2.8) (04)
Total tax expense 103 138
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9. Tax expense continued

b) Raconcillation of effective tax charge

The total tax expense for the year differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the standard rate of UK corporation
tax of 18.0% (2021 19.0%) as foliows:

2022 2021
£m £m
Profit before tax 36.0 331
Effective tax charge at 19.0% (2021 19.0%) 6.8 6.3
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1.2 24
Loss on disposal of non-qualifying assets 23 —
Tax rate change on opening deferred tax balances — 43
Adjustments to deferred tax charge in respect of previous years (0.4) C3
Adjustments to current tax charge in respect of previous years — 1.3
Current year tax losses not recognisedy(utilisation of brought forward losses previously unrecognised) 0.2 (8X)]
Effect of difference between closing deferred tax rate and current tax rate 0.2 (0.0
Total tax expense 10.3 138

Factors offecting the current tax eharge
UK corporation tax is calculated at 19.0% (2021: 19.0%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Tax for other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The effective tax rate on reported profits is 28.6% (2021: 41.7%) and has decreased from the prior year mainly due to

the remeasurement of deferred tax in the prior year as a result of the substantive enactment of the increase in the UK
corporation tax rate to 25.0% from April 2023, which did not recur in the current yaar, Tha effective tax rate for 2022 was
adversely influenced by the impairment and subsequent disposal of an investment, which resulted in tax losses of £13.4m.
A deferred tax asset has not been recognised on the tax loss as it is not probable the Group will have sufficient future
taxable profits against which this loss could be utilised. it was further affected by a decrease in expenses not deductible for
tax purposes predominantly in respect of business acquisitions.

Changes in tox rates

The UK corparation tax rate for the year was 19.0% (2021: 19.0%). In March 2021, the UK Government announced an
increase in the UK corporation tax rate. The Finance Bill 2021 was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021 increasing the UK
corporation rate to 25.0% from 1 April 2023. The impact of this change in tax rate was recognised in 2021 in the income
statement, except to the extent that it related to items previously recognised cutside of the income statement in which
case it was recognised in other comprehensive income and equity accordingly.

Uncertain tax position
The Group recognises taxation based on estimates of whether taxes will be due. No material uncertain tax positions existed
at 30 June 2022 or 30 June 2021,

10. Earnings per Ordinary share

a) Basic

2022 2021
Profit for the year (Em) 267 19.3
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue 70,926,977 70685939
Basic earnings per share (pence) 36.2 213
b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculatad by adjusting the weighted average number of Ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential Ordinary shares. The Company has potentially dilutive Ordinary shares, being
the contingently issuable shares under the Group’s LTI® schemes and SAYE schemes. For share options, a calculation is
undertaken to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average
annual market share price of the Company's shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to
outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that would
have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2022

10. Earnings per Ordinary share continued

b) Dlluted continued
2022 207
Profit for the year (£m) 257 19.3
Welghted average number of Ordinary shares in issue 70,926,977 70685939
Adjustment for contingently issuable shares - LTiPs 248,506 237307
Adiustment for contingently issuable shares - SAYE schemes 377,056 246,533
Weighted average number of Ordinary sharas for diluted earnings per share 71,652,539 71169779
Diluted earnings per share (pence) 35.9 2N
Alternative performance measura: adjusted sarnings per share
2022 207
Note £m Em
Profit before tax 36.0 331
Adjustments for:
Armortisation of intangible assets 12 222 238
Costs relating to business combinations 4 49 a3
Exceptional iterns 6 124 —
Adjusted profit before tax 755 662
Tax expense amended for the above adjustments (14.6) {13.0)
Adjusted profit after tax 60.9 531
Welghted average number of Ordinary shares in issue 70,926,977 70685939
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 71,552,539 7169779
Pance Pence
Adjusted earnings per share {penrce) 85.8 751
Diluted adjusted earnings per share (pence} 85.0 746

11. Share-based payments
Long-Term Incentive Plans

The Group operates incentive schemas for certain senior executives, the CVS Group Long-Term Incentive Plans {LTIP).

Under the LTIP schemes, awards are made at an effective nil cost, vesting over a three-year performance period conditional
upon the Group’s adjusted earnings per share growth and Total Shareholder Return (TSR). The LTIP scheme arrangements

are equity settled.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year under the LTIP schemes are as follows:

July 2021 achame  July 2020 scharme  July 2009 scheme  July 2018 scheme

{(LTMSMS(b) {LTIM414{o) {LTIP13/13(0) (LTIP12)

Number of share Number of share Nurnber of share Number of share

awards swards awards awards

Outstanding at 1 July 2021 — 136,655 135,025 98110
Granted during the year 74,625 - — —
Lapsed during the year - - — {619}
Forfeited during the year (4.982) (12,8386) {8111} -
Exerciged during the year — - - (97.491)
Outstanding at 30 June 2022 69,643 123,818 128,014 -
Exercisable at 30 June 2022 - - 12894 -

Options are exercisable at 0.2p per share The weighted average exercise price was 0.2p at the beginning and end of the period.

The options outstanding at the year end under LTIP15, LTIP15{E), LTIP14, LTIP14{b}, LTIP13, and LTIP13(b) have a weighted
average rermaining contractual life of two years, two years, one year, one year, nil years and nil years, respectively.
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11. Share-based payments continued

Long-Term Incentive Plans continued

The share-based payment charge for the year in respect of the options issued under the LTIP schemes amountad to £1.2m
(2021: £1.4m) and has been charged to administrative expensas. Employer's National Insurance contributions of £0.2m
(2021: £0.6m) have been charged to administrative expenses in respect of the LTIP scheme transactions and are treated
as cash-settled transactions,

Further detalls of the above schemes are included in the Remunearation Committee report on pages 83 to 93.

Save As You Earn (SAYE)
The Group operates an incentive scheme for all UK employees, the CVS Group SAYE plan, an HM Revenue &
Customs-approved schame. Details of the share options outstanding during the vear under the SAYE schemes are as follows:

SAYE14 SAYE13 SAYER2 SAYEN BAYEID
Number of Numbar of Number of Number of Number cf
share awards share awards share awards share awards share awards
Qutstanding at 1 July 2021 — 345,954 243 561 298,818 13014
Granted during the year 215022 — - - —
Forfeited during the year {13,492} {34,716) {18,535) {14,247 -
Exercised during the year* — (.04a7) (2.799) (249108) (13,014)
Outstanding at 30 June 2022 201,530 310N 222,227 35463 -
Exercisable at 30 June 2022 — — — 35.463 -
*  The waighted average share price at the date of exarcise was £18.54.
Further information on the SAYE schemes is shown in the table below:
SAYE1S SAYF13 SAYEIZ SAYEN
Date opened for subscription Naovembar 2021 December 2020 December 2019 November 2018
Date options granted January 2022 January 2021 January 2020  January 2019
Discount on closing mid-market price 20% 20% 10% 10%
Exercise price £19.74 £1009 £863 £8.30
Remaining contractual life 2 years 5 months 1year 5 months 5 months nil

All of the SAYE schemes vest over a three-year period. There are no performance conditions attached to the SAYE scheme.

The weighted average exercise price at the beginning of the period for the options outstanding was £9.09 and end of the
period was £12.11.

The shere-besed payment charge for the year in respect of the options issued under the SAYE schemes amounted to £1.9m
(2021: £0.8m) and has been charged to administrative expenses.

Options for all schemes were valued using either the Monte Carlo or Black Scholes option pricing models. The fair value per
option granted and the assumptions used in the calculation are as follows:

LTIP1S LTIPIS(b) SAYENA
Grant date 06 QOctober 2021 16 December 2021 25 November 2021
Share price at grant date’ £2407 £2217 £22.30
Fair value per option £15.46 £18.81 £754
Exercise price 02p 0.2p £19.74
Number of employees 34 1 1,391
Shares under cption at date of grant 74174 451 215,022
Vesting period/option life/expected life 3vyears 3years 3 years
Weighted average remaining contractual life 2 years 2 years 2 years 5 months
Expected volatility? 35.2% 35.2% A11%
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield 0.45% 0.45% 0.30%

1. Share price calculated at average cf closing share price for preceding five days in Iing with scheme rules.

2 Expected volatility has been determined by reference 1o the histarical shere return volatifity of GVS Group plc.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

12. Intangible assets

Trade Patient data Computer

Goodwill namas records software Total
Group Note £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 July 2020 100.2 1.5 263.2 35 3704
Additions arising through business combinations 141 — 88 - 229
Foreign currency translation ((aF:) — {08) —_— (1.2}
Other additions —_ - — 05 Q5
AT 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 139 15 nz 6.0 3926
Additions arising through business combinations 15 67 - 21 — 88
Other additions — — — 15 15
At 30 June 2022 120.6 15 2733 15 4029
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 July 2020 - 1.5 1355 386 1408
Amortisation for the year - - 28 10 238
Foreign currancy translation - - (02) - 02}
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 — 1.5 1681 4.6 164.2
Amortisation for the year — — 214 08 222
At 30 June 2022 - 1.5 179.5 5.4 186.4
Net book amount
At 30 June 2022 12086 — 93.8 23 216.5
At 30 June 2021 Nn32 - 131 14 2784
AL 1 July 2020 1002 — 1277 19 2298

Armortisation is charged to administrative expenses in the Income Statement.

The patient data records and trade names were acquired as a component of business combinations. See note 15 for further
details of current year acquisitions.

Intangible assets that are individually material to the financial staterments are disclosed as follows:

Intangitle category Description Carrying smount Remaining life
Patient data records Slate Hall veterinary Group E6Im & years
Patient data records YourVets £3im 3 years

The components of goodwill are disclosed accarding 1o the group of CGUs to which they have been allocated. Due to
the integrated nature of the Group, although each veterinary practice, laboratory and crematorium is considered to be
an individual CGU, the monitoring of goodwill is performed on an aggregated basis for groups of CGUs that are no larger
than the operating segments, as determined In accordance with [FRS B.

The majority of other assets are tested at the CGU level, to the extent that an impairment review is triggered following
identification of an indicator of impairment by management. A small number of assets (typically patient data records acquired
in a business combination with multipls sites or locations) are shared between sub-groups of CGUs and are tested for
impairment at that level.

Goodwill per operating segment

2022 20N

£m £m

Veterinary Practices 116.3 109.2
Laboratories 21 21
Crematoria 26 26
Total 1.0 N30
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12. Intangible assets continued

Impairment tests

The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is derived from the Group's pre-tax weighted average cost

of capital. The rigks relating to each of the CGUs are considered to be the same as a result of the Group's operations being
entirely focused in the veterinary market and, as such, the discount rate applied to each CGU is the same. The use of the
Group's weighted average cast of capital is consistent with the valuation methodology used when determining the offer price
for business combinations and, therefore, is considered an appropriate discount rate. The Directors consider the growth rate
10 be broadly consistent between CGUs: a 8.0% growth per annum in adjusted EBITDA has bean assumed for years one to
five with a long-term growth rate of 2.0% per annum for the purposes of assessing net present value of future cash flows,
with adjusted EBITDA, adjusted for an assumption of capital expenditure, used as an approximation to cash flows given the
insignificant impact of working capital adjustments. The budget for the next financial year is used as a basis for the cash
flow projections. The growth rate used in the impairment tests is based upon a prudent assessment of market-specific
growth assumptions. Further details cf the impairment tests are disclosed in note 2.

Estimates are based on past experience and expectations of future changes to the market. Growth rate forecasts are
extrapolated based on estimated long-term average growth rates for the markets in which the CGU operates (estimated
at 6.0% for years one to five and 2.0% long-term rate). The pre-tax discount rate used to calculate value in use is 11.3% at
30 June 2022 (2021:10.3%).

A sensitivity analysis using reasonably possible changes in key assumptions has been performed. None of these changes
result in the value of goodwill sliocated to the CGUs being in excess of its recoverable amount and therefore no sensitivity
analysis is presented.

13. Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures,

Freebold land Leaasehold fitungs and Mator

and buildings  fndrovemanis aauipment wehiclas Total
Group Note £m Em £m £m Em
Cost
At 1 July 2020 16.8 N4 559 36 1077
Foreign exchange — — (G2 — {02)
Additions arising through business combinations — - 06 - Q6
Additions 30 57 57 17 181
Disposals (0.5) — — {03} (0.8)
At 30 June 2021 and 1July 2021 183 371 620 5.0 1234
Additions arising through business combinations 15 - — 07 — Q7
Additians 32 88 a0 20 230
Disposals - on (02) (0.3) {e]5}]
At 30 June 2022 225 458 7.5 6.7 146.5
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2020 1.8 166 358 19 561
Foreign exchange - — (on — {on
Depreciation for the year 03 30 6.2 08 10.3
Disposals e — — 03 {0.3)
At 30 June 2021 and 7 July 2021 21 196 19 24 66.0
Depreciation for the year 04 29 69 11 H3
Disposals — - (0.2) (0.3) (0.5)
At 30 June 2022 25 225 48.6 a2 76.8
Net bock amount
At 30 June 2022 20.0 233 229 3.5 69.7
At 30 June 2021 17.2 175 201 26 574
At 1July 2020 150 148 203 .7 o6

Freehold land amounting to £1.7m (2021: £1.7m) has not been depreciated.

Included within the above classes of assets is £5.5m (2021: £4.6m) of assats which are under construction, of which £4.8m
was acquired in the year and £0.7m is carried forward from the previous year.
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Notes to the consolidated financlal statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

14. Leases

Group as a lessee

The majority of the Group’s veterinary practices, specialist referral centres and support offices are leased, with remaining
lease terms of between one and fifteen years. The Group also has a number of nan-property leases relating to vehicle, equipment
and material handling equipment, with remaining lease terms of betwean one and four years. Additions to right-of-use
assets include new leases; extensions and amendments to existing lease agreements are disclosed as remeasurerments.

Right-of-use assets

Motor

Praperty Equiprnent vehicles Total
Group Note £m Em £m £m
Cost
At July 2020 1096 12 19 127
Foreign currency translation (0.6) - - {06)
Acquired through business combinations 49 — — 48
Remeasurement of lease tarm 7.8 — - 78
Additions 12 0.5 10 27
Disposals @0 — - (21
At 30 Jung 2021 and 1 July 2021 1208 17 29 1254
Acquired through business combinations 15 1.0 - - 10
Remeasurement of lease term 1n7 - — n7
Additions 61 04 04 6.9
Disposals (17) — 0) 27
At 30 June 2022 1379 21 23 142.3
Accumulated depreclation
At 1July 2020 13.3 04 c9 146
Depreciation for the year 12.4 03 09 136
Impairment 04 — — Q4
Disposals (0.4) - - 04
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 257 07 18 282
Depreciation for the year 130 03 08 141
Disposals Q7 - (10 0n
At 30 June 2022 38.0 1.0 16 406
Net book amount
At 30 June 2022 99.9 11 07 1017
At 30 June 2021 951 10 11 972
At 1 July 2020 963 08 10 981

The impairment loss in the prior year relates to veterinary practices which were closed or were due to close. in line with

IAS 38, the carrying value of these right-of-Use assets was assessed for indicators of impairment and the planned closure
was considered to be an indicator of impairment. The right-of-use asset was written down to its expected recoverable value
and impairment costs of £0.4m were charged. No impairment loss was recognised in the current year.
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1. Leases continued
Lease llabllitles

2022 2021
Group £Em Em
Current 9.4 86
Non-current 951 anz2
Total discounted lease liabilities 104.5 988
Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted lease payments
Less than one year 13.2 124
Between one and five years 56.2 511
More than five years 56.6 572
Total undiscounted lease payments 126.0 1207

15. Business combinations

Details of business combinations in the year ended 30 June 2022 are set out below. The reason for each acquisition was
to expand the CVS Group business through acquisitions aligned to our strategic goals. The acquisition and subsequent
disposal of Quality Pet Care Ltd is not included in the below, and further information can be found in note 16.

Nama of buginess combination Date of acquesition
Dierenkliniek Leloup Olst-Wijhe (trade and asset) 01 February 2022
Anton Vets Ltd 05 May 2022
OCVC Limited 10 June 2022

All businesses were acquired via 100% share purchase agreement unless indicated otherwise In the table above.

Given the nature of the veterinary practices acquired and the records maintained by such practices, it is not practicable
to disclose the revenue or profit or Joss of the combined entity for the year as though the acquisition date for all business
combinations during the vear had been at the beginning of that vear.

The table below summarises the total assets acquired through business combinations in the year ended 30 June 2022:

Book valua of
soquirad Fair value

assets  adjustments Fair valua

Note £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 13 07 — Q.7
Patient data records 12 - 21 21
Right-of-use assets 14 1.0 — 1.0
Inventories 0a - 01
Deferred tax liabitity 25 {0.1) {0.3) (0.4)
Trade and other receivables 0.1 (o} }] -
Trade and other payables [(aly)) - (0.7)
Loans {03) — (0J)
Lease liabilities 1.0) — {1.0)
Total identifiable assets - 17 1.7
Goodwilt 12 6.7
Total consideration (net of cash acquired of £0.5m) 8.4
Initial consideration paid (net of cash acquired of £0.5m) 8.0
Deferred consideration payable 0.4
Total consideration {net of cash acquired of £0.5m) 84

The total consideration of £8.4m is prior to the agreement of the completion accounts. The amounts recognised are subjact
to adjustment in line with IFRS 3 for up to 12 months from acquisition, with goodwill being adjusted accordingly.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

15. Business comblnations continued

Goodwill recognised represents the excess of purchase consideration over the fair value of the identfiable net assets.
Goodwill reflects the synergies arising from the combination of the businesses; this includes cost synergies arising from
shared support functions and buying power synergies. Goodwill inciudes the recognition of an amount equal to the
deferred tax that arises on non-qualifying fixed assets acquired under a business combination.

Post-acquisition revenue and post-acquisition adjusted EBITDA were £0.5m and £0.1m respectively. The post-acquisition
period is from the date of acquisition to 30 June 2022, Post-acquisition EBITDA represents the direct operating result of
practices from the date of acquisition to 30 June 2022 prior to the allocation of central overheads, on the basis that itis
not practicable to allocate these.

Goodwill and intangible assets recognised in the year relating to business combinations are not expected to be deductible
for tax purposes,

Acquisition costs of £4.9m (2021: £9.3m) are included within other expenses in note 6 of the financial staternents.

The Directors do not consider any individual in-year acquisition to be material to the Group and therefore have not
separately disclosed these.

Business comblnations In previous years

Details of business combinations In the comparative year are presented in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2021. £0.4m (2027; £nil) was paid in the current year to settle deferred consideration payable from the
orior year,

Business combincations subsequent to the year end
Subsequent to the year end, the Group has made two acquisitions.

©n 27 July 2022, the Group completed the purchase of 100.0% of the share capital of Werrington Vets Limited, a company
tegistered in England and Wales, for initial cash consideration of £4.3m. This is a business comprising one companion
animal veterinary practice site in the UK. Assets acquired comprised principally goodwill and intangible patient data recards
with a provisional fair value of £41m.

©n 16 September 2022, the Group completed the purchase of 100.0% of the share capital of Woodlands Veterinary Clinic
Limited, a company registered in England and Wales, for initial cash consideraticn of £3.5m. This is a business comprising
two companion animal veterinary practice sites in the UK. Assets acquired comprised principally goodwill and intangible
patient data records with a provisional fair value of £3.3m.

16. Investments
a) Available-for-sale financlal assets
Avaiiable-for-aale financial assets, which are dencminated in Sterling, consist of an investment in managed investrmerit funds.

The Group holds £0.1m (2021: £0.1m) in an investment in managed investment funds which have a quoted market price in
an active market and are accordingly measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value are
recognised directly in equity untit the security is disposed of or deemed to be impaired.

b} Shares In subsidiary undertakings

Compary Nole £m
Cost and net book amount

At 1July 2020 69.4
Opticns granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings 22
At 30 Jure 2021 ne
Options granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings n 23
At 30 June 2022 3.8
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16. Investments continued
b) Shares In subsidiary undertakings continued

The principal subsidiary undertakings of CVS Group plc are set out below:

Name of subsidiary

Principal business

Country of incorporation

Albavet Limited

Animed Direct Limited

Axiom Veterinary Laboratories Limited

B & W Ecuine Group Limited

CVS {Ireland) Veterinary Services Limited
CVS (ireland) veterinary Services No.2 Limited
CVS (Netherlands) BV.

CVS {UK) Limited

Dierenziekenhuis Drachten BV.
Diergeneeskundig Centrum Noord Nederland BV.
Endell Veterinary Group Limited
Greenacres Pet Crematorium Limited
Highcroft Pet Care Limited

Kliniek voor Gezslschapsdieren Dieren BV.
Mi Vet Club Limited

Okeford Veterinary Centre Lirmited

Pet Doctors Limited

Pet Emergency Treatment Services Limited
Pet Vaccination Clinic Limited

Precisicn Histology International Limited
Rossendale Pet Crematerium Limited

Ruddington and East Leake Veterinary Centre Limited

Severn Edge Equine Limited

Severn Edge Farm Limited

Severn Edge Veterinary Group Limited
Silvermere Haven Limited

Silverton Veterinary Practice Limited
Sustainable Developments (SW) Limited
The Pet Crematorium Limited

Valley Pet Crematorium Limited

Vet Direct Services Limited

Whitley Brook Crematorium for Pets Limited

Veterinary services arnd buying club
Onlire dispensary

Veterinary diagnostic services
Veterinary services

Holding company

Veterinary services

Holding company

Veterinary and diagnostic services
Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Vaterinary services

Animal cremation

Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary goods and services buying club
Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Vetarinary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary diagnostic services
Animal cremation and provision of burial grounds
Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Animal cremation and provision of burial grounds
Veterinary services

Property development

Animal cremation

Animal cremation

Veterinary instrumentation supply
Anirmal cremation

Scotland

England and Wales
kngland and Wales
England and Wales
Republic of Ireland
Republic of Ireland
The Netherlands
£ngland and Wales
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
£ngland and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
The Netherlands
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England snd Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2022

16. Investments continued

b) Shares In subsldlary undertakings continued
The dormant subsidiary undertakings included within the consolidation are as follows:

Name of subsidlary

Country of Incorperation

Animal Health Centre Limited

Anton Vets Ltd

Ambivet Ltd

Astonlee Limited

Charter Veterinary Hospital Group Limited
Cinder Hill Equine Clinic Limited

Corner House Equine Clinic Limited
Cromlynvets Limited

Darboe and Baily Limited

Enterprise Veterinary Services Limited
Greendale Veterinary Diagnostics Limited
Greensands Veterinary Clinic Limited
Gurka Animal Care Lid

Insight Laboratory Services Limited
Keown O'Neill Limited

Newlands Veterinary Group Limited
OCVC Limited

Pet Vaccination UK Limited

Pets Holding Limited

Pharmsure UK Limited

Polmont Veterinary Clinic Limited

Severn Edge Holdings Limited

Slate Hall Veterinary Practice Limited
Slate Hall veterinary Services Limited
Superstar Pets Limited

Three Valleys Veterinary Ltd*

Total Veterinary Services Limited

Vet Direct Holdings Limited

Veterinary Enterprises & Trading Lirnited
Weighbridge Referral Service Limited
Western Counties Equine Hospital Limited
White Lodge Veterinary Centre Ltd
Wyatt Poultry Veterinary Services Limited
Your Vets {(Holdings} Limited

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Weles
Northern Ireland
England and wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Northern Irefand
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Scotland

England and Wales
England and Walas
England and Wales
England and Wales
Northern {reland
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and wales

-

Companias in liquidation.

CVS Group plc owns 100% of the Crdinary share capital of CVS (UK) Limited, the remaining subsidiaries above are indirectly

held by CVS Group ple.

100% of the Ordinary share capital is owned for all equity shareholdings and therefore all are wholly owned.
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16. iInvestments continued

b) Shares in subsidiary undertakings continued

The registered office for all United Kingdom registered subsidiary undertakings is CVS House, Owen Road, Diss, Norfolk
IP22 4ER, with the exception of the following companies:

Name of subsidiary Registared office address

Albavet Limited 24 Nicol Street, Kirkcaldy, Fife KY11NY

Axiom Veterinary Laborztories Limited The Manor House, Brune! Road, Newton Abbot, Devon TQ12 4PB
Cromlynvets Limited 50 Old Coach Road, Hillsborough, County Down BT26 6PB

Keown ¥ Neill Limited 1 Church Street, Ballygawley, Co, Tyrone BT70 ZHA

Polmont Veterinary Clinic Limited Boness Road, Polmont, Falkirk FK2 OXZ

Precision Histology International Limited The Schoo! House, One Eyad Lane, Weybread, Diss, Norfolk IP215TT
Thrae Valleys Veterinary Ltd 17 Clarendon Road, Belfast BT1 38G

The registered office for all Netherlands registered subsidiary undertakings is Postbus 176, 8300 AD Emmeloord. The registered
office for all Republic of Ireland registered subsidiary undertakings is KPMG, Dockgate, Dock Road, Galway H91 VERR.

On 19 August 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Quality Pet Care Ltd, a company registered in England
and Wales, for total ¢consideration of £20.4m, including repayment of loans of £3.4m. On 22 September 2021, the
Competition & Markets Authority {CMA) served an initial enforcement order (IEQ) in respect of this acquisition and during
the period a further £1.0m loan was provided for working capital. During the investigation, the group did not control Quality
Pet Care Ltd due to conditions imposed by the IEQ, and as such it is recorded as an investment in a subsidiary held at fair
value, and its financis! performance and position are not consclidated into those of the Group. Prior to the year-end, an
impairment of £12.4m was recorded to the carrying amount of the investment in anticipation of 2 disposal, based on the
estimated fair value, which has been recognised as an exceptional item in the income statement within administrative
expenses. On 30 June 2022, the entire shareholding was divested with sales proceeds of £9.0m, with no gain or loss an
disposal recorded due to the investment having already been impaired to its recoverable amount. The sales proceeds have
been Included within cash equivalents; see note 21.

17. Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are used for hedging in the management of exposure to merket risks. This enables the optimisation of the overali
cost of accessing debt capital markets, and the mitigation of the market risk which would otherwise arise fromn movements
in interest rates.

The ineffective element of cash flow hedges in 2022 was immaterial (2021: immaterial}.

Cash flow hadges
0On 28 February 2020, the Group entered into an interest rate swap arrangement limiting the Group’s exposure to intarest
rate increases. The arrangement exposed the Group to Sterling LIBOR within a cash flow hedge accounting relationship.

Following the proposed and subsequent discontinuance of Sterling LIBOR, the Group has adopted both Phase 1and Phase
2 of Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7). The Group debt was transitioned per
agreament entered on 31 December 2021. The Group has also transitioned its interest rate swaps, effective from

31 December 2021. The revised arrangements amended expasures frorm Sterling LIBOR to the Sterling Overnight

Index Average Rate {SONIA), plus a credit adjustment spread.

The Group has applied the practical expedient published by the 1ASB, allowing the Group to account for a change in the
contractual cash flows of the debt required by the Interest Rate Benchmark Reform by updating the effective interest rate
and applying any changes prospectively.

The Group has also applied the practical expedient to continue bedge accounting where changes to the hedging arrangerment
arise as a direct result of changes required by the reform. Therefore, the amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve
is deemed to be based on the alternative benchmark rate and does not require reclassification into retained earnings.

The expedients can be applied by the Group because the transitioning of interest rate swaps and debt was necessary as a
direct consequent of IBOR reform, and the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent
to the previous basis.

At 30 June 2022, £70.0m of debt was hadged (2021: £70.0m); the remainder of the debt was unhedged at the year end.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

17, Derlvative financial instruments continued

Cash flow hedges continued

Below are details of the hedging Instruments and hedged items in scope of the IFRS 8 amendments due to interest rate
benchmark reform. The terms of the hedged items listed match those of the corresponding hedging instruments.

Hedge type Instrument type Maturing in Nominal Hedged itemn

Cash flow hedge Recelve SONIA + credit 2024 £70.0m Sterling fixed rate Issued
adjustment spread, pay debt of the same maturity
Sterling fixed interest and norninal of the swap
rate swaps

The Group classifies its interest rate swap arrangement as a cash flow hedge and utilises hedge accounting to minimise
incormne statement volatility in relation to movements in the value of the swap arrangement.

The fair values of the Group’s interest rate derivatives are established using valuation techniques, primarily discounted cash
flows, based on assumptions that are supported by observable market prices or rates (level 1),

The fair values of derivative financial instruments have been disclosed in the Group consoclidated staterent of financial
position as follows:

2022 2021
Assats Liailities Ascats Liaki ies
Group £m £m £m Em
Non-current
Interest rate swap arrangements - cash flow hedges 23 - — (04)
Movaments In falr values
Interesi
rate swap
arrangements
Group £m
Fair value at 1 July 2020 09
Fair value loss through reserves — hedged 05
At 30 June 2021 (04)
Fair valua gain through reserves - hedged 27
At 30 June 2022 2.3

The cash flow hedge reserve represents the curmulative amount of gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed
effective in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the income
statement only when the hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss, or is included directly in the initial cost or other
carrying amount of the hedged non-financial items.

The cost of hedging reserve includes the effects of the changes in fair value of the time value of option when only the
intrinsic value of the cption is designated as the hedging instrument.

The changes in fair value of the time value of an option in relation to a transaction-related hedged item accumulated in the
cost of hedging reserve are reclassified to the income statement only when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, or
included as a basis adjustment to the non-financial hedged item. The changes in fair value of the time value of an option in
relaticn to a time-period-related hedged item accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve are amortised to the income
staternent on a rational basis over the term of the hedging relationship.
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18. Financial instruments
Financlal assets and llabliltlas

2022 2021
FYTPL FYTPL
- derivatives - dedivatives
designated in designated in
o FYTOCI Amortised hedge FVTOCH
relationships - designated cost Total relationships -designated Amortised cost Total
Group Note £m £m Em £m £m £m £m £m
Invastments 16 - 01 — [0 ] - 01 — 01
Trade and other
racaivables* 20 - — 421 421 — — 395 395
Cash and cash
equivalents 21 — - 49.0 49.0 — — 337 337
Derivative
financial
instruments 17 23 - —_ 23 ©4) _ — (04
Borrowings 24 —_ — (84.3) {84.3) - — (839) (839
Trade and other
payablas™ 22 — _ {68.2) (68.2) — - {691) (69.1)
Lease liabilities 14 — - (104.5) {104.5) — — (98.8) (938.8)
23 0 {165.9) (163.5) 04) 01 (178.6) (178.9)
* Trade and other recetvables excludes prepayments.
** Trade and other payables excludes social security and other taxes,
2022 202
Gomparty Nota £m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 33 79.4 823

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are unsecured and interest-free and have no fixed date of repayment. Amounts owed
by Group undertakings are measured at amortised cost.

19. inventories

All inventories are finished goods held for resale. The Directors do not consider the difference between the purchase price
of invantories and their replacement cost to be material.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

20. Trade and other receivables

Group Group Compeny Company
2022 202t 2022 2071
Em £m £m £m
Trade receivables:
Within their due period 171 192 —_ —
Past due:
Not impaired 10.8 78 - -
Fully impaired 39 64 - —
Total trade receivables 3.8 334 — —
Less: provision for impairment of receivables (3.9} (6.4} - -
Trade receivables - net 2719 270 - —
Other receivables 5.4 44 — -
Prepayrments 10.6 86 — -
Accrued income 8.8 81 — -
Total trade and other receivables 527 481 - -
Group

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables is deemed to be a reasonable approximation to fair value, The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable above with the exception
of prepayments which hold no credit risk. The Group does not hold any collatersl as security. The Group's trade and other
receivables are denominated in Sterling.

A provision for expected credit losses has been recognised at the reporting date through consideration of the ageing profile
of the Group's trade receivables and the perceived credit quality of its customers reflecting net debt due. The carrying
amount of trade receivables, net of expected credit losses, is considered to be an approximation to its feir value. The
amount of the expected losses was £3.9m (2021: £6.4m). The Group has not disclosed the expected loss rate as this

varies by type of customer. Aggregate movements on the Group's expected losses of trade receivables are as follows:

2072 2071

£m £m
At the beginning of the year 6.4 69
(Credited)/charged to the income statement within administrative expenses (1.4) 07
Utitisaticn of the provision during the year 1n (1.2)
At the end of the year 3.9 64

Other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

At 30 June 2022, there is 8 contract asset recordad as accrued income of £8.8m (2021: £8.1m), relating to customer
membership schemes including the Healthy Pet Club (HPC} contract. The contract asset arises from customers having
received consultations and treatments which are weighted towards the beginning of the twelve-month scheme, in advance
of cash payments, as datailed more fully in note 2. Due to the nature of the scheme, the accrused income amount brought
forward has been fully utilised in the year.

21, Cash and cash equivalents

Group Comparry
2027 207 2022 2021
£m £m £m £
Cash 40.0 337 — _
Cash equivalents 9.0 — — -
Total cash and cash equivalents 49.0 337 — -

Cash sguivzlents relate to funds held in an escrow account, which are available to the Group on demand.
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22. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2022 2071 2022 200
£m Em £m £m
Current
Trade payablas 404 403 - —
Sccial security and other taxes 18.4 168 — —
Other payables 6.0 127 - —
Deferred income? 2.2 28 — —
Accruals 1.6 133 - -
Total trade and other payables 86.6 860 — —
1. Deferred incoma relates to the contract liability relating to the Heslthy Pet Club {(HPC) contract.
23. Provisions
2022 2021
Em Em
At the beginning of the year 39 5.0
Charged to the income statement within administration expenses 1.2 089
utilised in the period 3.0 (20
Atthe end of the year 21 38

Provisions relate to costs set aside for properties including site closures and other property maintenance obligations, It is
anticipated these will be utilised in the next twelve months.

24. Borrowings
Borrowings comprise bank loans and are denominated in Sterling. The repayment profile is as follows:
2022 2021
Group £m £m
within one year or on demand - —
Between one and two years 84.3 -
After more than two years - 839
84.3 839

The balances above are shown net of issue costs of £0.7m (2021: £1.1m), which are being amortised over the term of the
bank loan. The carrying amount of borrowings is deemed to be a reascnable approximation to fair value,

The Group has total facilities of £175.0m. These facilities are provided by a syndicate of four banks: NatWest, HSBC, BOI
and AIB, and comprise the following elements:

> afixed term loan of £85.0m, repayable on 31 January 2024 via a single builet repayment;
> a four-year Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) of £85.0m that runs to 31 January 2024; and
» a £6.0m overdraft facility renewable annually.

The two financial covenants associated with these facilities have rernained unchanged, and are based on the ratios of
bank-test net debt to bank-test EBITDA and bank-test EBITDA to interest. The bank-test net debt to bank-test EBITDA ratio
must not exceed 3.25x. The bank-test EBITDA to interest ratio must not be less than 4.5x. The facilities require cross-
guarantees from the most significant of CVS Group’s trading subsidiaries but are not secured on the assets of the Group.
Bank-test EBITDA is based on the last twelve months” adjusted EBITDA performance annualised for the effect of scquisitions
deducting costs relating to business combinations and adding back share option expense, prior to the impact of IFRS 16.

Bank covenants are tested quarterly and the Group has considerable headroom in both financial covenants and in its
undrawn but committed facilities as at 30 June 2022. More information can be found in note 3.

Interest tate risk is also managed centrally and derivative instruments are used to mitigate this risk. On 28 February 2020,
the Group entered into a four-year interest rate fixed swap arrangement to hedge fluctuations in interest rates on £70.0m
of its term loan.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2Y4. Borrowlngs continued
At the year end £70.0m of the term loan was hedged using an interest rate swap. The remainder of the debt is not hedged.
Further information on the cash flow hedge can be found in note 17.

Undrawn committed borrowing facilities
AL 30 June 2022, the Group has a committed overdraft facility of £5.0m (2021: £5.0m) and an RCF of £85.0m (2021: £85.0m).
Both the overdraft facility and the RCF were undrawn at 30 June 2022 and 30 lune 2021

25, Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Group has a legaily enforceable right to do so. Deferred tax balances
are calculated using tax rates expectad to apply in the period when the ligbility or asset is expected to be realised based on
rates enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets comprised:

2022 2021
Croup £m £m
Tax effect of temporary differences:
Share-based payments 1.5 28
Accelerated tax depreciation - 02
Derivative financial Instruments — a1
Tax losses 0.2 0l
Qther 01 o
1.8 31

The Group's deferred tax assets have been recognised based on historical performance and future budgets. The recoverability
of deferred tax assets is supported by the expected leve! of future profits. The Group believes that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which the deferred tax assets will reverse.

Deferred tax liabilities comprise the excess of carrying value over the tax base.

2022 2021
Group Em £m
Tax effect of temporary differences:

Excess of qualifying amortisation and intangible fixed assets acquired via a business combination 20.4 235
Derivative financial instruments 0.6 —
Capital aliowances in excess of depreciation 0.8 —
2.8 235
The movement in the net deferred tax assets and liabilities is explained as follows:
Acauisition af
Creditad/ Charged to Chargedto  subsidlary and
(chargad) other staternant of defgrred tax
At July to income comprehensiva changes n  recognised in At 30 Juna
200 statement income squity goodwill 2022
Group £m £m £m Em £ £m
Share-based payments 26 02 - (1.3) — 1.5
Derivative financial instruments 01 - (SN - — (0.6)
Other temporary differences 01 — — — — o1
Property, plant and equipment 02 (G.9) — — QM) (0.8)
Tax losses 01 okl — —_ - 02
Intangible fixed assets acquired
via a business combination (235) 34 - — (0.3 (20.4)
(20.4) 28 07 (1.3 {04) {20.0)
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25. Doferred tax continued

Acquisition of
Creditad/ Chargad 10 Credited 1o subsidiary and
(chargexi) other  statement of deferred tax
AL uly to Income comprehenshve changesin  recognised in At 30 June
2020 statement income equity goodwill 2070
Group £m £m Em £m £m £m
Share-hased payments 0.2 086 — 18 - 26
Derivative financial instruments 02 — {0n - — 01
Other temporary differances o1 — — - — o1
Property, plant and eguipment 06 (0.3 - — [(0X}] 02
Tax losses - 01 — - - 01
Intangible assets and fixed assets acquired
via a business combination {21.5) — - — (20) (23.5)
(20.4) 04 (omn 1.8 2n (204)

The deferred tax balance is non-current.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities have been offset where they relate to the same tax authority, the Group has a
legally enforceable right to offset and the Group intends to settle the liability and realise the asset simultaneously.

The Group has carried forward unutilised tax losses of £20.6m (2021: £4.9m) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of Group companies within the tax jurisdiction in which the losses arose. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised of £0.2m (2021 £0.1m} in respect of some of these losses as it is probable that sufficient future taxable
profits will arise against which the asset will reverse. This deferred tax asset has been offset against the deferred tax liability in
respect of intangible assets. The Group has not recognised a deferred tax asset on remaining losses of £18.9m (2021; £3.9m)
as it is not probable that sufficient future taxable profits will arise against which the losses can be utilised.

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries. The earnings are continually reinvested
by the Graup and there is no intention for these entities to pay dividends; no tax is expected to be payable on them in the
foreseeable future.

26. Share capital

2022 20
Company £m £m
Issued and fully paid
71120,037 (202t 70.753782) Ordinary shares of 0.2p each 01 o1
During the year, shares were issued for a total consideration of £2.3m {2021: £1.2m) as follows:

2022 20m

shares sheras

{nimz2 97491 -
SAYES _ 318
SAYE1D 15,810 97,296
SAYEN 249108 1,053
SAYE12 2799 147
SAYE13 1,047 g
Total 366,265 898,823

Details of shares under opticn are provided in note 11 to the financial staterments.
The authorised share capital of the Company is 352,000,000 Ordinary shares of 0.2p each.

Dividends
The Directors have propased a final dividend of 7.0p (2021 6.5p) per share, giving a total of £5.0m (2021: £4.6m). During
the year the 2021 final dividend totalling £4.6m was paid (2021: £nil).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2022

26. Share capital continued
EBT awn shares

The Group operatas an EBT which holds 64 shares (2021: 710 shares). 195,000 shares wera bought at open market value

for £2.1m in the year ended 30 June 2017.

In the year ended 30 June 2017, the Group established an Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) for the purposes of satisfying
the exercise of certain share options vesting under the Group's LTIP and SAYE schemes. The Group has accounted for

the purchase of the shares held by the EBT as Treasury shares and has deducted these from reserves.

During the year, the Group did not sell shares (2021; nil shares) to satisfy shares vesting under LTIP schemes. The Group sold
646 shares (2021: 23,569 shares) to satisfy shares vesting under SAYE schemes for proceeds of less than £0.1m (2021: £0.3m}.

27. Share premlum

The share premium reserve comprises the premium received over the nominal value of shares issued.

28. Analysis of movement in liabilitles from financing activities

At 1 July Lisbillties on Non-cash At 30 June

202 Cash How New leases disposed leases movermant 2022

Groug Em £m £m £m Em £m
Lease liabilities (98.8) 169 {196) 13 (4.3) (104.5)
Bank loans (83.9) o1 - — (C.5) (84.3)
Total liabilities from financing activities (827 170 (19.6) 1.3 (4.8) (188.8)

At huly Lekilitles on Non-cash At 30 Jure

2020 Cash flow New leasos disposed leases movament 2021

Group £m £m £m £m £rn £m
Lease liabilities (98.6) 173 {15.4) 21 (4.0) {S8.8)

Barrowings (oX); Q1 — - — -
Bank loans (83.5) 10 — — 0.4 (83.9)
Total liabilities from financing actlvities (1822 18.2 (15.4) 21 (54) (182.7)

Non-cash movements on right-cf-use assets mainly comprise interest on right-cf-use lease lisbilities. Non-cash movements
on borrowings and bank loans mainly include amortisation of issue costs on bank loans and bank debt acquired.

29. Cash flow generated from operations

Group Company

2022 20271 2022 202

£m Em £m £m

Profit/(loss) for the year 257 18.3 {0.6) {05)
Tax expense 103 138 - —
Finance expense 68 7.0 - -
Amortisation of intangible assets 222 238 — -
Depreciation of property, piant and equipment 1.3 103 - —
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 14.1 140 — —
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets {0.3) — - —
Increase in inventories (6.8} 4 — -
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (3.2) (3.4) 2.9 (o))
Decrease in trade and cther payables (01) (5.2) - —
Decrease in provisions 1.8) n — —
Share option expense 23 22 - —
Exceptional items 12.4 — — —
Total net cash flow generated from/{used in) operations 931 803 2.3 (i.2)
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30. Guarantees and other financlal commitments

Capital commitments

The Group had no capital commitments as at 30 June 2022 (2021: £nil).

Bank guarantess

The Company is a member of the Group's banking arrangement, under which it is party to unlimited cross-guarantees
in respect of the banking facilities of other Group undertakings, amounting to £175.0m at 30 June 2022 (2021: £175.0m).
The Directors do nct expect any material loss to the Company to arise in respect of the guarantees.

Contingent liabllitias

A letter of support has been provided to certain subsidiaries indicating the intention of the Company to support them,
if required, for a period of a minimum of twelve months from the date of signing their financial statements.

Exemption from audit by parent company guarantee

The following wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company are covered by a guarantee provided hy CVS Group plc and are
consequently entitled to an exemption under Section 479A from the requirement of the Act relating to the audit of individual
accounts. Under this guarantee, the Group will guarantee all outstanding liabilities of these entities. The Group has deemed
it not practical to quantify the possible outflow and no liability is expected to arise under the guarantee. The entities covered

by this guarantee zre disclosed below.

Name of subsidiary Company number
Albavet Limited SC275058
Axiom Veterinary Laboratories Limited 02526935
B & W Equine Group Limited 06777468
Charter Veterinary Hospital Group Limited 12941058
Endell Veterinary Group Limitad 08C78309
Greenacres Pet Crematorium Limited 07877237
Greendale Veterinary Diagnostics Limited 05138112
Highcroft Pet Care Limited 07238070
Insight Laboratory Services Limited 06353163
Mi Vet Club Limited 08365201
Okeford Veterinary Centre Limited 05984705
Pet Vaccination UK Limited 05391973
Pat Vaccination Clinic Limited 03252801
Pets Holding Limited 1161672
Pet Emergency Treatment Services Limited 03586933
Rossendale Pet Crematorium Limited 01409643
Ruddington and East Leake Veterinary Centre Limited . 04551334
Severn Edge Equine Limited 09524486
Severn Edge Farm Limited 09521408
Severn Edge Holdings Limitad 09522086
Severn Fdge Veterinary Group Limited 09523786
Silvermere Haven Limited 02187947
Silverton Veterinary Practice Limited og1omz7
Slate Hall Veterinary Services Ltd 08390278
Sustainable Developments (SW) Limited 05174372
The Pet Crermnatorium Limnited 03442460
Valley Pet Crematorium Limited 04961306
Vet Direct Services Limited 05167635
Vet Direct Holdings Limited 06746630
Veterinary Enterprises & Trading Ltd 03495054
Whitley Brook Crematorium for Pets Limited 04734723
Watt Poultry Vieterinary Services Limited 0578017
Your Vets (Holdings) Limited Q707834
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2022

31. Penslon schemes

The Group contributes to certain employees’ personal pension schemes in accordance with their service contracts. The
amaunts gre charged to the income statement as they fall due. The amounts charged during the year amounted to £5.9m
(2021: £5.0m). The amount outstanding at the year end included in trade and other payables was £1.1m (2021 £0.9m).

32, Events after the reporting period

On 27 July 2022, the Group completed the purchase of 100.0% of the share capital of Werrington Vets Limited, a company
registered in England and Wafes, for initial cash consideration of £4.3m. This is a business comprising one companion animal
veterinary practice site in the UK, aligned with the Group’s strategic goals. Further information can be found in note 15.

On 168 September 2022, the Group completed the purchase of 100.0% of the share capital of Woodlands Veterinary Clinic

Limited, a company registered in England and Wales, for initial cash consideration of £3.5m. This is 2 business comprising

two companicn animal veterinary practice sites in the UK, aligned with the Group’s strategic goals. Further information can
be found in note 15.

33. Related party transactions
Directors’ and Key Management's compensation is disclcsed In note 8.

Company
During the year the Company had the following transactions with CVS (UK) Limited:
2022 2021
£m Em
Recharge of expenses incurred by CVS (UK) Limited on behalf of the Company {0.6) (05)
Cash advanced to fund payment of dividend (4.6) -
The following balances were owed by related companies:
2022 2001
Receivable Payable Receivabla Payabie
£m £m £rm £m
CVS {UK) Limited 79.4 — 82.3 -

Amounts owed by CV5 (UK) Limited are unsecured and interest free and have no fixed date of repayment.

Transactions with Directors and key management

During the year, the following dividends were paid to the Directors of the Group: R Connell - £10,693; D Kemp - £426;

R Gray - £325; R Fairman - £1,158; and B Jacklin - £306. Dividends were also paid to the spouses of R Fairman and R Alfonso
of £709 and £130, respectively (2021: no dividend paid).

Uktimate controlling party
The Directors consider there is no ultimate controlling party,
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Five-year history — unaudited
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2022 20 2020 209 2018
£m £m £m Em £m
Revenue 554.2 5101 4278 4065 3273
Gross profit 2391 72219 1701 1689 1516
Operating profit 428 401 185 156 77
Finance expense (6.8) (70) (8.8) (3.9) (36)
Profit before tax 36.0 331 99 n7 141
Tax expense (10.3) (13.8) (4.2) (3.5} (34)
Profit for the year 257 193 57 82 107
Adjusted EBITDA 107.4 975 no h45 476
Adjusted profit before tax 75.5 66.2 382 14 36.0
Cash generated from operations 931 803 948 521 467
Taxation paid 1.2 (13.0) (9.5) (7.3} (6.2)
Interest paid (6.4) (71} (70) (3.4) 30
Business combinations {net of cash scquired) (8.4) (194} (72) {566) {50.3)
Loans and borrowings acquired through
business combinations (o.n (1.0} — (1.5) 31
Purchase of property, plant and squipment and
intangible assets {24.5) (16.6) (12.4) (12.9) (107
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and eguipment
and Intangible assets 0.2 06 — — —
Purchase of other investments (Nn.4) - _ - —
Proceeds from sale of other investrments 9.0 — — -_ —
Dividends paid (4.6) - (3.9 (3.5) (2.9)
Proceeds from Ordinary shares 2.3 12 01 08 610
Proceeds from Treasury shares — 03 09 — —
Repayment of obligations under right-of-use assets 12.7) (13.0) (4.2) - —
Amartisation of debt issuance costs (0.4) (0.4) {1.0) (0.5) (0.4}
Exceptional items —_ - on - —
Decrease/{increase) in net debt 14.9 1ne 399 (33.0) 310
Year-end net debt 35.3 502 621 1020 690
Patice Pence Pence Pance Pence
Basic earnings per share 36.2 273 a1 1.6 16.0
Adjusted basic earnings per share 858 751 420 487 424
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Contact details and advisors

Registored office
CVS House

Owen Road

Diss

Norfalk

1P22 AER

Nominated adviser and broker

Peel Hunt LLP

7th Floor

100 Livarpool Street
London

EC2M 2A

Joint broker
Berenberg

60 Threadneedie Street
London

EC2R BHP

Financial Public Relations
MHP Communications

4th Floor

60 Great Portland Street
London

WIW 7RT

Company Secretary
J Farrer

Bankers
NatWest Bank plc
Gentleman’s Walk
Norwich

NRZINA

HSBC Bank plc

8 Canada Square
London

E145HQ

Bank of Ireland Group ple
40 Mespil Road

Dublin 4

Republic of jreland

Allled Irish Banks plc
10 Molesworth Strest
Dublin 2

Republic of Ireland

Rabobank
willemskade 1
801 AC Zwolle
Netherlands

Ulster Bank Limited
33 Eyre Square
Galway

HE1 HY26
Republic of Ireland
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Independent auditor
Deloltte LLP

1 Station Square
Cambridge

CB12GA

Legal advisors
Leathes Prior

74 The Close
Norwich
NR14DR

DLA Piper UK LLP
Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham

B2 4DL

Eversheds Sutharland
15 Colmore Row
Birmingham

B3 3AL
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